












CITY OF MALDEN ADDENDUM TO THE 2016 TRANSPORTATION PLANNING GRANT APPLICATION 

1 | P a g e  
 

A. 

Please provide further detail regarding how the scope of the work to be undertaken for the parking 

assessment study relates to gaming facility related impacts. How did you estimate the $60,000 request? 

The City of Malden needs to have a solid understanding of the new gaming facility related demands 

being placed on its parking facilities, in particular these new demands viewed within the context of 

other developments in the City that will impact our parking inventory.  The City of Malden has viewed 

the potential for casino visitors to the City as a positive, and has embraced the potential that these 

visitors to the region will bring about additional business for our local restaurants.  However, to fully 

understand the potential and the impacts, the additional demands on our parking resources needs to be 

looked at in conjunction with: 

 The redevelopment of 200 Exchange Street, which will bring on line up to 320,000 SF of office 

space and bring with it the potential for 2,000 additional professionals working in Malden. 

 Ongoing construction of nearly 1,000 apartment homes in the downtown area. 

 The addition of over 40,000 SF of new retail space coming on line over the next several years. 

With the additional dynamic added from a gaming facility, it’s critical that the city take a holistic 

approach in reviewing how to be positioned to not only meet the new demands but capitalize on them.  

Each of these uses have unique demands on parking facilities in terms of nights, weekends, weekdays, 

short term, long term.  The City needs to take a proactive approach to being best positioned to deal with 

the additional gaming facility related demands in the context of the additional variables outlined above.    

In terms of our estimate, our collective years of experience have given us a solid foundation to predict 

these expenses.  As you can imagine, an urban-edge city like Malden has been constantly dealing with 

parking issues and has conducted past studies, either parking related or similar, that give us context to 

estimate with some confidence the scope of such an effort  

 

B. 

How is the redesign of Malden Center related to the casino impacts? What other supplemental studies 

have already been undertaken and may be used to further enhance the study?  On what did you base the 

study costs for the redesign study? 

 

The redesign of the Malden Center Station has been called for numerous supplemental studies of the 

station and the entire downtown: however, it was stated most convincingly by the Metropolitan Area 

Planning Council’s own Orange Line Corridor Report from 2013 that stated, “improvements to 

pedestrian and bicycle connections are needed, especially at the northern end of the corridor,” and that 

“Advocacy is needed to increase connections between bike and pedestrian paths…” 



CITY OF MALDEN ADDENDUM TO THE 2016 TRANSPORTATION PLANNING GRANT APPLICATION 

2 | P a g e  
 

 

In particular, these pedestrian and bicycle connections are related to the casino impacts because of the 

casino’s role in that increase in congestion.  Clearly, the largest transportation hub nearest to the Wynn 

Boston Harbor site will be a draw for patrons looking to visit the casino via bicycle trips or public 

transportation.  Malden’s bike path near Malden Center Station is a short, lovely ride to the casino, and 

will provide another mode for them of getting to the casino – without driving.   Therefore, as stated in 

2013, the connections used by pedestrians and bicyclists at a multi-modal transportation hub are 

imperative to be improved upon. 

Similar to our previous estimate, we are confident that our experience with other studies has given us 

the understanding to accurately assess the costs of a study like this.  Furthermore, having ‘lived’ with 

the myriad issues around the connections to the Malden Center Station for years, we truly understand 

the complexity of the problem and we are planning a broad scope of issues to address with this study. 

 

C. 

What is the status of discussion with Wynn Boston Harbor on parking? 

During our negotiations with Wynn for our surrounding community agreement, we had very preliminary 

discussions about the potential for matching up those times when we had unused capacity in our 

parking facilities with their needs for parking during those times.  Whether or not there ultimate is a fit 

there or an agreement to be made has yet to be further explored. 

D. 

Have you identified any dangerous impacts that the study would be designed to address? 

The redesign of connecting from Malden Station to the Pleasant Street bike path will eliminate the 

constant crossing of the street at mid-block, walking between the cars that are stacked up because of 

the succession of lights ahead of them as they navigate around the Malden Center Station. There are 

five intersections adjoin the Malden Center Station and cause backups through the intersections as 

traffic backs up due to the intermingling of pedestrians, bicyclists, and automobile traffic.  











Email response from Wrentham re:  Community Mitigation Fund 
 
The following are the Town of Wrentham’s responses to the questions posed in your letter dated June 23, 2016: 
 

1. The proposed study will differ from any impact studies conducted by the Plainridge Casino as part of its 
Surrounding Community Agreement in that it will be much more wide-ranging and comprehensive.  For 
example, the Surrounding Community Agreement contains a section entitled, “Impact Studies and Contingent 
Obligations”, in which it details the timeframe and scope for various studies for which the developer is 
responsible to conduct.  These studies are limited to “tangible and verifiable conditions identified in the 
baseline studies”.  The baseline studies were to be conducted 60 days prior to the opening of the casino.  The 
study proposed in the application submitted would analyze conditions and impacts that have arisen since the 
opening of the casino as well as projected impacts in the future.  In other words, impacts that are  RELATED to 
the casino opening in addition to DIRECT impacts of the casino.  Secondly, the categories listed in the 
Agreement are limited to traffic, public safety, emergency response and problem gaming.  The study that 
would be conducted utilizing the Community Mitigation Fund would be more wide ranging to study not only 
traffic impacts, but other related development that has occurred and may occur as a result of the location of 
the casino as it impacts land use and other public infrastructure such as water and sewer in a positive and 
negative manner.  It will also offer comments on current zoning and land use restrictions and suggestions for 
changes to the Zoning By-Laws and other Town regulations in order to facilitate appropriate development 
along the Wrentham portion of Route 1.  Therefore, although the studies to be conducted by the casino are 
helpful in helping to determine impacts and necessary mitigation in the short-term and for certain aspects of 
the casino operation, they won’t consider longer-term impacts and other aspects that the casino may impact 
outside of traffic and emergency response. 

2. The Town of Wrentham will, ensure that the study will not duplicate other efforts by surrounding communities 
by providing the consultant chosen to conduct the study with studies that have been conducted by 
surrounding communities.  For example, the Town of Foxborough conducted a corridor study of their portion 
of Route 1 in 2015; however, it did not include a traffic portion.  Therefore, the proposed study would differ in 
that regard, as traffic analyses would be part of the proposed study.  Apart from that, having coordination and 
some consistency between differing studies is also beneficial because planning for traffic and land use does not 
occur in a vacuum.  Traffic is shared across Town borders, for example.  Therefore some measure of 
coordination is helpful and necessary. 

3. Like the vast majority of communities in Massachusetts, the Town of Wrentham is supportive of development 
that is consistent with the character of the community and will not overburden public infrastructure.  As such, 
the Town wants to be prepared for subsequent development resulting from the location of the casino with 
proper traffic accommodations, zoning regulations and other public infrastructure. 

 
In conclusion, the Town of Wrentham certainly does not view the location of the casino in a negative manner.  The 
Town is looking to analyze and consider both AND negative impacts of the casino equally and simply prepare for ALL 
impacts currently and in the future. 
 
Please contact me with any further questions. 
 
John 
 
John M. Charbonneau 
Director of Planning & Development 
79 South Street 
Wrentham, MA 02093 
(508) 384-5486 (p) 
(508) 384-3174 (f) 
jcharbonneau@wrentham.ma.us 

mailto:jcharbonneau@wrentham.ma.us














































June 23, 2016 

Toni Sousa, Ex. Director of Planning and Development 
Everett City Hall 
484 Broadway, Room 25 
Everett, MA 02149 

Re: 2016 Transportation Mitjgation Application 

Dear Mr. Sousa: 

Thank you and your colleagues for meeting with the community mitigation review team on 
Monday. It was a pleasure discussing Everett's application for community mitigation funds. 
The community mitigation review team found the meeting to be very informative. As we 
discussed, the following are questions which the community mitigation review team would 
appreciate further clarification regarding your submission. 

1. Pursuant to the 2016 Community Mitigation Fund Guidelines, communities receiving 
transportation planning grants must expend their awarded reserve first before 
accessing the transportation planning grant funds. Does the City anticipate any future 
use of the reserve for planning? 

2. Recognizing that further detail regarding the use of the proposed Northern Strand 
Community Path may be part of the proposed study, can you provide further 
quantification regarding how the project would relate to the gaming facility? 

3. What is the timetable for this planning study? 

4. Can you please provide a rough estimate of the cost of building the proposed extension 
to the Northern Strand Community Path? 

5. Can you provide further detail regarding any existing requirements involving the City, 
Wynn Boston Harbor, and any nearby project owners to assist in the expansion of the 
Path? 

6. Please provide details on what Everett will contribute to the planning project such as 
in-kind services or planning funds, as outlined in the 2016 Guidelines. 

***** 
101 Federal Street 1211• Flnm Boston Ma~sadntsetts 02110 TEl.(, 17. 979.R400 



Tony Sousa, Director of Planning and Development 
Page2 
June 23 , 2016 

The community mitigation review team would like to present to the Commission their 
recommendation in July. In order to meet this timetable, the community mitigation review 
team would greatly appreciate receiving your response by July 8, 2016. 

We look forward to reviewing this application with the Commission. Please do not hesitate 
to contact us with any questions or concerns. 

Very truly yours, 

cc: Mayor Carlo DeMaria 
Jay Monty, Transportation Planner 
Catherine Rollins, Policy Director 
Catherine Blue, General Counsel 
Derek Lennon, C.F.O. 

. emba, o rtibudsman 
__. / 

Joseph E. Delaney, Construction Project Oversight Manager 
MaryS. Thurlow, Paralegal 

***** 



Mr JohnS. Ziemba 
Ombudsman 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission 
101 Federal Street, li11 Floor 
Boston, MA 0211 0 

Dear Mr. Ziemba, 

City of Everett 
Department of Planning and Development 

484 Broadway, Room 25 
Everett, Massachusetts 02149 

(P) 617-394-2245 (F) 617-394-5002 

Tony M. Sousa, Executive Director 

Thank you again for meeting with the City regarding the City's application for Community 
Mitigation Funds to advance the completion of the Norther Strand Bike Path. Hopefully the 
responses below sufficiently answer the questions you submitted to us on July 23rd. Please feel 
free to contact myself, Jay Monty, or Catherine Rollins if you need any further clarifications. 

1. Does the City anticipate any fitture use of the reserve for planning? 

The City of Everett does not have an identified use for the 2016 community 
mitigation reserve fund. The City understands that pursuant to the Massachusetts 
Gaming Commission's 2016 Community Mitigation Guidelines, the reserve fund 
must be expended before the City may access a transportation planning grant. 
Therefore, the City accepts that the award of a transportation planning grant would 
tal<.e away any further access to the 2016 reserve fund. 

2. Can [the City} provide fitrther quantification regarding how the project would relate to 
the gaming facility. 

The extension of the Northern Strand Trail would provide a direct, alternate route 
to Lower Broadway (Route 99) by providing an exclusive route for bicycles and 
pedestrians from Everett and other communities north of Boston to the gaming 
facility and the associated riverfront park lands being constructed by Wynn Boston. 
While the mitigation committed to by Wynn account for the additional vehicular 
traffic produced on Lower Broadway, other transportation aspects such as the loss 
of on-street parking and the removal of some sidewalk space to accommodate the 
widened roadway were not fully considered during the MEP A process. In addition, 
other pedestrian and bicycle access issues at Sweetser Circle and Santilli Circle were 
never fully resolved during the MEPA process. This extension of the North Strand 
Trail would provide an off-road alternative for pedestr·ians and cyclists to Lower 
Broadway and the Sweester/Santilli traffic cil·cles, as well as provide a connection 

D 



from the existing Northern Strand Trail to the future Mystic River pedestrian 
bridge to Assembly Square in Somerville. An engineering study for the latter has 
already been committed to by Wynn through the MEP A process. The completion of 
the Northern Strand Path and the Mystic River pedestrian bridge together would 
provide direct, pedestrian and bicycle access to MBT A rapid transit from both the 
Wynn facility and the communities of Everett, Malden, Saugus and Revere. Similar 
projects in the Boston region such as the Minuteman Bikeway in Arlington and 
Lexington, which terminates at the Alewife MBTA station, have shown that 
exclusive bicycle and pedestrian facilities can dramatically increase pedestrian and 
bicycle mode shares in an otherwise congested corridor and remove hundreds of 
vehicles from the roadway each day. 

3. What is the timetable for this planning study? 

The study is expected to take 6-9 months from the time of the grant award. 

4. Can you provide a rough cost estimate for building the proposed extension to the 
Northern Strand Community Path. 

Although no engineering or conceptual cost estimate has been performed, and this 
would be one of the goals of the study, a ballpark cost estimate based on other 
similar projects would be $2-4M. This is based on known environmental and 
engineering challenges that exist in the corridor such as MBTA commuter rail 
tracl{s and wetlands. 

5. Can you provide fitrther detail regarding any existing requirements involving the City, 
Wynn Boston Harbor, and any nearby project owners to assist in the expansion of the 
Path. 

The Gateway Mall, located opposite the MBTA Commuter Rail tracks from the 
Wynn site committed to in their 1997 MEPA Section 61 findings to construct a 
segment of multi-use trail along the southeast portion of their property to connect 
the Northern Strand Trail and the Mystic River within 2 years of the completion of 
the latter. In 2012, the City constructed the Northern Strand trail to a southern 
terminus at West and Wellington Street leaving an approximately Yz mile gap 
between West and Wellington Streets and the Gateway Mall property. This Yz mile 
gap is the focus of the study as it involves constructing the path around and/or 
moving existing MBT A railroad tracl{S and crossing a substantial wetland area. 
Wynn Boston Harbor has also committed $250,000 towards a study of a new Mystic 
River bridge to Assembly Square for pedestrians and cyclists. The City has been 
coordinating with the owners of Gateway Mall, Wynn Boston Harbor, DCR and the 
MBTA to ensure that the various commitments and future planning efforts are 
coordinated in an effective manner. 

6. Please provide details on what the City will contribute to the planning project. 

The City has provided and will continue to provide substantial in-lund services and 
staff time towards planning the extension and completion of the Norther Strand 
Trail. To date, the City has committed staff time for preliminary planning work, 

0 



coordination with Wynn Boston Harbor, Gateway Mall, DCR and the MBT A. 
Going forward, the City will continue to provide staff time for the management of 
the planning study and coordination efforts between all parties. The City will also 
provide meeting space for any public outreach efforts necessary for the study. 

I hope that the above narratives provide sufficient clarification for the community 
mitigation review team. If any frnther information is needed, please don't hesitate to 
contact me at your earliest convenience. 

We look forward to hearing from you soon. 

Sincerely, 

Tony Sousa, Executive Director 

Cc: MaryS. Thurlow, Paralegal 
Joseph E Delaney, Construction Project Oversight Manager 
Derek Lennon, CFO 
Catherine Blue, General Counsel 
Catherine Rollins, Policy Director 
Mayor Carlo DeMaria 

0 





















































 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
_________________________________________________________ 
      Secretary of Transportation and Chief Executive Officer 
 
_________________________________________________________ 
      Highway Division Administrator 
 
_________________________________________________________ 
      MBTA General Manager and Rail and Transit Administrator 
 
_________________________________________________________ 
      Aeronautics Division Administrator 
 
_________________________________________________________ 
      Executive Director, Office of Transportation Planning 
 
 
 

I. Healthy Transportation Policy Directive: 
 
This directive formalizes MassDOT’s commitment to the implementation and maintenance of transportation 
networks that serve all mode choices for our customers and that was memorialized in our Mode Shift Goal 
announced October 2012.    
 
 

II. Goal: 
 
To further MassDOT's GreenDOT Implementation Plan, the Commonwealth's Healthy Transportation Compact 
and statewide Mode Shift Goal, this Healthy Transportation Policy Directive is issued to ensure all MassDOT 
projects are designed and implemented in a way that all our customers have access to safe and comfortable 
healthy transportation options at all MassDOT facilities and in all the services we provide. This directive builds 
on other existing directives and guidance that addresses such issues. Healthy Transportation modes as defined 
by GreenDOT are walking, bicycling and taking transit. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
    Policy:  P-13-0001 
 
 
Date: September 9, 2013 

     HEALTHY TRANSPORTATION POLICY DIRECTIVE 

jczach
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT #1

jczach
Typewritten Text

jczach
Typewritten Text



 

 Page 2 of 4 

III. Implementation: 
 
1) Project Reviews 
 
In order to ensure that healthy transportation modes are considered equally as potential solutions within project 
design, this Healthy Transportation Policy Directive requires the following: 
 
 

1A. All MassDOT funded and or designed projects shall seek to increase and encourage more pedestrian, 
bicycle and transit trips.  MassDOT has established a statewide mode shift goal that seeks to triple the 
distance traveled by walking, bicycling and transit by 2030, promoting intermodal access to the 
maximum extent feasible will help the agency meet this goal. 
 

 
1B. The MassDOT Highway, Rail & Transit, and Aeronautics Divisions shall undertake a review 

process to evaluate all projects currently under MassDOT design oversight for conformance with 
the specifications and spirit of this Healthy Transportation Policy Directive.  This process must be 
completed by January 1, 2014 and submitted to the Secretary and CEO for review.   Projects 
programmed for federal and state funding within the next four fiscal years should be reviewed as 
a priority.  For projects under the Highway Division, the emphasis should be on those projects that 
entered the design review process before the adoption of the 2006 Project Development and 
Design Guide.  Projects should not advance in the design process until they have undertaken this 
review. 
 

 
1C. MassDOT funded and or designed projects that fail to provide facilities for healthy transportation 

modes, as identified by the aforementioned reviews, shall require signoff by the Secretary and CEO of 
Transportation prior advancing additional design work.  For the Highway Division, this shall not apply 
to roadway facilities that already prohibit bicyclists and pedestrians, such as limited access highways, or 
Interstates.   

 
 

1D. Projects under contract for construction, currently under bid review, or advertised for construction on 
the date of this policy adoption, do not need to undergo major modifications.  However, each MassDOT 
Division shall submit a list of these projects to the Secretary and CEO of Transportation by October 1, 
2013 highlighting healthy transportation design opportunities.  
 

 
1E. MassDOT construction projects shall include provisions of off-road accommodations (shared use path, 

or bridge side path) or clearly designate safe travel routes for pedestrians, bicyclists, and transit users 
along existing facilities, including customers that fall under the protection of the Americans with 
Disabilities Act.   
 
 

2) Project Design Process 

 

2A. All design notices and public communications for projects shall clearly state the following: 1) existing 
walking, bicycling and transit facilities/routes that are within the project site area to educate the 
community on their options for attending public meetings or hearings, and 2) walking, bicycling and 
transit facilities/routes that are within the project site area that are proposed in the project.   

 
 



 

 Page 3 of 4 

2B. All proposed project scopes of work and associated budgets being prepared by the Highway Division 
shall clearly detail walking (along with identified deficiencies in ADA compliance), bicycling and 
transit facilities/routes that are within the project site area at the time of project number issuance.  In 
addition, existing or proposed networks within a 2-mile radius of the proposed project, critical 
connections to downtowns or transit facilities, and all Bay State Greenway routes shall be clearly 
identified.   

 
 
2C. All MassDOT facilities shall be responsive to adjacent land uses and site context.  Wherever adjacent 

land uses include commercial development or residential development of greater than five units per 
acre, a sidewalk should be provided along the roadway adjacent to the use.  The potential for walking, 
bicycling and transit activity increases due to existing or planned land uses such as: schools, public 
parks and playgrounds, hospitals, retail centers, senior centers or housing, multi-family housing, or 
community centers.  Design features to consider shall include, but not limited to: wider sidewalks, street 
trees, landscaped buffers, benches, lighting, frequent crossing opportunities and strong intermodal 
connectivity to transit.  All project proposals being reviewed or designed by MassDOT shall provide a 
project site context map with basic information about the site location, and land use (commercial, office, 
institutional, educational, etc.). 

 
 

2D. MassDOT shall initiate road safety audits of known clustered incident sites where healthy transportation 
users are involved, to improve customer safety for more vulnerable users.  This effort shall have an 
initial emphasis on healthy transportation users in Environmental Justice communities.  By December 
31, 2014 the Highway Division shall identify and conduct road safety audits for all high crash location 
clusters for healthy transportation users along MassDOT owned facilities where that cluster falls in 
areas where two of  three, or all Environmental Justice community thresholds are exceeded (low-
income, minority or limited English proficiency).  By June 30, 2015 the Highway Division shall have 
developed a process to implement safety projects to address the locations identified.  This process shall 
include the development of metrics for success and identify a reasonable completion date. 
 
 

2E. For projects along non-limited access rights-of-way in urbanized areas, sidewalks shall be provided on 
both sides of roadway rights-of-way with added attention to ADA compliance.  Every bridge, overpass 
or underpass shall provide sidewalks on both sides of the road, even if comparable facilities do not yet 
exist on the abutting road segments, unless pedestrian travel is already prohibited along the roadway. 

 
 
2F. All project proposals being reviewed or designed by MassDOT including new design, retrofits and 

maintenance shall not remove existing pedestrian or bicycle facilities unless those are replaced by 
facilities providing equal or better Level of Service.  They shall also seek to add facilities that increase 
and encourage healthy transportation for pavement restoration and resurfacing projects including 
opportunities to meet ADA compliance.   These plans shall be signed off on by the District Highway 
Engineer and electronic copies provided to the Office of Transportation Planning. 

 
 

2G. The MassDOT Highway and Rail & Transit Divisions shall establish a guide for use by communities 
that propose Shared Use Paths on or along rail beds.  The guide shall be written to assist communities in 
understanding the design standards (including ADA compliance) for such paths, especially along active 
rail lines, and acquiring rights of way with the intention of accelerating the design of Shared Use Paths, 
especially those facilities that are an element of the Bay State Greenway and/or provide critical 
connections to downtowns or transit facilities.  The MassDOT Highway and Rail & Transit Divisions 
shall permit Shared-Use Paths to be installed along active or future railroad rights-of-way (Rails with 
Trails) provided appropriate fencing separates the two uses. 



 

 Page 4 of 4 

 
 

2H. For the design of bicycle facilities MassDOT shall consider, but not be limited to, the AASHTO Guide 
for the Development of Bicycle Facilities (2012) and the NACTO Urban Bikeway Design Guide (2012) 
as supplements to the Project Development and Design Guide (2006), except for pavement markings 
not approved by MUTCD. MassDOT should utilize other guides as they emerge and evolve from 
NACTO, AASHTO, and/or the US Department of Transportation. 

 
 
2I. For the design of bus stop facilities MassDOT shall consider, but not be limited to, guidelines of the 

MBTA Bus Stop Planning and Design Guide (2013) and guidance on ADA compliance. MassDOT 
should utilize other guides as they emerge and evolve from NACTO, AASHTO, and/or the US 
Department of Transportation. 
 

 
2J. Upon completion of all healthy transportation facilities, the location, description, and length must be 

submitted to the appropriate MassDOT offices to facilitate asset management activities . 
 

 
 
        
  Please Post____________   Do Not Post_____________ 



 
 

ENGINEERING DIRECTIVE 
 

Page 1 of 6 

 
Patricia A. Leavenworth, P.E. (signature on original) 
____________________________________  
 CHIEF ENGINEER  
 

Design Criteria for MassDOT Highway Division Projects 
 
The purpose of this Engineering Directive is to clarify the design criteria that shall be applied to 
MassDOT Highway Division projects, as listed below.  This Directive introduces new 
controlling criteria for pedestrian and bicycle accommodation that will be used together with 
FHWA’s 13 controlling criteria for roadways and bridges.  This Directive updates and 
supersedes Engineering Directive E-14-001, dated 2/4/14, and supports MassDOT Healthy 
Transportation Policy Directive P-13-0001, dated 9/9/13. 
 
This Directive applies to all projects not yet advertised for construction.  Projects that have 
received 25% Project Approval as of 2/4/14 are exempt from meeting the pedestrian and bicycle 
accommodation requirements of this Directive, unless directed otherwise by MassDOT on a 
case-by-case basis.  However, designers are encouraged to apply all elements of this Directive, 
where practical, to every project regardless of design status. 
 
As stated in the MassHighway Project Development and Design Guide (Guide), the design 
criteria and processes contained herein apply when: 

1. MassDOT Highway Division is the project proponent, or 
2. MassDOT Highway Division is responsible for project funding (state or federal aid), or 
3. MassDOT Highway Division controls the affected infrastructure (State Highway). 

 

Design Criteria for Roadways and Bridges (FHWA’s 13 Controlling Criteria) 
 

1. For projects not on the NHS, the design criteria shall be in accordance with the Guide. 
 

2. For projects on the NHS, the design criteria shall be as follows: 

a. For projects on NHS Interstate Highways: 

i. For Interstate non-3R* projects, the design criteria shall be in accordance 
with the latest edition of the AASHTO, A Policy on Design Standards, 
Interstate System (AASHTO Interstate). 

ii. For Interstate 3R* projects, the minimum design criteria for horizontal 
alignment, vertical alignment and widths of median, traveled way and 
shoulders remain the standards that were in effect at the time of original 
construction or inclusion into the Interstate System. 

Number: E-14-006 
Date: 12/19/14 
 

jczach
Typewritten Text

jczach
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT #2



Page 2 of 6 

b. For projects on other NHS freeways (other than Interstate) the design criteria shall 
be in accordance with the latest edition of the AASHTO, A Policy on Geometric 
Design of Highways and Streets (Green Book).  3R* allowances for NHS 
freeways are included in the Green Book. 

c. For projects on non-freeway NHS roadways: 

i. For non-freeway non-3R* projects, the design criteria shall be in 
accordance with the Green Book. 

ii. For non-freeway 3R* projects, the design criteria shall be in accordance 
with the Guide. 

 
* 3R projects are projects that are primarily resurfacing, restoration or rehabilitation projects 
that extend the service life of highways, bridges and related appurtenances; and/or restore safe, 
efficient travel on an existing facility.  Normally, 3R projects include most of MassDOT’s 
resurfacing projects and most bridge preservation and rehabilitation projects.  They also include 
roadway projects where box widening is proposed to widen shoulders for improved bicycle 
accommodation and safety.  3R projects generally have no significant geometric changes to 
horizontal or vertical alignment and generally have no significant widening such as widening for 
additional capacity.  Projects that include minor lane and/or shoulder widening may be 
considered to be 3R projects.  Projects that are beyond the 3R definition are normally defined as 
reconstruction projects and new construction projects which are subject to the respective 
standards identified above and their established design exception approval process. 
 

DESIGN CRITERIA for 
ARTERIAL TRAVEL LANES AND SHOULDERS 

ROADWAY 
TYPE 

PROJECT 
TYPE BOOK EXHIBIT 

NUMBER 

ARTERIAL MINIMUM WIDTHS1,3 

TRAVEL 
LANE 

LEFT 
SHOULDER 

RIGHT 
SHOULDER2 

Interstate Non 3R4 Interstate 2005 
Page 3 12’ 4’ (to 12’)2 10’ (to 12’) 

Interstate 3R4 Interstate 1956 or 
later 12’ 3.5’ offset 10’ (to 12’) 

NHS 
Freeway All Green 7-3 12’ 4’2 10’ 

NHS Non-
Freeway Non 3R4 Green 7-3 12’ 2’ offset 8’ 

NHS Non-
Freeway 3R4 Only Guide 5-12 

5-14 11’ 2’ offset 4’ 

Non NHS All Guide 5-12 
5-14 11’ 2’ offset 4’ 

 
1. These are the minimum widths below which a Design Exception is normally required. 
2. These dimensions are for usable shoulder.  Add a 2’ offset for objects over 6” high, such as 

guardrail. 
3. These criteria apply regardless of project funding. 
4. “3R” stands for resurfacing, restoration or rehabilitation. 

 
 
 



Page 3 of 6 

Design Criteria for Pedestrian and Bicycle Accommodation 
 
Pedestrian Accommodation 

• Pedestrian accommodation shall be in accordance with Chapter 5 of the Guide and the 
AASHTO Guide for the Planning, Design, and Operation of Pedestrian Facilities. 

• Wherever adjacent land uses include commercial or residential development greater than 5 
units per acre, a sidewalk shall be provided along the roadway adjacent to the use.  (See P-
13-0001, Section 2C.) 

• For projects in urbanized areas on roadways where pedestrians are legally allowed, sidewalks 
shall be provided on both sides of the roadway.  (See P-13-0001, Section 2E.  Refer to 
MassDOT’s Road Inventory Maps for urbanized area boundaries.) 

• For bridge projects, sidewalks shall be provided on both sides of the roadway if pedestrians 
are legally allowed.  (See P-13-0001, Section 2E.) 

• For projects on roadways that pass under bridges and where pedestrians are legally allowed, 
sidewalks shall be provided on both sides of the roadway beneath each bridge.  (See P-13-
0001, Section 2E.) 

• The minimum sidewalk width below which a design exception is required is 5’, exclusive of 
curb. 

 
Bicycle Accommodation 

• Bicycle accommodation shall be in accordance with Chapter 5 of the Guide and the AASHTO 
Guide for the Development of Bicycle Facilities. 

• For all freeways, arterials and collectors where bicycles are legally allowed, a paved outside 
shoulder or designated bicycle lane shall be provided on both sides of the roadway. 

• The minimum paved outside shoulder or designated bicycle lane width below which a design 
exception is required is 5’, exclusive of any parking lane. 

• In lieu of paved outside shoulders or designated bicycle lanes, protected bicycle facilities (i.e. 
cycle tracks, side paths, shared-use paths, bicycle paths, etc.) may provide accommodation 
for bicycles.  However, the presence of such facilities does not relieve the designer of the 
need to properly consider applicable design criteria for outside (right) shoulder width.  

• Refer to the AASHTO Guide for the Development of Bicycle Facilities and other current 
guidance documents for design criteria for off-road paths and cycle tracks. 

 
Design Exceptions 
 
• Criteria proposed below minimum values may be considered after providing sufficient 

justification and documentation while following the Design Exception process outlined in 
Chapter 2 of the Guide. 

• In determining the standards for horizontal alignment, the minimum length of curve criteria 
need not be met on 3R projects. 

• Refer to the guidance in the previous sections of this Directive to determine design criteria 
for lane and shoulder widths.  When using the Guide, the values in Exhibits 5-12 and 5-14 
shall apply.  When using the Green Book, the values in Exhibit 7-3 shall apply.  Additional 
language in the Green Book, particularly for constraints associated with Urban Arterials, may 
be used to support justification for a Design Exception. 

• In using the AASHTO Interstate standards, the shoulder width criteria, regardless of the 
terminology used, such as “shall”, “should be considered”, etc., by virtue of their adoption by 



Page 4 of 6 

FHWA, are the minimum values for each condition described.  Design Exceptions are 
therefore required for projects that do not provide applicable widths. 

• In some cases, the minimum shoulder width criterion for bicycle accommodation exceeds the 
minimum right shoulder width criterion for roadways.  Regardless, the designer must 
consider each element independently, and must document any necessary design exceptions 
accordingly.  In cases where design exceptions are required for both elements, the discussion 
and justification of these exceptions may be combined in the Design Exception Report.  

• The designer shall prepare and submit any necessary Design Exception Reports as part of the 
25% design submission, or for permit projects, as part of the permit application.  

• Upon receipt of a Design Exception Report, the Project Manager shall provide by email a 
copy of the Report to the Chair of the Design Exception Review Committee.  The Committee 
shall discuss project elements and offer advice or endorsements to the Project Manager and 
the project reviewers for each issue.  The Committee is responsible for tracking and reporting 
on all Design Exception issues, and for ensuring consistency in the application of design 
standards and in the documentation of Design Exceptions. 

• The primary project reviewer, typically the District office, shall review the Design Exception 
Report.  In addition, the Complete Streets Engineer shall review the 25% design submission, 
including the Design Exception Report, for all projects on roadways where pedestrians and 
bicyclists are allowed, including projects to be completed under a permit.   

• If all reviewers recommend approval of the Design Exception Report, the Project Manager 
shall forward the signed Design Exception Report to the Chief Engineer for approval.  If the 
Design Exception Report includes exceptions to the design criteria for Pedestrian and Bicycle 
Accommodation, the Project Manager shall subsequently request project sign off by the 
Secretary and CEO of Transportation, or their designee, in accordance with P-13-0001.  The 
approved Design Exception Report shall be used as justification for the Secretary’s sign off.  
If the project is subject to FHWA oversight, the Project Manager shall subsequently forward 
the approved Design Exception Report to FHWA for final approval. 

• Projects should not be advanced beyond the 25% design stage until all necessary Design 
Exception approvals and project sign offs are secured.  Highway Access Permits should not 
be approved by District Highway Directors until all necessary Design Exception approvals 
and project sign offs are secured. 

• For maintenance projects that are not categorically exempt from design criteria for pedestrian 
and bicycle accommodation and for which design plans and normal design review 
submissions are not applicable, the project proponent shall ensure that the proposed typical 
section(s) are reviewed by appropriate District Projects staff and the Complete Streets 
Engineer, improvements to pedestrian and bicycle accommodation are considered, and 
reasons for not making pedestrian and bicycle accommodation improvements are 
documented and retained in the project file. 

 

Exemptions from Controlling Criteria 
 
Design Criteria for Roadways and Bridges (FHWA’s 13 Controlling Criteria) 

The following types of projects are exempt from the need to comply with FHWA’s 13 
controlling criteria.  When design criteria for these types of projects are not in compliance, a 
formal Design Exception Report is not required; however, geometric deficiencies should be 
identified in a Functional Design Report or other documentation: 



Page 5 of 6 

• 3R projects within the existing roadway footprint where the project Purpose and Need is 
solely to maintain the roadway surface or bridge structure and the crash history does not 
indicate any apparent geometric deficiency. 

• Interstate 3R projects (if the roadway meets the standards used for horizontal alignment, 
vertical alignment and widths of median, traveled way and shoulders that were in effect at the 
time of original construction or inclusion into the Interstate System, and the crash history 
does not indicate any apparent geometric deficiency). 

• Non-NHS Footprint Bridge projects in accordance with the Footprint Bridge Policy. 
• Isolated single intersection safety improvement projects (with minimal work on approach 

roadways). 
• Routine roadway maintenance projects such as crack sealing, joint repair, micro surfacing, 

chip seals, etc. 
• Non-roadway maintenance projects such as catch basin cleaning, street sweeping, grass 

mowing, etc. 
• Bridge maintenance projects such as joint repair, deck repair, superstructure repair, 

substructure repair, etc. 
• Sidewalk and curb ramp only projects. 
• Drainage only projects. 
• Noise barrier only projects (provided sight distance and horizontal clearance met). 
• Guardrail only projects (provided sight distance and horizontal clearance met). 
• Landscape only projects (provided sight distance, vertical clearance and horizontal clearance 

met). 
• Highway lighting only projects (provided sight distance, vertical clearance and horizontal 

clearance met). 
• Signing only projects (provided sight distance, vertical clearance and horizontal clearance 

met). 
• Pavement marking only projects. 
• Traffic signal equipment only projects (provided horizontal and vertical clearance met). 
• Vertical construction and other non-roadway/bridge projects. 
• Projects done under Minor Vehicle Access Permits or Non-Vehicular Access Permits. 
 
Design Criteria for Pedestrian and Bicycle Accommodation 

The following types of projects are exempt from the need to comply with Pedestrian and Bicycle 
Accommodation design criteria: 

• All projects on facilities where bicyclists and pedestrians are prohibited, such as Interstates 
and freeways. 

• Routine roadway maintenance projects that don’t involve application of new pavement 
markings, such as crack sealing, pothole patching and joint repair. 

• Bridge maintenance projects such as joint repair, deck repair, superstructure repair, 
substructure repair, etc.  In addition, any bridge deck resurfacing work to be done as part of a 
roadway resurfacing project shall have the same design criteria and exemptions as the full 
roadway resurfacing project. 

• “Footprint” Bridge projects on Rural Collector Roads and Rural Local Roads where no 
sidewalks currently exist on the approach roadways, and that are also exempt from the 13 
Controlling Criteria in accordance with the “Footprint” Bridge Policy. 

• Drainage only projects. 



Page 6 of 6 

• Noise barrier only projects. 
• Guardrail only projects. 
• Lighting only projects. 
• Traffic Signal Equipment only projects. 
• Signing only projects. 
• Landscape only projects. 
• Vertical construction and other non-roadway/bridge projects. 
• Projects done under Minor Vehicle Access Permits or Non-Vehicular Access Permits. 
 

EXEMPTIONS FROM CONTROLLING CRITERIA 
SUMMARY TABLE 

Project Type1 

Exemption Type 

FHWA’s 13 
Controlling 

Criteria 

Pedestrian and 
Bicycle 

Accommodation 
Criteria 

3R Roadway (Non-Interstate)1   

3R Interstate1   

Non-NHS Footprint Bridge1   

“Footprint” Bridge on Rural Collector Road or Rural Local Road1   

Isolated Intersection1   

Routine Roadway Maintenance1   

Routine Roadway Maintenance – No New Pavement Markings1   

Non-Roadway Maintenance1   

Bridge Maintenance1   

Sidewalk and/or Curb Ramp Only2   

Pavement Marking Only3   

Drainage Only   

Noise Barrier Only1   

Guardrail Only1   

Lighting Only1   

Traffic Signal Equipment Only1   

Signing Only1   

Landscape Only1   

Non-Vehicular or Minor Vehicle Access Permit   

Vertical Construction and other Non-Roadway/Bridge   

On Facilities where Bicycles and Pedestrians are Prohibited   

 
Notes 
1 See expanded Project Type descriptions above. 
2 These projects are also exempt from Bicycle Accommodation Criteria. 
3 These projects are also exempt from Pedestrian Accommodation Criteria.  



jczach
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT #3

















 
 

ENGINEERING DIRECTIVE 
 

Page 1 of 1 

Patricia A. Leavenworth, P.E. (signature on original) 
____________________________________  
 CHIEF ENGINEER  
 

2015 MassDOT Separated Bike Lane Planning and Design Guide 

The purpose of this Engineering Directive is to formally issue the 2015 MassDOT Separated 
Bike Lane Planning and Design Guide for use on MassDOT Highway Division projects. 
 
This guide shall be used by project planners and designers as a resource for considering, 
evaluating and designing separated bike lanes as part of a complete streets approach for 
providing safe and comfortable accommodations for all roadway users. 
 
This guide supplements and is consistent with the MassDOT Project Development and Design 
Guide and other relevant MassDOT, FHWA and AASHTO design guidance.  This guide also 
conforms to the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices, the Massachusetts Architectural 
Access Board Rules and Regulations (521 CMR), the United States Access Board 2011 
Proposed Accessibility Guidelines for Pedestrian Facilities in the Public Right-of-Way 
(PROWAG), the MBTA Bus Stop Design Guidelines, and the FHWA Separated Bike Lane 
Planning and Design Guide (May 2015). 

Number: E-15-002 
Date: 11/04/15 
 

http://www.massdot.state.ma.us/highway/DoingBusinessWithUs/ManualsPublicationsForms/SeparatedBikeLanePlanningDesignGuide.aspx
http://www.massdot.state.ma.us/highway/DoingBusinessWithUs/ManualsPublicationsForms/SeparatedBikeLanePlanningDesignGuide.aspx
jczach
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT #4

jczach
Typewritten Text









































































































































































































































 
 

No Documents 



 
 

 
 

 

 
 

ME M O R A N D UM  
 
 

 
 
 
In accordance with Section 18D of Chapter 58, local aid is payable to each city and town within 
which racing activities are conducted. Amounts are computed at .35 percent times amounts 
wagered during the quarter ended six months prior to the payment. 
 
 
 

• Local Aid Quarterly Payment - June 30, 2016  $180,970.07 
 

 
 
 
With the Commission’s authorization payments will be made to the appropriate cities and 
towns.          
 

 

TO:  Massachusetts Gaming Commission / State Racing Division 
FROM:  Doug O’Donnell, Senior Financial Analyst 
SUBJECT: Local Aid Distribution    
DATE: July 21, 2016 
 















































 

 
 

 

TO: Steve Crosby, Chairman 
Gayle Cameron, Commissioner 
Lloyd Macdonald, Commissioner 
Bruce Stebbins, Commissioner 
Enrique Zuniga, Commissioner 

 

FROM: Alexandra Lightbown, Director of Racing  

CC: Edward Bedrosian, Executive Director 
Catherine Blue, General Counsel 

 

DATE: July 19, 2016, 2016  

RE: Middleboro Agricultural Society Request for Race Horse Development Funds 

 
Dear Commissioners: 
 
Middleboro Agricultural Society President Robert Kelly has submitted a request for $2.5 
million from the Race Horse Development Fund to use for purses for their planned 15 days 
of racing.   He has also requested $262,000 from the Race Horse Development Fund for the 
Massachusetts Thoroughbred Horsemen’s Association, Inc. administrative costs.  The 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission recently approved the Suffolk Downs request of $225, 
000 for the New England Horsemen’s Benevolent and Protective Association 
administrative costs for the 6 day Suffolk meet, so the requests are similar.   
 
Mr. Kelly has also requested $1,473,947 from the Race Horse Development Fund for 
administrative and operational expenses for the racing.  They are not going to simulcast, so 
they will not have income from simulcasting to cover their administrative and operational 
expenses.  
 
 Massachusetts General Law Chapter 23K (c) (i) states that 80 percent of the Race Horse 
Development Funds shall be used to fund purses:  
 

(i) 80 per cent of the funds approved by the commission shall be deposited weekly 

into a separate, interest-bearing purse account to be established by and for the 

benefit of the horsemen; provided, however, that the earned interest on the 

account shall be credited to the purse account; and provided further, that 

licensees shall combine these funds with revenues from existing purse 

agreements to fund purses for live races consistent with those agreements with 

the advice and consent of the horsemen; 



 

 
 

Chapter 10 of the Acts of 2015 amended Massachusetts General Laws 128A and 128C to 
allow purse money generated by the live and simulcast racing pari-mutuel handle that goes 
into the purse account to be used not only for purses but also for administrative and 
horseracing operations, with the approval of the appropriate horsemen's association 
representing the horse owners racing at that meeting.  However, this does not apply to the 
money from the Race Horse Development Fund. 
 
 
 
Recommendation: That the Commission approve the request of Middleboro Agricultural 
Society for $2.5 million from the Race Horse Development Fund for the Middleboro 
purses.  This money will be distributed monthly, as they race. 
 
Recommendation:  That the Commission approve the request of Middleboro Agricultural 
Society for $262, 000 from the Race Horse Development Fund for the Massachusetts 
Thoroughbred Horsemen’s Association’s administrative costs. 
 
Recommendation: That the Commission deny the request of Middleboro Agricultural 
Society for $1,473,947 from the Race Horse Development Fund for administrative and 
operational expenses. 
 

 

  



 

 
 

 







































 
205 CMR: MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 

 
205 CMR  134.00:  LICENSING AND REGISTRATION OF EMPLOYEES, VENDORS, 

JUNKET ENTERPRISES AND REPRESENTATIVES, AND LABOR 
ORGANIZATIONS 

 
************ 

 
134.13:  Fingerprinting 
 

Each applicant for a key gaming employee license, gaming employee license, 
gaming service employee registration, and each qualifier for a gaming vendor applicant 
or licensee, or non-gaming vendor registration shall be fingerprinted under the 
supervision of the Commission. The Bureau in its discretion may require one or more 
officers or employees of any non-gaming vendor registrant to be fingerprinted under the 
supervision of the Commission.  The Commission may, for good cause shown, permit an 
applicant to alternatively submit three sets of classifiable fingerprints on fingerprint 
impression cards provided by the Commission. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

REGULATORY AUTHORITY 

 205 CMR 134.00: M.G.L. c. 23K, §§3, 12, 16, 30 and 31 



 

1 
 

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS 
 
 

PLYMOUTH, ss.                                                           MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 
 

________________________________________________ 
        ) 
In the Matter of:      ) 
        ) 
Application of Mass Gaming & Entertainment, LLC for a )  
License to Operate a Category 1 Gaming Establishment         ) 
In Region C               )    
________________________________________________  ) 

  
DECISION DENYING A LICENSE TO OPERATE A  

CATEGORY 1 GAMING ESTABLISHMENT IN REGION C 
 

I.  Introduction 
 
Mass Gaming & Entertainment, LLC (hereinafter “MG&E” or “Applicant”) submitted to the 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission (hereinafter “Commission” or “MGC”) an RFA-2 
application for a Category 1 Gaming License to operate a Gaming Establishment in Region C.  
The Commission has the authority to award a single Category 1 Gaming License (“License”) in 
Region C pursuant to G.L. c.23K, §19(a). For the following reasons, the application submitted by 
MG&E is hereby DENIED.   
 

II. Background 
 
In 2013, t he Applicant submitted an RFA-1 application to the Commission in anticipation of 
pursuing the Category 2 (slots) gaming license.  T he Applicant paid the application fee and 
underwent a thorough investigation by the Investigation and Enforcement Bureau (“IEB”).  See 
G.L. c.23K, §15(11).1   On July 11, 2013 , the Commission issued a positive determination of 
suitability to the Applicant in connection with that application.  See 205 CMR 115.05(3).  On 
September 19, 2013, the Applicant discontinued its pursuit of the Category 2 gaming license.   
 
In January 2015, the Applicant applied for a Category 1 License in Region C.  The IEB 
conducted a supplemental investigation of the Applicant so as to update its previous 
investigation into the Applicant’s suitability.  On May 6, 2015, a hearing was conducted by the 
Commission at the conclusion of the investigation to again review the Applicant’s 
suitability.  See 205 CMR 115.04(3).  By vote of the Commission after presentations by the IEB  
and the Applicant, the Commission issued a positive determination of suitability for MG&E and 
its qualifiers deeming each suitable to hold a gaming license and, accordingly, rendering MG&E 
eligible to file an RFA-2 application for a Category 1 gaming license.  See 205 CMR 115.05(3). 
 
                                                 
1  Applicant paid all required investigatory costs and monies due relative to the host and surrounding community 
process.  See G.L. c.23K, §15(4) and (11), and 205 CMR 114.00.   



 

2 
 

The Applicant signed an agreement with the host community of Brockton, MA2, setting out the 
conditions under which a gaming establishment may be located within the host community, and 
submitted the executed Host Community Agreement to the Commission in accordance with 205 
CMR 123.02(3).  See G.L. c.23K, §15(8)3.  A vote pursuant to G.L. c.23K, §15(13) was held in 
the Host Community on May 12, 2015, relative to the Applicant’s proposal.  7173 ‘yes’ votes 
and 7025 ‘no’ votes were recorded.  As a result, the Applicant “received a certified and binding 
vote on a ballot question at an election in the host community in favor of such license.” See G.L. 
c.23K, §15(13).  
 
The Applicant submitted an RFA-2 Application, dated September 29, 2015, in accordance with 
205 CMR 118.01(2), to the Commission, (“RFA-2 Application”).  The Commission heard an 
informal presentation from the Applicant explaining its RFA-2 Application on N ovember 5, 
2015.  See 205 CMR 118.04(1) (e).  The Commission held a surrounding community public 
hearing in Holbrook, MA, on January 28, 2016, to afford interested individuals from potentially 
affected communities an opportunity to offer comment relative to the proposal.  See 205 CMR 
118.04(1)(a).  T he Commission also accepted written comments from members of the public 
relative to the proposal.  Further, the Commission held Host Community public hearings in 
Brockton, MA, on March 1, 2016, and March 28, 2016.  See G.L. c.23K, §17(c) and (d), and 205 
CMR 118.05. 
 
The Applicant executed agreements with all designated Surrounding Communities and Impacted 
Live Entertainment Venues and submitted those agreements to the Commission.  See G.L. c.23K 
§§15(9) and (10).   
 
The RFA-2 Application was divided into five categories:  ove rview, finance, economic 
development, building and site design, and mitigation.  See 205 CMR 119.03(2).  Each of the 
five sections of the Applicant’s RFA-2 Application was assigned to an individual Commissioner 
to conduct an evaluation.  E ach Commissioner was advised by professional consultants and 
independent evaluators.  See 205 CMR 118.04(1)(b) and (c) and 205 C MR 119.03(1).  E ach 
Commissioner then presented a report and recommendation on their assigned section to the full 
Commission.  T he Commissioners reviewed all of the reports and discussed the 
recommendations made by each Commissioner at public meetings of the Commission on April 
26, 2016, a nd April 27, 2016.  T he Commission took a final vote as to whether to award the 
license on April 28, 2016.  See 205 CMR 118.06.  The Commission now files this decision.  See 
G.L. c.23K, §17(f) and 205 CMR 118.06(4). 
 

III. Findings and Evaluation 
 
In evaluating whether to issue the Category 1 license in Region C to the Applicant, the 
Commission considered all information in the RFA-1 and RFA-2 Applications submitted by the 
Applicant and developed as part of the IEB investigation, including that information presented to 

                                                 
2 The City of Brockton is located in Plymouth County and accordingly is located in Region C.  See G.L. c.23K, 
§19(a).   
3 The agreement provides for payment of a co mmunity impact fee.  T he contents of Applicant’s application, 
including the applicable attestation provided in Section B of the RFA-2 application (Commitment to Community 
Mitigation), demonstrate that G.L. c.23K, §15(14) has been satisfied. 



 

3 
 

the Commission on April 26, 2016, and April 28, 2016, the presentations made by the Applicant 
to the Commission, the comments received by the Commission in writing and at the surrounding 
and host community hearings, and the observations made by Commissioners during their 
individual visits to both the proposed site of the project and a number of the Applicant’s casinos 
in other jurisdictions.  T he RFA-1 and RFA-2 Applications, the Phase 1 Suitability Decision 
dated July 3, 2013, the Applicant’s presentation, and the evaluation reports created by the 
Commission, as referenced above, are incorporated into this Decision by reference. 
 
In accordance with G.L. c.23K, §18, in determining whether to issue the license to the Applicant, 
the Commission also evaluated how the Applicant proposed to advance the following objectives: 
 

(1) protecting the lottery from any adverse impacts due to expanded gaming including, but 
not limited to, developing cross-marketing strategies with the lottery and increasing ticket 
sales to out-of-state residents; 

 
(2) promoting local businesses in host and surrounding communities, including developing 

cross-marketing strategies with local restaurants, small businesses, hotels, retail outlets 
and impacted live entertainment venues; 

 
(3) realizing maximum capital investment exclusive of land acquisition and infrastructure 

improvements; 
 
(4) implementing a workforce development plan that utilizes the existing labor force, 

including the estimated number of construction jobs a proposed gaming establishment 
will generate, the development of workforce training programs that serve the unemployed 
and methods for accessing employment at the gaming establishment; 

 
(5) building a gaming establishment of high caliber with a variety of quality amenities to be 

included as part of the gaming establishment and operated in partnership with local hotels 
and dining, retail and entertainment facilities so that patrons experience the diversified 
regional tourism industry; 

 
(6) taking additional measures to address problem gambling including, but not limited to, 

training of gaming employees to identify patrons exhibiting problems with gambling and 
prevention programs targeted toward vulnerable populations; 

 
(7) providing a market analysis detailing the benefits of the site location of the gaming 

establishment and the estimated recapture rate of gaming-related spending by residents 
travelling to out-of-state gaming establishments; 

 
(8) utilizing sustainable development principles including, but not limited to: (i) being 

certified as gold or higher under the appropriate certification category in the Leadership 
in Environmental and Energy Design program created by the United States Green 
Building Council; (ii) meeting or exceeding the stretch energy code requirements 
contained in Appendix 120AA of the Massachusetts building energy code or equivalent 
commitment to advanced energy efficiency as determined by the secretary of energy and 



 

4 
 

environmental affairs; (iii) efforts to mitigate vehicle trips; (iv) efforts to conserve water 
and manage storm water; (v) demonstrating that electrical and HVAC equipment and 
appliances will be EnergyStar labeled where available; (vi) procuring or generating on-
site 10 per cent of its annual electricity consumption from renewable sources qualified by 
the department of energy resources under section 11F of chapter 25A; and (vii) 
developing an ongoing plan to submeter and monitor all major sources of energy 
consumption and undertake regular efforts to maintain and improve energy efficiency of 
buildings in their systems; 

 
(9) establishing, funding and maintaining human resource hiring and training practices that 

promote the development of a skilled and diverse workforce and access to promotion 
opportunities through a workforce training program that: (i) establishes transparent career 
paths with measurable criteria within the gaming establishment that lead to increased 
responsibility and higher pay grades that are designed to allow employees to pursue 
career advancement and promotion; (ii) provides employee access to additional 
resources, such as tuition reimbursement or stipend policies, to enable employees to 
acquire the education or job training needed to advance career paths based on increased 
responsibility and pay grades; and (iii) establishes an on-site child day-care program; 

 
(10) contracting with local business owners for the provision of goods and services to the 

gaming establishment, including developing plans designed to assist businesses in the 
commonwealth in identifying the needs for goods and services to the establishment; 

 
(11) maximizing revenues received by the commonwealth; 
 
(12) providing a high number of quality jobs in the gaming establishment; 
 
(13) offering the highest and best value to create a secure and robust gaming market in the 

region and the commonwealth; 
 
(14) mitigating potential impacts on hos t and surrounding communities which might result 

from the development or operation of the gaming establishment; 
 
(15) purchasing, whenever possible, domestically manufactured slot machines for installation 

in the gaming establishment; 
 
(16) implementing a marketing program that identifies specific goals, expressed as an overall 

program goal applicable to the total dollar amount of contracts, for the utilization of: (i) 
minority business enterprises, women business enterprises and veteran business 
enterprises to participate as contractors in the design of the gaming establishment; (ii) 
minority business enterprises, women business enterprises and veteran business 
enterprises to participate as contractors in the construction of the gaming establishment; 
and (iii) minority business enterprises, women business enterprises and veteran business 
enterprises to participate as vendors in the provision of goods and services procured by 
the gaming establishment and any businesses operated as part of the gaming 
establishment; 



 

5 
 

 
(17) implementing a workforce development plan that: (i) incorporates an affirmative action 

program of equal opportunity by which the applicant guarantees to provide equal 
employment opportunities to all employees qualified for licensure in all employment 
categories, including persons with disabilities; (ii) utilizes the existing labor force in the 
commonwealth; (iii) estimates the number of construction jobs a gaming establishment 
will generate and provides for equal employment opportunities and which includes 
specific goals for the utilization of minorities, women and veterans on those construction 
jobs; (iv) identifies workforce training programs offered by the gaming establishment; 
and (v) identifies the methods for accessing employment at the gaming establishment; 

 
(18) whether the applicant has a contract with organized labor, including hospitality services, 

and has the support of organized labor for its application, which specifies: (i) the number 
of employees to be employed at the gaming establishment, including detailed information 
on the pay rate and benefits for employees and contractors; (ii) the total amount of 
investment by the applicant in the gaming establishment and all infrastructure 
improvements related to the project; (iii) completed studies and reports as required by the 
commission, which shall include, but need not be limited to, an economic benefit study, 
both for the commonwealth and the region; and (iv) whether the applicant has included 
detailed plans for assuring labor harmony during all phases of the construction, 
reconstruction, renovation, development and operation of the gaming establishment; and 

 
(19) gaining public support in the host and surrounding communities which may be 

demonstrated through public comment received by the commission or gaming applicant. 
 

In order to evaluate the above factors, the Commission considered the Applicant’s overall 
response in accordance with 205 C MR 119.03 i n each of the following general categories: 
Overview of the Project; Finance; Economic Development; Building and Site Design; and 
Mitigation.   To those ends, the Commission generally adopts the following findings of fact and 
conclusions of law for the Applicant as they are set forth in each of the reports prepared by the 
individual commissioners as part of the deliberations that have been incorporated into this 
decision by reference.  Ultimately, the Commission is convinced that the project set out by the 
Applicant in its RFA-2 Application and included in the other referenced sources meets the 
eligibility requirements set forth in G.L. c.23K, §15.  H owever, by vote of a majority of the 
Commission, it was determined that the Applicant has not presented convincing evidence as part 
of the RFA-2 process that the Applicant’s proposed gaming establishment will provide value to 
Region C and to the Commonwealth.  G.L. c.23K, §19(a).   
 
A majority of the Commission determined that the Applicant failed to demonstrate that its 
proposed project would maximize revenue to the Commonwealth, see G.L. c.23K, §18(11), or 
that it would offer the highest and best value to create a secure and robust gaming market in 
Region C and the Commonwealth.  See G.L. c.23K, §18(13).  W ith respect to economic 
development, the Commission determined that the Application lacked specific plans to promote 
local businesses in the host and surrounding communities, to coordinate with other cultural and 
tourism venues, or to otherwise enhance and develop the Brockton area.  See G.L. c.23K, §18(2).  
Furthermore, while the Applicant’s investment plan acknowledged potential competition from a 



 

6 
 

tribal casino in Taunton, its market assessment did not fully appreciate the potential magnitude 
of that competition. 
 
Accordingly, the Commission declines to award a License to MG&E.      
 
We set out our findings in each of the five aforementioned categories below.      
 

A. Overview of the Project  
 

Overall, a majority of the Commission deemed the Applicant’s proposal in the Overview 
category to be sufficient. For the reasons below, though not unanimous in the finding, the 
Commission essentially determined that the proposed project met the minimum standards 
required, but that the Application did not demonstrate that the Applicant: 
 

thought broadly and creatively about creating an innovative and unique gaming 
establishment that will create a synergy with, and provide a significant and lasting 
benefit to, the residents of the host community, the surrounding communities, the 
region, and the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, and will deliver an overall experience 
that draws both residents and tourists to the gaming establishment and the 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts. 
 

205 CMR 119.01.  The Applicant put together a commendable effort given the limitations 
imposed by the landscape.  U ltimately, though, the Applicant, while very successful with its 
gaming establishments in other states, did not present a dynamic proposal with an economic 
development strategy of the sort that the law envisioned and that the Commission received in the 
other RFA 2 applications submitted in Regions A and B.   
 
This category was evaluated in a number of criteria as follows:   
 
SUMMARY OF EVALUATION BY CRITERIA 
Criterion Findings 
Looking Outward, 
Enhancing the Context 

The Application sufficiently addressed plans for promoting local and 
regional businesses, but lacked specific detailed plans to promote local 
businesses in the host and surrounding communities, to coordinate with 
other cultural and tourism venues, or to otherwise enhance and develop 
the Brockton area.  The applicant pledged $100,000 to study the 
development of an entertainment district and referred to a Rush 
Rewards program to partner with and promote local businesses, but 
failed to offer any specific details with respect to this proposed 
program.  T he Applicant’s marketing initiatives reflect an entirely 
local/regional gaming establishment.  Aside from agreements with 
neighboring facilities (i.e., Campanelli Stadium, Shaw’s Center), few 
other formal arrangements had been put in place.  The Application 
lacked specifics regarding formal partnerships with local hotels and 
dining, retail, and entertainment facilities that would allow patrons to 
experience the diversified regional tourism industry, and relied instead 



 

7 
 

on Boston and area tourism marketing entities and products.   See G.L. 
c.23K, §18(5). 
 
Furthermore, the facility itself would be isolated from the community 
and essentially be inward facing rather than outward looking, as 
evidenced by the fact that most proposed restaurants could not be 
accessed from outside of the gaming establishment. 

Marketing the 
Massachusetts Brand 

The Applicant highlighted its affiliated properties’ previous marketing 
strategies and expressed its intent to replicate those efforts in its 
proposal, but did not provide local specifics and demonstrated little 
knowledge of the City of Brockton or Plymouth County.  The 
Applicant stated that it would host entertainment and athletic events, 
but the Applicant did not appear sensitive or to have done much due 
diligence regarding the local market (e.g., lack of emphasis on 
Brockton’s rich boxing history).  See G.L. c.23K, §18(5).  
Furthermore, the Applicant missed a distinct opportunity to create an 
iconic centerpiece of the project with an old exhibition building, and 
instead carved the building out of the facility property.  The Applicant 
did, however, make a gesture to Massachusetts history with the 
adoption of a brick style reminiscent of the city and region’s 
manufacturing past.  

Destination Resort in a 
Competitive 
Environment 

The Applicant failed to demonstrate distinctiveness in its business 
model or marketing that would differentiate it in a highly competitive 
market.  The Application referenced a program of non-gaming options, 
but provided no specifics with respect to that program or its partners.  
The Application detailed amenities from sister properties, including a 
bike path, river walk, running path, outdoor amphitheater, and green 
wall.  H owever, no s uch amenities were included in the Applicant’s 
proposal.  F urthermore, the proposal referenced the hotel and 
convention space, but failed to demonstrate strategies for these spaces 
which could make the property a “destination resort.” 

Diverse Workforce 
and Supplier Base 

The Applicant outlined a general approach regarding workforce 
development with little in terms of formal commitments.  T he 
Applicant did not clearly demonstrate its commitment to “establishing, 
funding and maintaining human resource hiring and training practices 
that promote the development of a skilled and diverse workforce and 
access to promotion opportunities . . . .”   G .L. c. 23K, §18(9).  The 
Applicant pledged to establish a formal diversity plan and stated its 
intention to collaborate with local groups to identify and inform 
diverse populations on j obs, necessary skills, and training resources, 
but formal diversity plans were not fully developed in the Application.   
It was the Applicant’s intent to replicate strategies used in its other 
properties and execute a similar diversity plan in Brockton.  The 
Applicant’s affiliates’ history of diverse hiring practices includes 53% 
minority hiring in Philadelphia, 28% in Pittsburgh, 56% in Des 
Plaines. 



 

8 
 

B. Finance 
 
Overall, the Applicant’s proposal in the Finance category is rated as sufficient with very good 
elements, namely the financial strength (ability to obtain project capital) and the operations plan 
(alignment with the market opportunity). 
 
The Applicant demonstrated that it possesses the financial capabilities and necessary capital 
required to develop and operate the proposed project.  The Applicant’s view of the market 
opportunity demonstrates a solid understanding of the existing awarded gaming licenses in 
Massachusetts (specifically market differentiation from Wynn Boston Harbor).  The operations 
plan submitted aligns with this view of the market opportunity. 
 
While the Applicant’s investment plan (e.g., spending of contingency amounts is to meet the 
$500 million eligible capital investment threshold) acknowledges future Region C competition 
(i.e., a tribal casino in Taunton, MA), their market assessment does not fully appreciate the 
potential magnitude of this competition.  The Applicant essentially relies upon their experience 
in other competitive markets to exhibit how it will effectively compete for a s hare of the 
Massachusetts gaming market with a tribal casino in Taunton.  This experience, however, may 
not be fully comparable to the Massachusetts market, as they will not be the closest gaming 
establishment to the core population base in the Boston market. 
 
This category was evaluated in a number of criteria as follows: 
 
SUMMARY OF EVALUATION BY CRITERIA 
Criterion Findings 
Financial Capability The Applicant demonstrated that it possesses the financial stability and 

strength to develop and operate the proposed gaming establishment.   
 
The Applicant demonstrated the availability of adequate financing for 
the project.  The total capital required for the proposed project would 
be $677.5 million. The net worth of the entities and related entities of 
Brockton Gaming, LLC demonstrated the ability to fund the $172.5 
million equity component of the project.  The Applicant provided a 
bank letter indicating that the owners of Brockton Gaming, LLC have 
access to a credit facility with undrawn funds available.  The Applicant 
also provided highly confident letters from Credit Suisse, Wells Fargo, 
and Goldman Sachs indicating confidence in arranging financing in 
scenarios with and without a tribal casino located in Taunton. 
 
The financial strength of the Applicant is based upon t he provider of 
equity to the project, Brockton Gaming, LLC.  The net worth of entities 
and related entities of Brockton Gaming, LLC demonstrated sufficient 
net worth to fund the project.  While the Applicant’s affiliated entities 
have significant (i.e., controlling) ownership interests in Rivers Casino 
Pittsburgh, Rivers Casino Des Plaines, and Sugarhouse Casino 
Philadelphia, these casinos were not used by the Applicant to 



 

9 
 

demonstrate the financial strength of the Applicant.  T hat said, a 
financial ratio analysis was completed for these three casino projects, 
and the resulting ratios demonstrated financial strength. 
 
The Applicant’s proposed plan would produce a co mmercially 
reasonable return on investment in both competition scenarios, with a 
21% return on i nvestment without a tribal casino in Taunton, and a 
15% return on investment with a tribal casino in Taunton.  If revenue 
projections did not materialize (for example, due to the impact of a 
second gaming establishment in Region C), projected returns, while 
positive, could be below what would be considered reasonable.  
 
The contents of the Application, including the applicable attestation 
provided in Section B of the RFA-2 Application, demonstrated that 
G.L. c.23K, §15(5) has been satisfied. 

Investment Plan Eligible capital costs provided by the Applicant met the minimum 
capital investment requirements (in terms of eligible capital costs) 
provided that the budgeted contingency costs were actually spent on 
eligible capital items.  See G.L. c.23K, §10(a), G.L. c. 23K, §18(3), and 
205 CMR 122.00 (governing the manner in which the capital 
investment is calculated.).  The total eligible costs are $478.3 million; 
the total eligible costs if the contingency were to be spent are $500.4 
million (contingency hard costs are $17.9 m illion; contingency soft 
costs are $4.2 million).   The contents of the Application, including the 
applicable attestation provided in Section B of the RFA-2 Application, 
demonstrate that G.L. c.23K, §15(2) has been satisfied. 
 
The facility proposed by the Applicant (investment and facility 
program) differentiates itself from the Wynn Boston Harbor (i.e., 
attempts to be complementary as opposed to directly competitive) 
which is financially prudent strategy. 
 
The Applicant proposed a construction timeline of 38 to 41 months 
with a prospective opening date in May 2019.  This was considered a 
reasonable timeline for opening a facility of the nature proposed given 
the size and scope of the development and the site location.  T he 
proposed size and scope of the facility is consistent with business and 
financial plans submitted, and the proposed gaming establishment 
would be positioned to penetrate the local market.  T he project was 
comprised of the following proposed elements: 
 
• Site Location situated on the Brockton Fairgrounds 
• Gaming Floor of 91,900 square feet containing 2,100 slot machines 

and 124 table games 
• 250 room hotel 
• 6 food and beverage outlets containing 770 total seats 



 

10 
 

• 3,003 parking spaces 
• 15,600 square feet of exhibition and meeting space; and 
• 1,000 square feet of retail space. 
 
The Commission finds that the proposal met the statutory requirements 
regarding the purchase of domestically manufactured slot 
machines.  See G.L. c.23K, §18(15). 

Market Assessment It is important to note that no pr ojections come with any guarantees.  
As such, we do not look at numbers in a vacuum, but instead we 
consider them for purposes of thinking about what effect an additional 
gaming establishment may have on t he gaming landscape.  D espite 
conflicting numbers presented by a variety of consultants, the one thing 
that remained constant is that an additional gaming establishment 
would likely have an impact on the existing gaming licensees.  It is the 
scope of this impact that was subject to dispute.  To that end, the 
Commission considered all of the information submitted to determine 
whether there was convincing evidence that the Applicant’s proposal 
would provide value to both Region C and the Commonwealth.  W e 
were unable to find such evidence.   
 
Gaming revenue projections with no tribal casino in Taunton (i.e., with 
the Applicant being the only gaming establishment in Region C) 
provided by the Applicant were determined to be within the range of 
expected market results.  The Commission’s consultant, HLT Advisory 
(“HLT”), provided a market analysis to test the information presented 
by the Applicant.  It found as follows:   
 
Projected Gross Gaming Revenue for Year 2 (net of free play) with no 
tribal casino in Taunton:  
• HLT market area: $375.6 million 
• Outside the defined market area (Inflow): $28.7 million 
• Total: $404.3 million 

 
For the purposes of the Region C market assessment, HLT developed 
two additional market scenarios: 
• Scenario 1 - Brockton and Taunton casinos are the same size and 

quality (no competitive advantage due to either tax rate or 
marketing/facility investment). 

• Scenario 2 – Taunton casino has a competitive advantage over the 
Brockton casino due to no gaming revenue payments being assessed 
under the compact allowing for greater marketing and/or facility 
investment. 
  

In HLT’s original analysis, gaming revenue from the HLT defined 
market area generated by a Region C gaming establishment ranged 
from $346.7 million to $404.5 million. 



 

11 
 

 
In Scenario 1, R egion C casinos would generate between $446.2 
million (Taunton-$219 million and Brockton-$227 million) and $520.6 
million (Taunton-$256 million and Brockton-$265 million). 
 
In Scenario 2, R egion C casinos would generate between $466.9 
million (Taunton-$281 million and Brockton-$186 million) and $544.7 
million (Taunton-$328 million and Brockton-$217 million). 
 
The Applicant’s gaming revenue projections with a tribal casino in 
Taunton were aggressive.  The Applicant believed it could effectively 
compete with a tribal casino in Taunton, which would not be paying 
any share of its gaming revenue to the Commonwealth, for a share of 
the Greater Boston gaming market.  This belief was based on their 
location relative to the Greater Boston area population base and their 
experience operating in competitive markets (i.e., Philadelphia, 
Chicago, and Pittsburgh).  HLT’s Scenario 1 aligns with this belief (no 
competitive advantage for the tribal casino in Taunton).  The 
Applicant’s market assessment estimated that the Applicant’s gaming 
establishment in Brockton would generate $327 million if there were a 
tribal casino in Taunton. This estimate is aggressive compared to 
HLT’s estimated range of $252 to $294 million with a tribal casino in 
Taunton.   See G.L. c.23K, §18(11) and (13). The Applicant did not 
provide a detailed breakdown of revenue by market area nor did they 
define the size and scope of the tribal casino.   
 
The Applicant did not contemplate a scenario in which the tribal casino 
in Taunton would have a competitive advantage (e.g., through 
increased marketing spend and/or greater size and scope of facility).  
HLT’s Scenario 2 considers the potential impact of such a competitive 
advantage though such impact was difficult to project given the lack of 
concrete details relative to the tribal casino proposal.  Under Scenario 
2, however, the potential impact is projected to be approximately $50 
million which represents the difference between Scenario 1 and 
Scenario 2.  
 
The Applicant did, however, satisfy its obligation to provide “a market 
analysis detailing the benefits of the site location of the gaming 
establishment and the estimated recapture rate of gaming-related 
spending by residents travelling to out-of-state gaming establishments . 
. . .”  See G.L. c. 23K, §18(7). 

Operations Plan The Applicant recognized the importance of internal controls, and its 
proposed gaming establishment management company, Rush Street 
Gaming, LLC, has experience developing and adhering to internal 
control requirements in Mississippi, Pennsylvania, and Illinois.  
Further, the Applicant acknowledged that it would abide by 



 

12 
 

Massachusetts internal control regulations and provided a draft internal 
control manual. 
 
All operational and marketing plans submitted by the Applicant were 
clearly articulated and represented a cohesive strategy that aligned with 
Brockton/Applicant’s proposed gaming establishment and view of the 
market opportunity (market differentiation from Everett/Wynn).  The 
Applicant’s projected marketing expenditures are aligned with what 
would be expected for a North American regional gaming 
establishment. The submissions included plans for slot machine 
products, table game products, food and beverage, hotel, retail, parking, 
and marketing. 
 
The Applicant’s financial projections are in alignment with their 
business plan and view of the market opportunity.  The Applicant’s 
total payroll as a percentage of total revenue is lower than expected.  
Overall, the proposed financial projections are reasonable.  

 
C. Economic Development 

 
Overall, the Applicant’s proposal in the economic development category is rated as sufficient. 
 
The Applicant provided reasonable detail on achievements at its existing casinos in other 
jurisdictions—across all three economic development focus areas—but failed to sufficiently 
elaborate on specific plans and targets for the Brockton project.   
 
Within the Job Creation area, the Applicant quantified employment from both construction and 
ongoing operations.  The Applicant’s anticipated salaries and wages per full time employee were 
lower than that for the other Category 1 gaming licensees approved in Regions A and B.  
Depending on market conditions and the availability of a qualified workforce, challenges may 
have followed in filling all positions at those pay scales. The projected benefits presented by the 
Applicant are consistent with projected compensation.  
 
The discussion of job opportunities for the unemployed and underemployed provided by the 
Applicant lacked any targets or clear delineation of plans and activities.  Similarly, the section on 
workforce training was inadequate in that it failed to identify the community college located in 
Brockton or other vehicles for delivery of training.  However, it is notable that the Applicant 
demonstrated success in both these areas at their Pittsburgh, Philadelphia and Des Plaines 
casinos.    
 
Employee retention rates at its existing casinos, and expected rates projected by the Applicant for 
the Brockton project, are low (i.e., high turnover) but comparable to industry averages as well as 
rates projected by other Category 1 a pplicants.   O f concern, it was noted that the Applicant 
projected retention to be the same for the entire 15 year term of the license with limited and 
insufficient detail relative to improved retention strategies. 
 



 

13 
 

The Applicant provided a description of the vendor outreach process for operational goods and 
services.  The Applicant also sufficiently addressed plans for promoting local and regional 
businesses, although more could have been done to identify specific businesses and how these 
businesses might be better involved.  N o detail was provided in the Application relative to 
vendor outreach for construction.   
 
With respect to vendor diversity targets, the Applicant failed to identify targets for 
Minority/Women/Veteran Business Enterprise (“MBE/WBE/VBE”) participation and provided 
insufficient information relative to building awareness, strategies for involvement and 
development, joint ventures and mentorships, monitoring process, and project operations training 
with respect to MBE/WBE/VBE businesses. 
 
The Applicant viewed the Brockton gaming establishment’s primary market as the greater 
Boston area as evidenced by the tourism-oriented marketing initiatives described in the 
Application.  A side from agreements with neighboring facilities (i.e., Campanelli Stadium, 
Shaw’s Center), no other formal arrangements have been put in place; for the most part, the 
Application failed to identify local or regional tourism marketing entities or tourism operators.  
These marketing initiatives, or lack thereof, are reflective of a local/regional gaming 
establishment marketing to the Greater Boston market.   
 
Similarly, as it p ertains to job creation and small business collaboration, the Applicant’s 
description of achievements at its other casinos is far more thorough than the plans for its 
Brockton proposal.  The Applicant demonstrated a reasonable linkage to the regional economic 
plans (e.g. Brockton 2025) and a commitment to non-competition with local entertainment 
venues. 
 
This category was evaluated in a number of criteria as follows: 
 
SUMMARY OF EVALUATION BY CRITERIA 
Criterion Findings 
Job Creation Overall, the Applicant achieved a sufficient rating for the Job Creation 

category.   
 
The Applicant demonstrated limited effort in tailoring HR practices and 
workforce development plans to the local market.  See G.L. c. 23K, 
§18(17).  As depicted in the chart below, the Applicant projected modest 
job creation from construction (2,033 FYEs), and ongoing operations 
(1,477 FTEs –Year 1) with full-time employees representing 
approximately 80% of employees. See G.L. c.23K, §18(12).   
  

Construction Period:  
FYEs 
Annual $/FYE 

2,033  
$46,905 

Operations (Year 1): 
 

FTEs  
 

1,477 
 



 

14 
 

Annual$-(without 
benefits)/FTE 

$28,935 

Mean Household Income  Brockton: $61,096 (Source: US Census Bureau–
2010-2014 ACS) 

Benefits (Year 1):   
Salary-to-benefit ratio  46.5% 
FTE benefits/employee  $13,457 
FT benefits/employee $13,631 
PT benefits/employee $2,574 
Benefits breakdown as a %  
payroll                               

Average of per FT/PT: 
Medical/Dental/Vision/Life/Disability (29.4%), 
Bonuses (6%), 401k (4%), paid-time-off (6.9%) 

Forecasted retention rate Year 1-15: 72%-82% 
Retention rate since Day 1 of 
operations (opening date) 

Rivers, Pittsburgh=12% (2009 – hired for table 
games 2010); SugarHouse, Philadelphia=23% 
(2010); Rivers, Des Plaines=35% (2011) 

 
However, the Applicant demonstrated its affiliated properties’ track record 
of executing local market engagement, hiring 
underemployed/unemployed, community college partnerships, and 
providing the means for workforce development – providing a sense of 
confidence that the Applicant has the ability to execute similar efforts at a 
Brockton gaming establishment. Within other jurisdictions, the 
Applicant’s affiliates have engaged the local community in hiring and 
training processes and there is evidence of workforce development 
(advancement) at these casinos.   The Applicant did not commit to specific 
employment figures for Brockton, but stated that they would implement 
and work off of what has been done in other jurisdictions.  Rivers Casinos 
in Des Plaines and Pittsburgh, and SugarHouse Casino in Philadelphia 
have promoted approximately 1,400 employees since the casinos have 
opened, with 300 individuals being promoted in the past year.  
Collectively, the three casinos employ approximately 4,000 people. 
 
Further, the Host Community Agreement stipulates that the Applicant 
work in good faith and provide reasonable preference to qualified 
Brockton residents for both construction and permanent jobs (though no 
quantifiable targets or commitments were made).  The Applicant 
committed to hosting construction and operation job fairs (citing the 
Massasoit Community College Conference Center or the Shaw’s Center as 
potential event sites) to inform local residents about job opportunities and 
assist them in becoming qualified for those jobs.  The Applicant has 
earmarked $11.9 m illion for a pre-opening budget. This figure includes 
pre-opening salary/wages, recruiting and training.  See G.L. c.23K, 
§18(4).   
 
Payroll (without benefits) for ongoing operating FTEs is $28,935/FTE – 
Year 1. Projected FTE salary was below that pledged by the two Category 
1 gaming licensees.  Credit, however, was given to the Applicant for an 
aggressive benefits package.  Further, there are comparatively weak 



 

15 
 

retention rates at the Applicant’s affiliated properties with similar rates 
projected for the Brockton facility.   The forecasted retention rate for years 
1-15 of operation was 72%-82%.  The Applicant’s affiliated facilities have 
limited union representation in mostly support areas, such as facilities.  
There is controversy over union certification/labor practices in Pittsburgh. 
The Applicant did not execute a contract with organized labor or have the 
support of organized labor for its application.  See G.L. c.23K, §18(18). 
 
The Applicant outlined a general approach regarding workforce 
development with little detail or formal commitments.  The Applicant did 
not clearly demonstrate its commitment to “establishing, funding and 
maintaining human resource hiring and training practices that promote the 
development of a skilled and diverse workforce and access to promotion 
opportunities . . . .”  G.L. c. 23K, §18(9).  Formal diversity plans were not 
fully developed in the Application.   H owever, affiliated Applicant 
properties do have a track record of establishing and executing diversity 
plans.  It was Applicant’s intent to replicate strategies and execute a 
similar diversity plan in Brockton.  The Applicant’s affiliates’ history of 
diverse hiring practices includes 53% minority hiring in Philadelphia, 
28% in Pittsburgh, 56% in Des Plaines. 
 
Notable human resource and training practices that the Applicant did 
reference include:  a commitment to establish job opportunities and 
employee assistance programs at the gaming establishment;  preference 
given to internal promotions over external hires and that historically many 
promotions have occurred as a result of employment growth;  “Rush 
Street Gaming Leadership Excellence” training (business and leadership 
skills such as situational leadership, financial aptitude) provided to all 
supervisory employees;  responsible gaming training as a preventative 
measure;  EAP programs consisting of professional counseling services 
for help in confronting personal problems such as alcohol and other 
substance abuse, marital and family difficulties, financial or legal troubles, 
and emotional distress, provided to all staff  to target prevention and 
identification of signs of problems and how to remedy them; on-site child 
daycare was not to be provided, but employees would have been given the 
option to allocate health care benefits towards child care services. 
 
The applicant did have a working draft of MOU completed with Brockton 
Area Building Construction Trades Council.  It did not, however, have 
any other labor agreements in place at the time the Application was 
reviewed.  See G.L. c. 23K, §18(9) and (18). 

Support for 
External Business 
Components 

Overall, the Applicant achieved a sufficient rating for the Supporting 
External Business and Job Growth category.  Applicant has expressed an 
intention to integrate and engage the surrounding businesses and create 
job growth.  The Application, however, lacked specific, detailed plans for 
the Brockton market and largely described the track record at other 



 

16 
 

affiliated properties as proof of intent. 
 
The Application lacked specifics and detailed plans to promote local 
businesses in the host and surrounding communities, however, it did state 
intentions to partner with local organizations and committed capital 
($50,000 per year) to purchase local business gift cards for rewards 
program. The Applicant committed to “strategically source goods and 
services and create a fair bid process” to assist and favor local businesses 
in providing goods/services for the gaming establishments operations.”  
Little further detail on l ocal vendor hiring intentions was provided, 
though.  The Applicant did outline modest committed funds for local 
enterprises and provided modest projections for spin off spending with 
plans to link local businesses with rewards program.  Further, the 
Applicant identified opportunities for local businesses to be integrated into 
the gaming establishment and its ability to bring traffic to the region.  It is 
also clear that the Applicant’s affiliated properties have a proven track 
record of purchasing goods and services from local businesses.  To that 
end, the Applicant expressed an intent to replicate a strategy of hosting 
local vendor fairs and creating a database of local suppliers which can be 
referenced when looking for goods and services vendors.  The Applicant 
committed to hosting vendor fairs prior to opening of the gaming 
establishment and during operations to advertise and inform local vendors 
relative to job opportunities and how to become qualified for said jobs. 
Additionally, these fairs would provide a means to educate local vendors 
on volumes and quantities needed to support operations of the gaming 
establishment.  Additionally, the Applicant earmarked $11.9 million for a 
pre-opening budget, of which recruiting and training activities are a part.    
See G.L. c.23K, §18(2) and (10).   
 
A cooperation agreement was signed with Brockton 21st Century (owner 
of The Shaw’s Center and Campanelli Stadium). 
 
The Applicant delegated local supplier integration into the construction 
phase to general contractors and construction management firms. 
 
The Applicant outlined plans to replicate strategies at affiliated properties 
to engage local vendors through vendor fairs and maintain local vendor 
database.  However, the Applicant failed to identify specific goals to 
engage minority, women, and veteran-owned businesses.  The Applicant’s 
affiliated properties have track record of modest MBE/WBE/VBE 
spending. 
 
The Applicant’s plans were aligned with the City of Brockton’s economic 
development plans and financial commitments from Applicant would 
likely bolster municipal efforts. 
 



 

17 
 

The Applicant demonstrated sufficient evidence of fulfilling domestic 
gaming equipment suppliers. 

Regional Tourism 
and Attractions 

Overall, the Applicant achieved a sufficient rating in the Regional 
Tourism and Attractions category, although the Applicant clearly 
positioned the Brockton project as a “local resident” gaming establishment 
targeting the Greater Boston market.  The Applicant demonstrated relative 
strength in identifying potential local/regional business partnership 
opportunities and expressed intentions to collaborate and engage the 
appropriate tourism/economic agencies, however, the Application lacked 
robust formal displays of communication and agreements with potential 
partners.  The Applicant committed impactful levels of funding and 
identified alignment with the city and region’s goals of development and 
overall advancement. 
 
The Applicant demonstrated intentions to partner with local venues and 
tourism/economic organizations (i.e., cooperation agreement with 
Brockton 21st  Century).  However, the Application lacked specifics and 
initiative for formal partnerships with local hotels and dining, retail and 
entertainment facilities so that patrons would experience the diversified 
regional tourism industry, and relied on Boston and area tourism 
marketing entities and products.  Further, the Applicant demonstrated little 
knowledge of the City of Brockton or Plymouth County tourism market.  
However, the Applicant did highlight its affiliated properties’ previous 
marketing strategies with intentions to replicate efforts, but again lacked 
local specifics and uniqueness.   
 
The Applicant demonstrated a commitment to aiding the local economy 
through the community enhancement fee ($3 million/annum - 5% of 
which would go to the Brockton Community Foundation), and committed 
capital towards economic development and planning in Brockton.  
Further, the Applicant expressed an intention to host entertainment and 
athletic events, however lacked demonstrated understanding and due 
diligence towards the local market (e.g., lack of emphasis on Brockton’s 
rich boxing history).  See G.L. c.23K, §18(5).   

 
 

D. Building & Site Design 
 

Overall, the Applicant’s proposal in the Building & Suite Design category is rated as sufficient. 

Taken as a whole, the Application submitted by the Applicant is solidly sufficient. There is 
nothing especially exciting about the proposed gaming establishment/hotel, although the exterior 
design creatively seeks to evoke the look and feel of a New England manufacturing city like 
Brockton.  There are no significant design deficiencies.  

The Applicant intends the gaming establishment to be a regional destination, offering first class 
gaming, hotel and dining options.  In conjunction with the Shaw’s Center and Campanelli 



 

18 
 

Stadium, the gaming establishment was intended to anchor an entertainment district. The 
proposed masonry exterior recalls mill buildings and historic properties.  

The gaming establishment would consist of three main elements:    

• Casino floor and associated food and beverage (F&B) venues  
• Multi-purpose ballroom and associated conference/meeting rooms  
• Hotel and spa.  

These elements were well arranged to support the different uses, but the overall design is inward 
focused from the surrounding community.  A  potential opportunity was considered lost or 
delayed by the Applicant’s failure to incorporate the adjacent historic Brockton Fairgrounds 
Exhibition Hall in the gaming establishment. 

The size of the proposed gaming establishment is approximately 466,000 square feet, at an 
estimated construction cost of approximately $295,000,000. T his cost does not include 
furnishings, fixtures, gaming equipment or land costs. A cost comparison between the 
Applicant’s and MGM Springfield gaming establishments indicates that the proposed quality of 
amenities would be similar.  

The proposed site plan would provide adequate access/egress for patrons and employees arriving 
by car and adequate parking in a three level garage and at grade. Pedestrian circulation on the 
site would require further development.  The Applicant proposed evaluating the viability of a 
shuttle bus between the MBTA downtown station and the gaming establishment and pledged to 
work with the local transit agency to integrate the site into local bus routes. 

The existing off-site transportation network was evaluated using accepted procedures, but would 
have needed to be expanded through the Massachusetts Environmental Policy Act (“MEPA”) 
process. The primary access to the proposed site is from Route 24 a long Route 123 (Belmont 
Street) to West Street and Forest Avenue. MassDOT has preexisting plans in place to reconstruct 
Belmont Street.  The Applicant would upgrade West Street and Forest Avenue. The roadway and 
signal improvements proposed by Applicant are estimated to cost $10.2 million.   

Where specific information on sustainability and security was lacking in the Application there is 
normally a performance standard that would need to be met as the initial design concepts were 
further developed. For example, information in the Application on specific sustainability 
measures is limited, but the Applicant committed to having the gaming establishment certified as 
LEED Gold.  Further, in terms of security, the Applicant provided protocols used at their other 
casinos (e.g., surveillance, communication and security plans) that could be used in Applicant’s 
gaming establishment, tailored to MGC regulations. 

The Applicant provided adequate information on w ater, wastewater and stormwater 
infrastructure. The City could provide water and the Applicant proposed approximately $1 
million of off-site sewer improvements to connect to the City’s system. The proposed stormwater 
management system would retain runoff to provide 50% of irrigation needs and meet DEP 
stormwater standards. 

Permitting for the proposed project is straight forward, primarily because the 46-acre site was 
previously developed as the Brockton Racetrack and Fairgrounds.  It is relatively open with few 
structures of any size.  T he MEPA process needs to be completed, followed by a MassDOT 
permit for off-site roadway construction and local permits from the Brockton Planning Board 



 

19 
 

and DPW.  There are no tidelands, wetlands or other sensitive environmental features that would 
require extensive permitting.   

In terms of schedule, the critical path would run through completion of the MEPA process, the 
MassDOT permit and the time needed to complete off-site roadway construction. The proposed 
schedule called for an opening in June 2019, with the possibility of an earlier opening at the end 
of 2018, if the permitting process could be accelerated. 

The most positive aspects of the Application are listed below: 

1. The Applicant’s parent company, Rush Street Gaming, has a track record in the type of 
casino proposed in Brockton and appears to understand the market. 

2. The assembled development team has experience designing casinos and has strong local 
technical support. 

3. Based on c onstruction costs per square foot, the Applicant’s proposed gaming 
establishment is similar to the MGM Springfield gaming establishment.  

4. The Applicant committed to a certified LEED Gold facility, which would require a 
significant commissioning effort. Further, Rush Street Gaming has built a LEED Gold 
casino in Pennsylvania. 

5. Despite a close vote in Brockton approving the gaming establishment, the City 
administration—significantly including the Superintendent of Schools—is unqualifiedly 
supportive.   

6. The City Administration created a zoning overlay district that would allow the gaming 
establishment to be constructed ‘by right.’ 

This category was evaluated in a number of criteria as follows: 
 

SUMMARY OF EVALUATION BY CRITERIA 
Criterion Findings 
Creativity in design 
and overall concept 
excellence 

The Applicant intended the gaming establishment to be a r egional 
destination offering first class gaming, hotel and dining options and, in 
conjunction with the Shaw Center and Campanelli Stadium, anchor an 
entertainment district. The masonry exterior would recall mill buildings 
and historic properties. 

The proposed Gaming Establishment would consist of three main 
elements:  

• Casino floor and associated food and beverage (F&B) venues  
• Multi-purpose ballroom and associated conference/meeting rooms  
• Hotel and spa.  

These were well arranged to support the different uses, but inward 
focused.  A  potential opportunity was lost or delayed by not 
incorporating the historic Brockton Fairgrounds Exhibition Hall in the 
gaming establishment. 

Gaming The Applicant proposed an inward-focused gaming floor including 2,990 



 

20 
 

establishment of 
high caliber with 
quality amenities in 
partnership with 
local facilities 

gaming positions (2,100 slot machines, 100 l ive table games, and a 24-
table poker area) in a 91,000 square foot casino floor. Non-gaming 
amenities include a full complement of food and beverage offerings, 
convenience retail, and a 250-room hotel with an additional restaurant 
and a spa, health club and pool. A multi-function ballroom with meeting 
space was to be located between the hotel and casino floor. The multi-
function space of 12,200 square feet could accommodate up t o 1,000 
patrons for certain programming, including live entertainment.  

The size of the proposed gaming establishment and hotel facility is 
approximately 466,000 square feet, at an estimated construction cost of 
approximately $295,000,000. This cost does not include furnishings, 
fixtures, gaming equipment or land costs. 

A comparison of the program and the costs was made between the 
Applicant’s proposed gaming establishment and MGM Springfield and 
suggests that the quality of amenities in the Applicant’s gaming 
establishment will be similar to MGM Springfield.  See G.L. c. 23K, 
§18(5).   

Compatibility with 
surroundings 

The site plan provides for adequate access and egress to the gaming 
establishment for cars, buses and taxis. Adequate circulation and parking 
is also provided. Pedestrian circulation was not adequately described on 
the site plan and would need to be further developed as the design 
progresses.  

The existing off-site transportation network was evaluated using 
acceptable procedures. For the area intersections studied to date a 
reasonable package of mitigation measures has been proposed for a total 
cost of $10.2 m illion dollars. In addition, MassDOT is planning to 
upgrade Route 123 (Belmont Street) from Route 24 to West Street, the 
main access to the gaming establishment. Further traffic mitigation 
should be considered at several locations through the on-going MEPA 
process. 

In terms of transit, the Applicant had shuttle bus service under 
consideration, including connections to the BAT downtown station and 
integration of existing bus routes with a stop at the gaming establishment. 

The site plan was generally positive on the neighborhood side by pulling 
the buildings away from the property edge to allow for a landscaped 
buffer.  However, on the commercial side a large parking area separates it 
from potentially compatible uses. The Applicant pledged to fund a 
$100,000 study of an entertainment district in the vicinity of the gaming 
establishment, which should address this issue.   H owever, the plan as 
presented did not incorporate the neighboring institutions. 

Among the most commonly articulated complaints received during the 
public comment process with regard to the Application related to the 
proximity of the site to the Brockton High School.  Brockton High 
School is less than a quarter mile from the site.  The proximity is made 



 

21 
 

more concerning because the proposed gaming establishment lies along 
the routes that the students from the residential neighborhoods to the 
north and the east of the gaming establishment employ to walk to and 
from school. 

Brockton’s water and wastewater utilities should be able to support the 
gaming establishment development with the mitigation measures 
proposed in the Application along with additional water conservation 
measures.  See G.L. c.23K, §18(8). 

Sustainable 
development 

The responses to Sustainability questions are consistent with the 
conceptual nature of the plan development at the time of the RFA-2 
Application. On the positive side, the Applicant has committed to achieve 
LEED Gold certification through the US Green Building Council. In 
support of this commitment, the Applicant has included a LEED 
checklist identifying 62 credit points at this time; has assembled a team 
of well-qualified design professionals in this area; and has previously 
achieved LEED Gold on another casino facility. The commitment to 3rd 
party commissioning for both the envelope and the HVAC system is also 
seen as a positive.  Importantly, the proposed gaming establishment 
would comply with the Massachusetts Stretch Energy Code. 

The Applicant made the following further commitments:  making use of 
Energy Star equipment “as applicable”;  proposed use of energy recovery 
systems for “ventilation systems with high outdoor air percentages” and 
co-generation systems will be considered, with specific locations and 
quantities to be developed in subsequent phases; a commitment to 
envelope commissioning during construction of the gaming 
establishment, with a 3rd party commissioning agent, including thermal 
performance (insulation) and air infiltration, and to HVAC 
commissioning in accordance with LEED; plans for on-going building 
commissioning post-occupancy; plans for on-going monitoring via 
Building Management Systems (“BMS”) or Building Automation 
Systems (“BAS”);  metering that would provide data to the BMS/BAS so 
that data could be applied to on-going energy saving measures;  a 
Measurement and Verification (“M&V”) system for short-interval data 
collection and monitoring to inform energy model; a digital lighting 
control system to interface with the BMS/BAS and help manage lighting 
loads; a Central Utility Plant (“CUP”) for facility-wide chilled and hot 
water and considered cogeneration or Combined Heat and Power (CHP) 
(no specific plans were presented); The Applicant identified strategies 
for on-going sustainability, but there was no mention of operational 
waste management, a recycling plan or on-site hazardous materials 
management.  The gaming establishment would include emergency 
generators for the critical loads of the facility with uninterrupted power 
supply (UPS) intended to protect data and security equipment.  See G.L. 
c.23K, §18(8).   

On the less positive side, there were limited details in support of the 



 

22 
 

sustainability commitments (likely due to the early stage of design) and 
the Applicant has not committed to on-site energy generation and has 
committed only to purchase the minimum required amount of renewable 
green power after the first two years. See G.L. c.23K, §18(8)(vi). 

The Applicant has provided a concept plan for the proposed stormwater 
utilities, but no supporting calculations. The plan must comply with State 
Stormwater Standards and is reasonable at this early stage of design. 
Water conservation measures are also reasonable to achieve a 3 5/50% 
reduction in potable water for normal uses and irrigation respectively. 
Further reductions should be evaluated in the MEPA process to avoid 
additional stress on the Silver Lake reservoir system.  See G.L. c.23K, 
§18(8).   

Security, monitoring, 
surveillance and 
emergency 
procedures 

In responding to the Security, Monitoring, Surveillance and Emergency 
Procedures questions, the Applicant did not typically provide information 
specifically tailored to the proposed gaming establishment. This is 
consistent with the approach taken by other applicants in other regions 
and is in part based on the early stage of design and programming. The 
Applicant did respond to questions by stating that the applicable local 
and state codes and regulations would be followed (e.g. building and fire 
codes, surveillance regulations). Further, the Applicant provided the 
following examples from their other facilities, specifically in 
Pennsylvania, that addresses these questions: 

• Surveillance Plan 
• Crisis Management and Communication Plan 
• Security Department Standard Operating Plan 

The Applicant provided a designated area for MGC operations and shows 
the area on the floor plans. Also included was a discussion about 
controlling minors at access points to the gaming establishment and 
training of security staff on i dentifying minors. There were no metrics 
provided on the history/success of security at other gaming establishment 
operated by the Applicant’s affiliates. There is a central monitoring 
system (CMS) that the Applicant’s affiliate uses in Pennsylvania to 
design, purchase and install equipment and infrastructure and the 
Applicant proposes to use the same system at the gaming establishment. 
They have also provided a standard organization chart for their IT 
Department that includes 11 positions. 

Given the Applicant’s experience in developing security plans at other 
gaming establishments and the ongoing review of these plans by 
Commission staff to insure compliance with state and local codes and 
regulations, the responses are sufficient. 

Permitting including 
ENF, EIR, Local 
Permits, and Zoning 

The permitting process for the gaming establishment is straightforward. 
Once the MEPA process is complete, the only significant state permit is 
from Mass DOT for the roadway improvements.  A s noted, the 
MassDOT is already committed to a significant upgrade of much of 



 

23 
 

Belmont Street between the Route 24 i nterchange and the gaming 
establishment site.  T he local process includes site plan review by the 
Planning Board and a stormwater permit from the DPW. The project is 
permitted by-right under the Brockton Zoning By-Laws. 

In terms of schedule, the critical path runs through completion of the 
MEPA process, the MassDOT permit and the time needed to complete 
off-site roadway construction. The schedule called for an opening in June 
2019, with the possibility of an earlier opening at the end of 2018, if the 
permitting process were accelerated. 

Other The Applicant had a limited, general response to the potential alternative 
use of the facility and has provided adequate documentation regarding 
ownership of the proposed gaming facility land. 

 
 

E. Mitigation 
 

Overall, Applicant’s proposal in the mitigation category is rated as sufficient.  
 
The Applicant has executed a Host Community Agreement and associated mitigation documents 
with the City of Brockton.  A certified election in Brockton was held in May 2015 that approved 
the gaming establishment project, albeit by a small majority; 50.5% in favor and 49.5% opposed 
(7173 yes, 7025 no, 1 blank). The Applicant will provide the City 18.5 million dollars before the 
gaming establishment opens for infrastructure improvements and other city costs. After opening, 
annual payments will be at least 10.3 million dollars, or more depending on the gaming revenues. 
This will be reduced to a minimum of 7 million dollars if a tribal casino is built in the region.  
 

The Applicant executed Surrounding Community Agreements with all nine designated 
communities (Abington, Avon, Easton, East Bridgewater, Holbrook, Pembroke, Stoughton, West 
Bridgewater and Whitman) as well as Impacted Live Entertainment Agreements (ILEA) with 
Brockton 21st Century, which owns Campanelli Stadium and Shaw’s Center. 

The site plan provides for adequate access and egress to the proposed gaming establishment and 
hotel for cars, buses and taxis. There is also an appropriate distinction between patron and 
employee access/egress. 

The adequacy of the existing transportation network was evaluated using acceptable procedures 
including baseline and projected traffic volumes, trip generation rates and modeling. For the area 
intersections studied, a reasonable package of mitigation measures was proposed. This primarily 
includes roadway and traffic signal improvements to Forest Avenue and West Street for an 
estimated total cost of $10.2M. In addition, MassDOT is planning on upg rading Route 123 
(Belmont Street) from Route 24 to West Street, the main access to the gaming establishment. 
The first two Phases of the DOT work on B elmont Street would be completed before the 
proposed gaming establishment would have opened. 

The following further traffic mitigation would have required evaluation as part of the MEPA 
process: 

1. Safety mitigation at the Route 27/West Street intersection.  



 

24 
 

2. Mitigation for the Belmont Street/Kenelworth Avenue intersection. 
3. Reevaluation of the proposed realignment of West Street in front of the gaming 

establishment with respect to the Belmont Street intersection.  

In terms of transit, the Applicant  was considering shuttle bus service, including connections to 
the Brockton Area Transit Authority (BAT) downtown station and integrating a gaming 
establishment bus stop with existing bus routes. Minimum mitigation would have likely required 
inclusion of a local bus stop at the gaming establishment and an evaluation of the viability of a 
shuttle service from the Brockton MBTA Station to the gaming establishment.  
The payments by the Applicant to the City as itemized in the Host Community Agreement and 
the Mitigation Agreement were deemed sufficient to mitigate potential impacts to housing, 
schools and public safety (police and fire). 

The Applicant’s response to the Mitigation questions concerning responsible gambling practices 
and policies generally expressed a willingness to conform to the tactics described in the MGC 
Responsible Gaming Framework (RGF).   

Though no a greement had been reached between the Applicant and the Massachusetts State 
Lottery (“Lottery”), the Applicant demonstrated that it understood the need to reach an 
agreement with the Lottery and identified strategies from other states to incorporate into such an 
agreement. For example, the Applicant suggested several strategies to promote the lottery 
including point of purchase, direct mailing, promotional giveaways and social media 
marking.  See G.L. c.23K, §18(1). 
 
This category was evaluated in a number of criteria as follows: 

 
SUMMARY OF EVALUATION BY CRITERIA 
Criterion Findings 
Community Support The Applicant executed a Host Community Agreement and associated 

mitigation documents with the City of Brockton. A certified election in 
Brockton was held in May 2015 in which a vote in favor of the gaming 
establishment project was tallied, albeit by a small majority; 50.5% in 
favor and 49.5% opposed.  By this measure, then, the public support for 
this proposal was not overwhelming and the opposition was significant.  
However, most area public officials spoke and commented in favor of 
the proposed project; in the case of Mayor Bill Carpenter, support for 
the proposal was strong, and accordingly noteworthy.  See G.L. c. 23K, 
§18(19).    
 
The Applicant agreed to provide the City $18.5 million before the 
gaming establishment opened for infrastructure improvements and other 
city costs. After opening, the Applicant agreed to make annual 
payments of at least $10.3 million or more depending on t he gaming 
revenues. This amount was to be reduced to a minimum of $7 million if 
a tribal casino was built in the region.  
 
The Applicant executed Surrounding Community Agreements with all 



 

25 
 

nine designated communities (Abington, Avon, Easton, East 
Bridgewater, Holbrook, Pembroke, Stoughton, West Bridgewater and 
Whitman). These Agreements are similar in format and include 
payments for consultant and legal costs, a one-time Community Impact 
Fee paid before the gaming establishment opens and an Annual 
Community Impact Fee.  T wo communities (Easton and East 
Bridgewater) required arbitration to reach an Agreement.  Accordingly, 
the contents of Application, including the applicable attestations 
provided in Section B of the RFA-2 Application, demonstrate that G.L. 
c.23K, §§15 ( 7) and (8) have been satisfied, and that measures have 
been put in place to “mitigat[e] potential impacts on host and 
surrounding communities which might result from the development or 
operation of the gaming establishment . . . .” G.L. c. 23K, §18(14). 
 
An agreement was executed between the Applicant and Brockton 21st 
Century, which owns Campanelli Stadium and Shaw’s Center, pledging 
to discuss joint marketing opportunities. The Applicant provided 
examples of similar agreements at their other casino locations and 
demonstrated an awareness of the importance of having good relations 
with local venues. The Applicant was not able to reach an agreement 
with the Massachusetts Performing Arts Coalition (MPAC). 

Mitigate traffic and 
Offsite Impacts 

The site plan provides for adequate access and egress to the gaming 
establishment and hotel for cars, buses and taxis. There is also an 
appropriate distinction between patron and employee access/egress.  
The adequacy of the existing transportation network was evaluated 
using acceptable procedures including baseline and projected traffic 
volumes, trip generation rates and modeling.  For the area intersections 
studied to date, a reasonable package of mitigation measures has been 
proposed. This primarily includes roadway and traffic signal 
improvements to Forest Avenue and West Street for an estimated total 
cost of $10.2M. In addition, MassDOT is planning on upgrading Route 
123 (Belmont Street) from Route 24 to West Street, the main access to 
the proposed gaming establishment. The first two Phases of the 
MassDOT work on B elmont Street would likely be completed before 
the gaming establishment opened. 
 
In terms of transit, the Applicant had shuttle bus service under 
consideration, including connections to the BAT downtown station and 
integrating a gaming establishment bus stop with existing bus 
routes. See G.L. c. 23K, §18(8). 
 
The payments by the Applicant to the City itemized in the Host 
Community Agreement and the Mitigation Agreement were deemed to 
be sufficient to mitigate potential impacts to housing, schools and public 
safety (police and fire). 



 

26 
 

Measures to Promote 
Responsible Gaming 
and Address Problem 
Gambling 

The Applicant’s response to the Mitigation questions concerning 
responsible gambling practices and policies generally expressed a 
willingness to conform to the tactics described in the Commission’s 
Responsible Gaming Framework (“RGF”).  Unfortunately, responses to 
subsection “a” from the series of questions (describing how the strategy 
will be implemented) often lacked detail and rather restated, sometimes 
verbatim, language within the RGF.   R esponses to subsection “b” of 
these questions (historical application of strategy) generally discussed 
compliance with Pennsylvania Gaming Control Board regulations. 
Those regulations have some overlap with Massachusetts, though are 
less comprehensive than measures described in the RGF.  The responses 
in total are viewed as sufficient, expressing willingness to conform with 
Commission expectations, but lacking detail, inventiveness, and 
initiative to flesh out responsible gaming practices in the Application. 
See G.L. c. 23K, §18(6).   
 

Protect and Enhance 
the Lottery 

No formal agreement with the Massachusetts State Lottery had been 
executed.  H owever, the Applicant demonstrated an understanding of 
the need to reach such an agreement, and identified strategies from other 
states to consider for incorporation.  Further, the Applicant formally 
agreed to be a licensed state lottery sales agent under G.L. c.10 to sell or  
operate  lo ttery,  mu lti-jurisdictional  a nd  ke no  games;  agreed to 
ensure that  the  lottery  and  keno games be readily accessible to the 
guests of the proposed gaming establishment, and agreed that, as  a 
condition of a gaming license, it would not create, promote, operate or 
sell  games  that  are  similar  to  or  in  direct  competition with games  
offered  b y  th e  s tate  lottery  c ommission,  i ncluding  th e  lo ttery  
instant  g ames  o r  its   lo tto style  games such  as keno or its multi-
jurisdictional games.  See G.L. c.23K, §§ 15(1) and 18(1). 

 
 

IV. Conclusion 
 
Having carefully reviewed and evaluated all of the materials submitted to the Commission as 
part of the RFA-1 and RFA-2 Application processes along with materials gathered by the 
Commission as part of the review process including information and comments submitted by the 
public, all as outlined above, the Commission finds that MG&E has met the standards of 
suitability required under G.L. c.23K, has “met the eligibility criteria” outlined in G.L. c.23K 
and 205 C MR, see G.L. c.23K, §19(a), necessary to be awarded a gaming license, and has 
demonstrated “the business practices and the business ability [] to establish and maintain a 
successful gaming establishment . . . .”   G.L. c. 23K, §12(a)(3).  As such, the Commission finds 
that the Applicant is a suitable and qualified applicant for a Category 1 gaming license.  T he 
Commission further acknowledges that the Applicant, through its affiliates, designed, 
constructed and operates high quality gaming establishments in Illinois and Pennsylvania.  The 
Commission also recognizes the challenges faced by the City of Brockton, and the benefits this 



 

27 
 

proposed project may have prospectively contributed towards alleviating some of those 
challenges and encouraging further economic development in Brockton.   
 
However, the Commission’s evaluation includes a multitude of factors in addition to the 
potential benefits that may be conferred on the host community.  It must look at the entire region 
and Commonwealth as a whole.  To that end, the Commission finds that the Applicant has not 
“provided convincing evidence that the applicant will provide value to [] region [C] and to the 
commonwealth . . . .”   G.L. c.23K, §19(a).  That is, the Applicant has failed to demonstrate that 
its proposed project would maximize revenue to the Commonwealth, see G.L. c.23K, §18(11), or 
that it would offer the highest and best value to create a secure and robust gaming market in 
Region C and the Commonwealth.  See G.L. c.23K, §18(13).  Ultimately, the Applicant did not 
articulate a clear vision nor provide any well-developed plans as to how it would achieve the 
same quality of results in Brockton as it has at its properties in other jurisdictions.  However, 
while the Commission has determined not to grant a License to the Applicant, this determination 
should not be viewed, as described above, as a reflection upon the Applicant’s suitability or the 
Applicant’s ability to design, construct, or operate a quality gaming establishment.  Accordingly, 
for all of the aforementioned reasons, the RFA-2 Application submitted by  Mass Gaming & 
Entertainment, LLC, by a vote of four (4) in favor of denial and one (1) opposed, is hereby 
DENIED. 
 
 
SO ORDERED. 
 
 
MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 
 
 
 
_________________________________________  
Stephen P. Crosby, Chairman 
 
 
_________________________________________ 
Enrique A. Zuniga, Commissioner 
 
 
_________________________________________  
Gayle Cameron, Commissioner 
 
 
_________________________________________ 
Bruce Stebbins, Commissioner 
 
 
_________________________________________ 
Lloyd Macdonald, Commissioner   (opposed) 



 

28 
 

 
 
 
DATED:  June xx, 2016 
 
 







 

1 
 

 
205 CMR:  MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 

205 CMR 138.00: UNIFORM STANDARDS OF ACCOUNTING PROCEDURES AND 
INTERNAL CONTROLS 

 
138.63: Slot Machines and Bill Changers other Electronic Gaming Devices; Authorized 
Locations; Movements 
 
The system of internal controls submitted by a gaming licensee in accordance with 205 CMR 
138.02 shall include provisions governing the movement and placement of slot machines and bill 
changers electronic gaming devices that, at a minimum, comport with 205 CMR 
145.00: Possession of Slot Machines and Electronic Gaming Devices.  Such provisions shall at a 
minimum ensure that: 

(1) All drop boxes, bill validator stackers, ticket vouchers, printer paper, tokens and revenue 
are removed from an electronic gaming device prior to removal from the gaming area; 
and  

(2) All security locks and slot seals affixed pursuant to 205 CMR 144.03(2)(b) are removed 
from an electronic gaming device in a secure location within the gaming establishment 
prior to shipment from the gaming establishment. 

  



 

2 
 

205 CMR:  MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 
205 CMR 144.00: APPROVAL OF SLOT MACHINES AND OTHER ELECTRONIC 

GAMING EQUIPMENT DEVICES AND TESTING LABORATORIES 
 
 
144.01: Required Permits and Registration Delivery and Installation of Slot Machines, Electronic 
Gaming Devices, and Software 
 
(1) No new or modified electronic gaming device listed in 205 CMR 144.01(2) shall be: 
 

(a) sold delivered to a gaming licensee by a gaming vendor unless a prototype of the gaming 
device has received a permit from the commission been certified in accordance with 205 
CMR 144.0204 and notice provided in accordance with 205 CMR 144.02; or 

(b) installed, modified, operated, or moved by a gaming licensee in a gaming establishment 
unless the gaming device is registered with the commission in accordance with 205 
CMR 144.03  notice has been provided and approval received in accordance with 205 
CMR 144.03. 

 
(2) The following shall be considered electronic gaming devices require permitting and 
registration by the commission for purposes of 205 CMR 144.00: 
 

(a) Slot machines; 
(b) Electronic table games; 
(c) Kiosks; 
(d) Wireless wagering devices; 
(e) Slot machine games; 
(f) Multiplayer systems; 
(g) Server supported slot systems; 
(h) Slot machine bonus systems; 
(i) Table game bonus systems; 
(j) Progressive systems; 
(k) Account based wagering systems; 
(l) Slot monitoring systems and casino management systems; 
(m) Gaming voucher systems; 
(n) Devices used in conjunction with a slot monitoring system or casino management 

system, unless the devices provide read-only functionality; 
(o) Devices used in conjunction with electronic gaming devices such as bill acceptors 

validators, printers, and coin acceptors that are not integrated into and tested as part of 
another gaming device; and 

(p) Software required to be tested in accordance with the GLI standards as adopted and 
modified by 205 CMR 143.00.   

 
(3)   For purposes of 205 CMR 144.00, a ‘prototype’ shall mean an electronic gaming device 
which consists of an individual component or collection of components assembled together to 
comprise a single electronic gaming device (e.g.- a unique model of a slot machine cabinet, 
electronic table game, or casino management system). 



 

3 
 

144.02: Permitting Delivery of Electronic Gaming Devices to a Gaming Licensee Prototypes 
 
(1) In order to receive a permit for an electronic gaming device to be approved for use in a 

gaming establishment, a gaming vendor, at its own expense, must submit the electronic 
gaming device for scientific testing and technical evaluation in accordance with 205 CMR 
144.04 by a commission certified independent testing laboratory certified pursuant to 205 
CMR 144.06 to determine compliance with M.G.L. c. 23K and 205 CMR 143.00: Gaming 
Devices and Electronic Gaming Equipment. The gaming vendor must provide the certified 
independent testing laboratory with all documentation and other materials necessary to 
conduct testing and evaluate compliance.  The gaming vendor shall provide notice of 
submission of a new prototype for testing to the commission’s gaming technology laboratory 
contemporaneously with submission to the independent testing laboratory. 

(2) Upon completion of testing certification of a prototype of an electronic gaming device by a 
certified independent testing laboratory, a gaming vendor may submit an application for 
permitting of deliver the electronic gaming device to the commission's gaming technology 
laboratory gaming licensee after providing notice to the commission, as directed, in 
accordance with 205 CMR 145.02(2).  Upon receipt of the notice, the commission may deny 
entry of any electronic gaming device it determines may not be compatible with the 
commission’s central monitoring system or for any reason necessary to protect the integrity 
of gaming in the Commonwealth.  The commission may reject any gaming device permit 
application that is deemed administratively incomplete. The application for a gaming device 
permit shall be in the form prescribed by the commission and contain: 

 
(a) the gaming vendor's name; 
(b) the gaming vendor's license number pursuant to 205 CMR 134.00: Licensing and 

Registration of Employees, Vendors, Junket Enterprises and Representatives, and Labor 
Organizations; 

(c) a unique name and version number for the gaming device for which the registration is 
sought; 

(d) a copy of the commission certified independent testing laboratory report for the gaming 
device in accordance with 205 CMR 144.04; 

(e) a list of all jurisdictions, at the time of gaming device permit submission, in which the 
gaming device has been granted or denied licensure registration or similar approval; and 

(f) the application fee in accordance with 205 CMR 144.05. 
Provided, prior to delivery of any such electronic gaming device into the Commonwealth the 
gaming vendor and electronic gaming device shall be in compliance with 15 U.S.C. 1173. 

 
(3) Upon receipt submission of the electronic gaming device permit application prototype for 

testing to a certified independent testing laboratory in accordance with 205 CMR 144.02(1) 
and 144.04, the commission's gaming technology lab may require that the gaming vendor 
provide to the commission's gaming technology lab, at the gaming vendor's expense, a 
functioning prototype of the electronic gaming device as well as all software, documentation 
and other materials necessary to conduct testing and evaluate compliance.  The commission’s 
gaming technology lab may conduct any testing of the electronic gaming device it desires 
and require any further subsequent action.  



 

4 
 

(4) The gaming vendor shall promptly notify the commission of any negative action taken in 
another jurisdiction or if it becomes aware of an issue that may negatively impact the 
reporting of revenue, game outcome, or the integrity of a device that has been submitted to 
the commission for permitting or has been permitted delivered to a gaming licensee. 

(5) Prior to issuing a permit and after completing a review of a proposed gaming device that has 
not been available for public use in other jurisdictions for at least 45 days, the commission 
may require a trial period of up to 45 days to test the gaming device in a gaming 
establishment During the trial period, minor changes in the operation or design of the gaming 
device may be made with prior approval of the commission. 

(6) Upon reviewing a gaming device permit application and conducting any additional testing or 
trials that the commission requires, the commission shall issue a gaming device permit if the 
device meets the requirements of 205 CMR 144.02(7). If a gaming device does not meet the 
requirements of 205 CMR 144.02(7), the commission may deny the permit or issue the 
permit subject to conditions necessary for the gaming device to meet the requirements of 205 
CMR 144.02(7). If the commission denies or conditions the gaming device permit, the 
commission shall provide a written notification containing the reason for the denial or 
condition. The gaming device permit shall not expire, but shall be subject to any future 
conditions imposed in accordance with 205 CMR 144.02(8). 

(7) Prior to permitting, a gaming device must: 
 

(a) meet the applicable requirements of M.G.L. c. 23K and 205 CMR 143.00: Gaming 
Devices and Electronic Gaming Equipment; and 

(b) not endanger, compromise, or weaken the credibility or integrity of gaming in the 
Commonwealth. 

 
(8) The commission, or its designee, may add, modify or remove conditions following the 

initial permitting of a gaming device as necessary to ensure the integrity of the gaming 
device or the effective administration of 205 CMR. 

(9) A gaming vendor may appeal a permit denial, permit revocation, or imposition of any 
condition on a permit by filing a petition on a form prescribed by the commission. Upon 
receipt of a petition, the gaming technology lab shall schedule a hearing to be conducted 
in accordance with 205 CMR 144.02(10) and provide the gaming vendor with reasonable 
notice containing the date, time, and location of the hearing.   

(10) Hearings convened pursuant to 205 CMR 144.02(9) shall be conducted in 
accordance with 801 CMR 1.02: Informal/Fair Hearing Rules and M.G.L. c. 30A. Given 
the sensitive nature of gaming device operations, the hearing will not be open to the 
public. Any party may be represented by legal counsel. All parties shall be permitted to 
present an opening statement, testify on their own behalf, cross-examine all witnesses, 
present any relevant witness testimony, present any relevant documentary evidence, and 
offer a closing argument. The gaming technology lab may question any witness and 
include any records kept by the commission as exhibits. The commission's executive 
director shall designate a hearing officer to preside over the hearing.  The decision of the 
hearing officer will be final. Any person aggrieved by a decision of the hearings officer 
may appeal such decision in conformance with M.G.L. c. 30A, § 14. 

 
 



 

5 
 

144.03: Registration Installation and approval for use of an Electronic Gaming Device Inventory 
(1) (a)In order to register a No electronic gaming device for use in a gaming establishment, shall 

be installed or operated in a gaming establishment, nor shall a previously approved electronic 
gaming device be modified or moved from a previously approved location, unless a gaming 
licensee must first submits a request for approval gaming device registration application with 
to the commission's gaming technology laboratory, as directed, at least 5 days prior to the 
anticipated installation, operation, modification, or movement date and such request is 
approved. The commission may reject any gaming device registration application that is 
deemed administratively incomplete. The commission, or its designee, may approve such 
request on shorter notice in exceptional circumstances.  The application for request for 
approval a gaming device registration shall be in the form prescribed by the commission. and 
contain, at a minimum:   
(a) the gaming licensee's name; 
(b) the gaming device number issued by the commission for the permitted prototype on 

which the gaming device is based; 
(c) in the case of a physical gaming device, the unique serial number and the date of 

manufacture for each copy of the gaming device that the gaming licensee intends to use 
in the gaming establishment; 

(d) in the case of a software gaming device, the maximum number of instances of the 
software that the gaming licensee intends to use at any one time in the gaming 
establishment; 

 
(b) For purposes of 205 CMR 144.03, modified or modification means a change or alteration 
to a prototype of an electronic gaming device’s software and/or hardware previously 
approved by the commission for installation or operation in Massachusetts (e.g.- change to 
control programs, change to the theoretical payout percentage, change of denomination, or a 
change to the hash signature). Modified or modification does not include replacement of one 
previously approved component with another previously approved component. 

 
(2)  

(a) Upon reviewing receipt of a request for approval for installation, operation, or 
modification of an electronic gaming device registration application, the commission 
shall register the gaming device if the gaming device registration application is in 
compliance with the requirements and conditions of the gaming device permit on which 
the device is based validate and process the information provided in accordance with 205 
CMR 144.03(1) relative to each electronic gaming device.  Validation shall be 
conducted in accordance with 205 CMR 144.03(3).  Upon validation, the commission’s 
network operations center shall notify the gaming licensee of its assent to approval and 
shall assign the device a unique identification number.  The gaming device registration 
approval shall not expire, but shall be subject to revocation and any future conditions 
imposed in accordance with 205 CMR 144.03(4).  An electronic gaming device that does 
not comport with 205 CMR 144.03(3)(a) through (d) and cannot be validated shall be 
denied approval.  Such a denial may be appealed in accordance with 205 CMR 
144.03(5).   

(b) Upon receipt of the assent to approval in accordance with 205 CMR 144.03(2)(a) the 
gaming licensee shall notify the IEB and coordinate a final inspection of the device in its 



 

6 
 

intended location within the gaming area prior to operation.  The inspection of a device 
shall be performed by a gaming agent and shall at a minimum include, as applicable, 
verification of the software configuration settings, confirmation of proper surveillance 
coverage, and any necessary connectivity and operability testing.  Upon satisfactory 
inspection of a new slot machine by the IEB, a gaming agent shall place a seal on the 
slot machine indicating approval.  

(c) Upon satisfactory completion of its inspection, the IEB shall indicate in the 
commission’s records that the device is ‘Approved for Use’, and the device may be 
placed into operation by the gaming licensee.  Operation of an electronic gaming device 
by a gaming licensee prior to being “Approved for Use’ in accordance with 205 CMR 
144.03(2)(c), or after revocation of such approval in accordance with 205 CMR 
144.03(4), may result in the device being ordered out of operation and disciplinary 
measures, including a fine, being assessed  upon the gaming licensee and any 
responsible party.    

(3) A registered In order for an electronic gaming device to be validated as required in 
accordance with 205 CMR 144.03(2)(a), all information provided in accordance with 205 
CMR 144.03(1) must be provided, and each individual electronic gaming device, including 
the game critical content, must: 
(a) be identical in all material mechanical, electrical, electronic or other material aspects to 

the prototype permitted certified in accordance with 205 CMR 144.0204 on which the 
electronic gaming device is based; 

(b) comply with any conditions placed upon of the permitted prototype on which the 
certification of the electronic gaming device is based; and 

(c) not endanger, compromise, or weaken the credibility or integrity of gaming in the 
Commonwealth.; and  

(d) where applicable, be interoperable with the commission’s central monitoring system.  
Where an electronic gaming device is not interoperable with the commission’s central 
monitoring system, the commission reserves the right to inspect/validate the device prior 
to operation. 

 
An electronic gaming device that the commission determines does not comport with 205 
CMR 144.03(3)(a) through (d) may be deemed a new gaming device requiring completion 
of a full certification procedure in accordance with 205 CMR 144.02. 

 
(4) The gaming licensee must ensure that the registered approved electronic gaming device is 

and remains in compliance with 205 CMR 144.03(3) at all times. The commission may at 
any time inspect any registered approved electronic gaming device and revoke or condition 
the registration approval if that device fails to comply with 205 CMR 144.03(3), 205 CMR 
143.00: Gaming Devices and Electronic Gaming Equipment, or in any way fails to operate in 
the manner for which it was approved. Prior to revoking or conditioning the registration 
approval of an electronic gaming device currently in use in a gaming establishment the 
commission shall, when possible, allow the gaming licensee a reasonable amount of time to 
bring the device into compliance. 

(5) A gaming licensee may appeal a registration denial, registration revocation, or imposition of 
any condition on registration an approval or ‘Approval for Use’ by filing a petition on a form 
prescribed by the commission. Upon receipt of a petition, the gaming technology lab shall 



 

7 
 

schedule a hearing to be conducted in accordance with 205 CMR 144.03(6) and provide the 
gaming licensee with reasonable notice containing the date, time, and location of the hearing. 

(6) Hearings convened pursuant to 205 CMR 144.03(5) shall be conducted in accordance with 
801 CMR 1.02: Informal/Fair Hearing Rules and M.G.L. c. 30A. Given the sensitive nature 
of electronic gaming device operations, the hearing will not be open to the public. Any party 
may be represented by legal counsel. All parties shall be permitted to present an opening 
statement, testify on their own behalf, cross-examine all witnesses, present any relevant 
witness testimony, present any relevant documentary evidence, and offer a closing argument. 
The gaming technology lab may question any witness and include any records kept by the 
commission as exhibits. The commission's executive director shall designate a hearing 
officer to preside over the hearing. The decision of the hearing officer will be final. Any 
person aggrieved by a decision of the hearings officer may appeal such decision in 
conformance with M.G.L. c. 30A, § 14. 

(7) A gaming licensee shall inform the commission's gaming technology laboratory and the IEB 
of any registered approved electronic gaming device that the gaming licensee no longer 
possesses no later than the second Monday of the month following termination of possession 
by indicating such on the Slot Machine Master List provided in accordance with 205 CMR 
145.01(2).   

(8) Prior to issuing an approval or “Approval for Use” of an electronic gaming device the 
commission may require a trial period of a length to be established on a case by case basis to 
test the gaming device in a gaming establishment to determine whether it complies with 205 
CMR 144.03(3).  During the trial period, minor changes in the operation or design of the 
electronic gaming device may be made with prior approval of the commission.   

(9) Subsequent to an electronic gaming device being deemed ‘Approved for Use’ in the gaming 
area pursuant to 205 CMR 144.03(2)(c), an electronic gaming device may only be moved or 
modified in accordance with the gaming licensee’s approved system of internal controls 
submitted in accordance with 205 CMR 138.63 which shall incorporate the notice and 
approval provisions contained in 205 CMR 144.03.   

 
144.04: Required Testing by Independent Testing Laboratories 
(1) Any testing by a commission certified independent testing laboratory for the purposes 

of permitting certifying an electronic gaming device shall be conducted in compliance with 
M.G.L. c. 23K and 205 CMR 143.00: Gaming Devices and Electronic Gaming Equipment 
and 144.00. 

(2) The independent testing laboratory shall issue a report of the testing results to the gaming 
vendor and to the commission pursuant to 205 CMR 145.02(2). Such report shall contain: 
(a) the part and version numbers of the electronic gaming device tested; 
(b) attachments containing documents sufficient to describe the functionality and operation 

of all material components of the electronic gaming device; 
(c) a description of all tests conducted and the results of such tests; 
(d) a statement as to whether each of the components within the electronic gaming device, 

each interaction between components, and the device as a whole is compliant with the 
latest version of M.G.L. c. 23K and 205 CMR 143.00: Gaming Devices and Electronic 
Gaming Equipment as of the start date of testing; 

(e) the date the electronic gaming device was submitted for testing; 
(f) the start and end dates of the electronic gaming device testing; 



 

8 
 

(g) the location of the facility used to perform the testing; and 
(h) a statement, signed under penalty of perjury, that all information provided in the report is 

accurate and complete. 
(3) The independent testing laboratory's report shall not contain any information in its body that 

if publically released may harm the integrity of the electronic gaming device, but such 
information may be disclosed in an attachment. 

(4) The independent testing laboratory may communicate with the applicant  gaming vendor to 
request additional documentation or to discuss potentially non-compliant components. The 
independent testing laboratory shall log any communication between itself and the applicant 
and be able to provide to the commission copies of all documents transmitted to or from the 
applicant for at least seven years following the issuance of the report. 

(5) The independent testing laboratory may rely on testing conducted and data collected from 
testing conducted for another jurisdiction, whether by the independent testing laboratory or 
by another entity, if the testing was performed by an independent party with no apparent 
interest in the result. An independent testing laboratory relying on such external testing or 
data must clearly identify in its report all such reliance and independently verify the validity 
of such data or testing by making a finding that the methods described in the earlier test are 
reliable and there is no indication that the data are incorrect. 

(6) An independent testing laboratory may rely on any data or results of testing conducted by a 
commission certified independent testing laboratory when such testing was conducted for 
purposes of permitting an electronic gaming device in the Commonwealth. Any reliance 
pursuant to 205 CMR 144.04(5) or (6) must be clearly identified in the report. 
 

144.05: Fees for Testing. Permitting, and Registration of Gaming Devices 
(1) A gaming vendor seeking a gaming device permit shall remit appropriate fees to the 

commission along with or prior to the gaming device permit application. The application fee 
for submitting a new gaming device for permitting or for modification of a currently 
permitted gaming device is $500. If the Commission's costs for testing, in accordance with 
the fee schedule posted by the Commission to its website, exceed the initial application fee, 
the gaming vendor shall pay the additional amount within 30 days after notification of 
insufficient fees or the application shall be rejected.  The commission may assess a fee to a 
gaming vendor representing the cost associated with the testing of any electronic gaming 
device by the commission’s gaming technology lab in accordance with 205 CMR 144.02(3). 

(2) A gaming vendor requesting that a commission certified independent testing laboratory 
conduct testing shall pay all costs of the testing directly to the independent testing laboratory. 

(3) There is no fee for registering a gaming device based on a permitted prototype of the same 
device. 
 

144.06: Independent Testing Laboratory Certification and Auditing 
(1) Certification Process. In order to provide testing services of electronic gaming devices in 

Massachusetts, a person must be certified as an independent testing laboratory in accordance 
with 205 CMR 144.06. The certification process will take place as follows: 
(a) The commission may issue yearly a request for applications from applicants interested in 

being certified as independent testing laboratories. 
(b) Upon receipt of an application in the form prescribed in 205 CMR 144.06(5) the gaming 

technology laboratory and the bureau shall conduct any investigation they deem 



 

9 
 

reasonable, including any visit, review or inspection of each independent testing 
laboratory seeking certification to evaluate the laboratory's qualifications and capabilities 
pursuant to 205 CMR 144.06(3). 

(c) The applicant is required to submit a $5,000 application fee with its application for 
certification. If the Commission's costs associated with the investigation, including site 
visits, inspections, and background investigations, of the applicant during the 
certification evaluation period, in accordance with the fee schedule posted by the 
Commission to its website, exceed the application fee, the applicant shall pay the 
additional amount within 30 days after notification of insufficient fees or the application 
shall be rejected. 

(d) Upon the conclusion of evaluation and upon full payment of any costs associated with 
the certification process, the gaming technology laboratory, with the input of the bureau, 
shall issue a written report to the commission and to the applicant. The commission shall 
determine whether to initiate a process for a public hearing or adjudicatory proceeding. 
However, the commission may only utilize the public hearing process with the 
applicant's consent. 

(e) If the commission determines that an adjudicatory proceeding will be held, the 
commission shall conduct an adjudicatory proceeding in accordance with 801 CMR 
1.02: Informal/Fair Hearing Rules and M.G.L. c. 30A on the gaming technology 
laboratory's report under 205 CMR 144.06(1)(d) concerning the applicant. Any party 
may be represented by legal counsel. All parties shall be permitted to present an opening 
statement, testify on their own behalf, cross-examine all witnesses, present any relevant 
witness testimony, present any relevant documentary evidence, and offer a closing 
argument. The commission will issue a public notice in advance of the adjudicatory 
proceeding stating the date, time and place of the hearing. The commission shall issue a 
final decision granting or denying the certification within 30 days of the hearing. 

(f) If the commission determines that a public hearing should be held, the commission shall 
review the gaming technology laboratory's report and make a final decision granting or 
denying the certification at a public hearing. The commission will issue a notice in 
advance of the public hearing stating the date, time and place of the hearing. 

(g) Certification as an independent testing lab shall be valid for one year and shall 
automatically renew annually thereafter upon payment of a renewal and audit fee of 
$2,000. The commission may audit the compliance of the certified independent testing 
laboratory with commission requirements annually or more often if needed. The 
commission may revoke the registration of a certified independent testing laboratory if 
the testing laboratory no longer meets the requirements of M.G.L. c. 23K and 205 CMR. 

(h) The commission shall maintain a list of certified independent testing laboratories along 
with the categories of electronic gaming device that each independent testing laboratory 
may test. 

(2) Categories of Certification. Each independent testing laboratory must be certified for each 
category of testing for which the laboratory seeks to provide results. The categories of testing 
include: 
(a) Electronic gGames and game variations; 
(b) Electronic gGaming devices and gaming device modifications; 
(c) Gaming associated equipment and gaming associated equipment modifications; 
(d) Cashless wagering systems and cashless wagering system modifications; 



 

10 
 

(e) Inter-casino linked systems and inter-casino linked system modifications; 
(f) Mobile gaming systems and mobile gaming system modifications; 
(g) Interactive gaming systems and interactive gaming system modifications; and 
(h) Any other category of testing that the commission may deem appropriate. 

 
(3) Standards for Certification. To qualify for certification, the independent testing laboratory, 

must: 
(a) Be independent pursuant to 205 CMR 144.06(4); 
(b) Be accredited in accordance with ISO/IEC 17025 by an accreditation body that is a 

signatory to the International Laboratory Accreditation Cooperation Mutual Recognition 
Agreement; 

(c) Demonstrate suitability in accordance with M.G.L. c. 23K, §§ 12 and 16 by clear and 
convincing evidence after considering reciprocity from other jurisdictions; 

(d) Demonstrate that it is technically competent in testing the category of game, device, or 
system in which it is seeking certification; and 

(e) Demonstrate that it is technically competent to test compliance with the applicable 
Massachusetts statutes, regulations, standards and policies. 

(4) Independence.  An independent testing laboratory must be independent at all times while 
certified by the commission. 
(a) To be considered independent from a manufacturer, distributor, or operator pursuant to 

205 CMR 144.06(3)(a), the independent testing laboratory, including its employees, 
management, directors, owners, compliance committee members and gaming regulatory 
advisors, with the exception of the independent testing laboratory's external accountants 
and attorneys: 

(1) Must not have a financial or other interest, direct or otherwise, in a manufacturer, 
distributor, or operator of any game, electronic gaming device, associated 
equipment, cashless wagering system, inter-casino linked system, mobile gaming 
system or interactive gaming system, or any component thereof or modification 
thereto, regardless of whether or not the person or entity is licensed, registered, or 
otherwise does business in Massachusetts; 

(2) Must not participate, consult, or otherwise be involved in the design, development, 
programming, or manufacture of any game, electronic gaming device, associated 
equipment, cashless wagering system, inter-casino linked system, mobile gaming 
system or interactive gaming system, or any component thereof or modification 
thereto; 

(3) Must not have any other interest in or involvement with a manufacturer, 
distributor, or operator that could cause the independent testing laboratory to act in 
a manner that is not impartial; and 

(4) Such individuals shall not serve in any capacity with a manufacturer, distributor, 
or operator beyond the scope of the independent testing laboratory's engagement 
pursuant to these regulations. 

(b) The restrictions in 205 CMR 144.06(4)(a) shall not be interpreted to limit an 
independent testing laboratory, or the above listed individuals, from providing 
consulting services to a manufacturer, distributor, or operator, provided that such 
services do not directly or indirectly indicate, suggest, or imply how to design, develop, 
program or manufacture a game, electronic gaming device, associated equipment, 



 

11 
 

cashless wagering system, inter-casino linked system, mobile gaming system or 
interactive gaming system, or any components thereof or modification thereto. 

(c) The restrictions in 205 CMR 144.06(4)(a) shall not be interpreted to limit its ability to 
accept fees from a gaming device vendor in accordance with 205 CMR 144.05. 
 

(5) Form of Application. An application for certification as an independent testing laboratory 
shall be in the form prescribed by the commission and contain: 
(a) The required application fee pursuant to 205 CMR 144.06(1)(c); 
(b) A completed business entity disclosure form as set forth in 205 CMR 134.07(6): 

Business Entity Disclosure Form - Gaming Vendor - Primary for the applicant entity; 
(c) Completed multi-jurisdictional personal history disclosure forms as set forth in 205 

CMR 134.07(1): Multijurisdictional Personal History Disclosure Form for Key Gaming 
Employees- Executive and Gaming Vendor Qualifiers for each person who would be a 
gaming vendor qualifier pursuant to 205 CMR 134.04(4): Gaming Vendor Qualifier if 
the applicant were a gaming vendor; 

(d) Copies of all ISO/IEC 17025 certification and accreditation materials except if the 
independent testing laboratory is only seeking registration for the testing of games and 
game variations; 

(e) All ISO required internal controls, policies and procedures, except if the independent 
laboratory is only seeking registration for the testing of games and game variations; 

(f) Detailed description of the testing facilities; 
(g) Detailed description of available testing staff and staff qualifications, including 

education, training, experience and skill levels; 
(h) Detailed description of available testing equipment; 
(i) Copies of documented policies, systems, programs, procedures and instructions to assure 

the quality of test results; 
(j) Copies of all test scripts to be used for testing against the applicable Massachusetts 

statutes, regulations, standards, and policies. 
(k) A statement subscribed by the applicant that: 

(1) The information being provided to the commission is accurate and complete; 
(2) The applicant agrees to cooperate with all requests, inquiries, or investigations of 

the commission; 
(3) The applicant acknowledges that the commission shall retain jurisdiction over the 

independent testing laboratory in any matter involving an electronic gaming 
device; 

(4) The applicant acknowledges that it will comply with M.G.L. c. 23K, § 13(b) and 
(c) and update the commission in accordance with 205 CMR 144.06(6); 

(5) The applicant agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts and the commission, and each of their members, agents, and 
employees in their individual and representative capacities against any and all 
claims, suits and actions, brought against the persons named in 205 CMR 
144.06(5)(k)5. by reason of any inspections or certifications performed by the 
applicant as a certified independent testing laboratory, and all other matters 
relating thereto, and against any and all expenses, damages, charges and costs, 
including court costs and attorney fees, which may be sustained by the persons and 
entities named in this subsection as a result of said claims, suits and actions; and 



 

12 
 

(l) any additional information that the commission may require. 
 

(6) Notification Requirements. Certified independent testing laboratories shall: 
(a) notify the commission of any change in ownership of the certified independent testing 

laboratory if it is privately held or any change in ownership resulting in shareholding of 
5% or more of the independent testing laboratory or any of its holding or intermediary 
companies; any change in directors, executives, or key management or employees of the 
independent testing laboratory, and any other material changes to the information 
included in its application for registration or the information submitted in conjunction 
with or subsequent to its application within 30 days of such change; 

(b) no later than by the 15th day of each January, inform the commission in writing of any 
changes to the information that was contained on the registered certified independent 
testing laboratory's application for registration certification or submitted in conjunction 
with or subsequent to its application or that no changes have occurred since the last 
reporting date; 

(c) maintain copies of the results of any ISO/IEC 17025 audits or reviews and notify the 
commission in writing of the of the availability of the results within 15 days of when 
they become available to the registered certified independent testing laboratory and 
provide copies to the commission upon request. 

(d) notify the commission immediately of any material issues concerning any electronic 
gaming device that it tested for use in Massachusetts; 

(e) notify the commission immediately of any attempts by a manufacturer, distributor, or 
operator to improperly influence the certified independent testing laboratory, or any of 
its employees, managers, or owners, in or in connection with any testing of electronic 
gaming devices for use in Massachusetts; and 

(f) timely provide the commission with such other information as the commission may 
request or require.  

(7) Continued Obligations. Certified independent testing laboratories shall abide by the 
following requirements while certified: 
(a) In the interest of preserving a competitive gaming industry, a certified independent 

testing laboratory shall not implement or maintain any procedure or policy or take any 
action that would inhibit or prevent a manufacturer, distributor or operator that has 
otherwise been deemed suitable for doing business in Massachusetts by the commission 
from submitting a game, gaming device, associated equipment, cashless wagering 
system, inter-casino linked system, mobile gaming system or interactive gaming system, 
or any component thereof or modification thereto, for testing for use in Massachusetts, 
or that would call into question or tend to erode the independence of the certified 
independent laboratory from any clients that utilize its services. 

(b) All testing shall be performed by a person directly employed by the certified 
independent testing laboratory. The certified independent testing laboratory shall not 
assign, delegate, subcontract, or otherwise engage any person not directly employed by 
the certified independent testing laboratory for any testing for which the laboratory has 
been certified. The certified independent testing laboratory shall provide the commission 
every six months, or upon request as the commission requires, with a list and description 
of all amounts paid by or invoiced to licensed gaming vendors for costs of electronic 
gaming device testing or otherwise. 



 

13 
 

(c) A certified independent testing laboratory shall implement and maintain a hiring and 
background check process, which shall be submitted to the commission and subject to 
the commission's approval, that ensures, at a minimum, that no person is hired in a 
position involving testing relating to Massachusetts, or in a position overseeing or 
managing an employee in such a position, who has: 

(1) been convicted of a felony or other crime involving embezzlement, theft, fraud or 
perjury; or 

(2) Had any gaming license, registration or other like credential revoked or committed 
any act which is a ground for the revocation of a gaming license, registration or 
other professional credential held by the person or would have been a ground for 
the revocation of a gaming license, registration or other professional credential had 
the person held such license, registration, or credential. 

(d) A certified independent testing laboratory shall handle all information and data prepared 
or obtained as part of the testing process as confidential. 

(e) A certified independent testing laboratory shall implement and maintain security and 
access control systems designed to secure and protect the confidentiality of all 
equipment, software, and other information entrusted to it as part of the testing process. 

(f) The commission may, as appropriate, periodically provide further guidance as to what is 
required of a certified independent testing laboratory through industry notices or other 
written communications. 

(g) If a certified independent testing laboratory hires an individual who was previously 
employed by, or performed any work for, a manufacturer, distributor or operator within 
one year prior to the individual's date of employment with the independent testing 
laboratory, the certified independent testing laboratory shall not permit that person to test 
any electronic gaming device for use in Massachusetts, for which the person had any 
involvement with, whatsoever, while he or she was employed by the manufacturer, 
distributor or operator for a period of one year from the individual's date of employment 
with the independent testing laboratory. 

  



 

14 
 

205 CMR:  MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 
205 CMR 145.00: POSSESSION OF SLOT MACHINES AND OTHER  

ELECTRONIC GAMING DEVICES 
 

145.01: Possession of Slot Machines and Other Electronic Gaming Devices 
 
*** 
(2) Each gaming licensee shall file, prior to the commencement of gaming and every thirty days 
thereafter with the commission a comprehensive lists of: 

(a) The slot machines and bill validators and/or bill changers not integrated into a slot 
machine in the gaming area (the “Slot Machine Master List”); 

(b) The slot machines possessed by the licensee in restricted areas outside the gaming area 
but on the premises of its gaming establishment; and 

(c) The slot machines possessed by the licensee at locations in the commonwealth but off the 
premises of its gaming establishment. 

 
(3) At a minimum, each list of slot machines required by 205 CMR 145.01(2) shall contain the 
following information, as applicable, for each slot machine and any accompanying bill validator 
and/or bill changer on the “Slot Machine Master List” in consecutive order by location number: 

(a) The date on which the list was prepared; 
(b) A description of each slot machine by: 

1. Slot machine model and serial number and registration unique identification  
number issued in accordance with 205 CMR 144.00: Approval of Slot Machines and 
Electronic Gaming Equipment and Testing Laboratories 144.03(2)(a); 
2. Computer program number; 
3. Denomination; 
4. Manufacturer and machine type; and 
5. Whether the slot machine has an electronic funds transfer (EFT) feature Any other 
information directed by the Commission. 

 
145.02:  Transportation of Slot Machines and Other Electronic Gaming Devices 

 
*** 
 

(2) Any person moving a slot machine or other electronic gaming device: 
(a) into the Commonwealth; 
(b) from one authorized location to another authorized location within the Commonwealth 
unless both locations are operated and controlled by the same gaming licensee; or 
(c) or out of the Commonwealth ;[insert space] 

 
shall first notify the commission at least 5 days in advance of the movement in writing that 
provides the following information: 



 

15 
 

1. The full name and address of the person shipping or moving the machine or 
device; 

2. The full name and address of the person who owns the machine or device, 
including the name of any new owner in the event ownership is being changed in 
conjunction with the shipment or movement; 

3. The method of shipment or movement and the name of the carrier or carriers; 
4. The full name and address of the person to whom the machine or device is being 

sent and the destination of the machine or device if different from such address; 
5. The quantity of machines or devices being shipped or moved and the 

manufacturer's serial number of each machine; 
6. The expected date and time of delivery to or removal from any authorized location 

in the Commonwealth; 
7. The port of entry, or exit, if any, of the machine if the origin or destination of the 

machine is outside the continental United States a copy of the certification report 
issued by the independent testing laboratory in accordance with 205 CMR 
144.04(2); and 

8. The reason for transporting the machine or device. 
 

(3) The person shipping or moving any slot machine or other electronic gaming device in 
accordance with 205 CMR 145.02 shall provide to the shipper a document, at least one copy of 
which shall be kept with the slot machine or other electronic gaming device at all times during 
the shipping process, that contains the following information, at a minimum: 

(a) The manufacturer's serial number of the slot machine or other electronic gaming device 
being transported; 
(b) The full name and address of the person from whom the machine or device was 
obtained; 
(c) The full name and address of the person to whom the machine or device is being sent; 
and 
(d) The dates of shipment. 

(4) Any person, company, or school receiving a slot machine shipment from outside of the 
Commonwealth shall, within three business days of receipt, provide the commission with the 
information enumerated in 205 CMR 145.02(2). 
(5) Any person moving a slot machine or other electronic gaming device: 

(a) within a gaming establishment; or 
(b) between two authorized locations within the Commonwealth if both locations are 
operated and controlled by the same gaming licensee; [insert space] 
shall file a request for approval pursuant to 205 CMR 144.03 and record such movement in a 
log maintained in accordance with the record retention requirements contained in 205 
CMR 135.00: Monitoring of Project Construction and Licensee Requirements138.09 and 
include the following: 

1. The manufacturer's serial number 
2. The casino operator's equipment number, if applicable; 
3. An indication as to whether the equipment is equipped for tokenization, and if so, 

the denomination; 
4. The date and time of movement of the equipment; 
5. The location from which the equipment was moved; 



 

16 
 

6. The location to which the equipment was moved; and 
7. The printed name(s) and signature(s) of the person(s) involved in moving the 

equipment 
 



Executive Summary of Changes for “GLI-11 V3.0, Gaming Devices” 
Public Comment Draft, Issued May 25, 2016 
 
 

Page 1 of 1 
052516 

Below is an Executive Summary of the proposed changes in “GLI-11 V3.0, Gaming Devices” 
public comment draft: 

• Re-titled document.  Reorganized and restructured document into more consumable 
chapters and sections, providing better distinction among the major technical areas of 
Machine, RNG, Game, and Accounting/Metering. 

• Added Glossary of Key Terms. 
• Incorporated requirements based upon industry best practices. 
• Added various content to Game Requirements based on alignment with other GLI 

Standards and current best practices. 
• Incorporated limited alignment with widely-accepted jurisdictional and international 

standards. 
• Added content for Double Up / Gamble feature per alignment with other accepted 

industry standards. 
• Revised RNG requirements to reflect ITL evaluation procedures and to add optional 

cryptographic RNG requirements. 
• Revised odds requirement for slot/chance games to reflect any explicitly advertised 

award, with revised odds of 1:100 million, similar to existing Nevada odds rule. 
• Revised 4% rule for coin-in metering to align with Nevada regulations. 
• Added content for Game Tokenization and Residual Credit Removal feature. 
• Revised Control Program layout to improve clarity and applicability of certain 

requirements. 
• Revised Error Condition layout and improved consistency of these requirements. 
• Delineated Significant Events more clearly based on industry norms. 
• Revised Game History Recall requirements to better reflect current industry norms. 
• Added content reflective of industry technology trends including: 

o Games with Skill 
o Modern Player Interaction Devices 
o Gaming Device Connections to the Internet 
o Persistence Games 
o Community Bonus Games 
o Player Identification Components 
o Charging Mechanisms for Gaming Devices 
o Alternate Game Modes 
o Virtual Event Wagering 

• Revised content for Tournament game play. 
• Added various notes to improve clarity of requirements, and to better document known 

conditions or restrictions. 
• Made various grammatical changes throughout the document to improve clarity and 

readability. 



 

 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

 
 

 
 
 
 

STANDARD SERIES 

 
 

GLI-11: 
 

Gaming Devices 
 

 
Public Comment Version: 3.0 

 
Public Comment Release Date: May 25, 2016 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank   



 

 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

 
ABOUT THIS STANDARD 
 
 
This technical standard has been produced by Gaming Laboratories International, LLC (GLI) 

for the purpose of providing independent certifications to suppliers under this standard and 

complies with the requirements set forth herein. 

 

A supplier is expected to submit equipment with a request that it be certified in accordance with 

this technical standard.  Upon completion of testing, GLI provides a certificate of compliance 

evidencing the certification of the gaming device to this standard. 

   



 

 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 
 
 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Table of Contents  Page 5 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

Table of Contents  
 
 

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION TO GAMING DEVICES ................................................................................ 7 
1.1 Introduction .............................................................................................................................................. 7 
1.2 Acknowledgment of Other Standards Reviewed ....................................................................................... 8 
1.3 Purpose of Technical Standard ................................................................................................................ 9 
1.4 Other Documents That May Apply ......................................................................................................... 10 
1.5 Definition of a Gaming Device ............................................................................................................... 11 

CHAPTER 2: MACHINE REQUIREMENTS .................................................................................................... 12 
2.1 Introduction to Machine Requirements .................................................................................................. 12 
2.2 Machine and Player Safety .................................................................................................................... 12 
2.3 Environmental Effects on Machine and Gaming Device Integrity ......................................................... 12 
2.4 Machine Identification ........................................................................................................................... 13 
2.5 Basic Machine Hardware Requirements ................................................................................................ 13 
2.6 Machine Electrical Power ...................................................................................................................... 15 
2.7 Machine Doors ....................................................................................................................................... 16 
2.8 Machine Logic Area ............................................................................................................................... 17 
2.9 Machine Program Storage Devices ....................................................................................................... 18 
2.10 Machine Critical Memory ...................................................................................................................... 21 
2.11 Monitoring of Critical NV Memory ........................................................................................................ 23 
2.12 Player Interaction Devices ..................................................................................................................... 24 
2.13 Bill Validators and Stackers ................................................................................................................... 25 
2.14 Coin Acceptors, Diverters, and Drop Boxes .......................................................................................... 28 
2.15 Player Identification Components .......................................................................................................... 30 
2.16 Machine Tower Light ............................................................................................................................. 32 
2.17 Machine Payment and Payment Devices ............................................................................................... 32 
2.18 Machine Vouchers .................................................................................................................................. 34 
2.19 Machine Communication Protocol ........................................................................................................ 38 
2.20 Machine Connections to the Internet ..................................................................................................... 38 
2.21 Multi-Player Machine ............................................................................................................................ 39 
2.22 Mechanical Devices Used for Display of Game Outcomes in Machines ............................................... 40 

CHAPTER 3: RANDOM NUMBER GENERATOR (RNG) REQUIREMENTS ............................................ 42 
3.1 Introduction to RNG Requirements ........................................................................................................ 42 
3.2 General RNG Requirements ................................................................................................................... 42 
3.3 Hardware-Based RNG ........................................................................................................................... 44 
3.4 Cryptographic RNG ............................................................................................................................... 45 
3.5 Mechanical RNG (Physical Randomness Device).................................................................................. 46 

CHAPTER 4: GAME REQUIREMENTS ........................................................................................................... 49 
4.1 Introduction to Game Requirements ...................................................................................................... 49 
4.2 Player Interface ...................................................................................................................................... 49 
4.3 General Game Requirements ................................................................................................................. 50 
4.4 Game Fairness ....................................................................................................................................... 55 
4.5 Game Types ............................................................................................................................................ 57 
4.6 Game Outcome Using a Random Number Generator (RNG) ................................................................ 60 
4.7 Game Payout Percentages, Odds, and Non-Cash Awards ..................................................................... 61 
4.8 Bonus Games .......................................................................................................................................... 62 
4.9 External Device Bonus Games ............................................................................................................... 64 
4.10 Double-Up / Gamble Features ............................................................................................................... 65 
4.11 Mystery Awards ...................................................................................................................................... 66 
4.12 Multiple Games on the Gaming Device ................................................................................................. 66 
4.13 Game Tokenization and Residual Credits .............................................................................................. 67 
4.14 Game Program Interruption and Resumption ........................................................................................ 69 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Table of Contents  Page 6 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

4.15 Taxation Reporting Limits for Games .................................................................................................... 69 
4.16 Alternate Game Modes ........................................................................................................................... 70 
4.17 Game History Recall .............................................................................................................................. 72 
4.18 Tournament Games ................................................................................................................................ 73 
4.19 Games with Skill ..................................................................................................................................... 76 
4.20 Persistence Games ................................................................................................................................. 79 
4.21 Community Bonus Games ...................................................................................................................... 80 
4.22 Virtual Event Wagering .......................................................................................................................... 82 

CHAPTER 5: ACCOUNTING AND METERING REQUIREMENTS ........................................................... 84 
5.1 Accounting and Metering ....................................................................................................................... 84 
5.2 Credit Meter ........................................................................................................................................... 84 
5.3 Collect Meter .......................................................................................................................................... 85 
5.4 Electronic Accounting and Occurrence Meters ..................................................................................... 85 
5.5 Paytable Specific Meters ........................................................................................................................ 90 
5.6 Double Up or Gamble Meters ................................................................................................................ 90 

GLOSSARY OF KEY TERMS ............................................................................................................................. 91 
 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter One: Introduction to Gaming Devices  Page 7 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION TO GAMING DEVICES 

 
1.1 Introduction 

 

1.1.1 General Statement.  Gaming Laboratories International, LLC (GLI) has been testing 

gaming devices since 1989.  Over the years, GLI has developed numerous technical standards 

utilized by jurisdictions all over the world.  T his document, GLI-11, sets forth the technical 

standards for gaming devices.  A  “gaming device” does NOT include, for purposes of this 

standard, electronic equipment used in the conduct of table games.  For detailed standards 

applicable to electronic table games, please reference standards GLI-24 (Electronic Table Game 

Systems) and GLI-25 (Dealer Controlled Electronic Table Games). 

 

1.1.2 Document History.  T his document is a compilation based upon many standards 

documents from around the world.  Some GLI has written; some, such as the Australian and New 

Zealand National Standard, were written by industry regulators with input from Independent Test 

Laboratories and gaming device manufacturers.  GLI has taken each of the standards documents, 

merged each set of the unique rules together, eliminating some rules and updating others, in 

order to reflect both the change in technology and the purpose of maintaining an objective, 

factual standard.  GLI lists below, and gives credit to, agencies whose documents were reviewed 

prior to writing this standard.  It is the policy of GLI to update this document as often as possible 

to reflect changes in technology and/or testing methods.  T his document will be distributed 

without charge and may be obtained by downloading it from the GLI website at 

www.gaminglabs.com or by contacting GLI at:  

 

Gaming Laboratories International, LLC 

600 Airport Road 

Lakewood, NJ 08701 

(732) 942-3999 Tel 

(732) 942-0043 Fax 

 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter One: Introduction to Gaming Devices  Page 8 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

1.2 Acknowledgment of Other Standards Reviewed 
 

1.2.1 General Statement.  This technical standard has been developed by reviewing and using 

portions of the documents from the organizations listed below.  GLI acknowledges the regulators 

and other industry participants who have assembled these documents and thank them: 

 

a) The Australian Capital Territory Gambling and Racing Commission;  

b) The New South Wales Independent Liquor and Gaming Authority; 

c) The New Zealand Department of Internal Affairs; 

d) The Northern Territory Department of Business; 

e) The Queensland Office of Liquor and Gambling Regulation; 

f) The South Australian Consumer and Business Services (CBS); 

g) The Tasmanian Liquor and Gaming Commission; 

h) The Victorian Commission for Gambling and Liquor Regulation; 

i) The Western Australian Department of Racing Gaming and Liquor; 

j) US Tribal Compacts from Tribal Governments and State Governments including: 

i. Arizona; 

ii. Connecticut; 

iii. Iowa; 

iv. Kansas; 

v. Louisiana; 

vi. Michigan; 

vii. Minnesota; 

viii. Mississippi; 

ix. North Carolina; 

x. North Dakota; 

xi. Oregon; and 

xii. Wisconsin. 

k) Colorado Division on Gaming – Limited Gaming Regulations; 

l) Illinois Gaming Board – Adopted Rules; 

m) Indiana Gaming Commission; 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter One: Introduction to Gaming Devices  Page 9 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

n) Iowa Racing and Gaming Commission; 

o) Louisiana State Police – Riverboat Gaming Division – Gaming Device; 

p) Missouri Gaming Commission – Department of Public Safety; 

q) Nevada Gaming Commission and Gaming Control Board and Nevada Regulations and 

Technical Standards Related to Gaming Devices; 

r) New Jersey – Regulations on Accounting and Internal Controls; 

s) South Dakota Commission on Gaming – Rules and Regulations for Limited Gaming; 

t) GSA SAS, G2S, and S2S protocol standards. 

 

1.3 Purpose of Technical Standard 
 

1.3.1 Purpose.  The purpose of this technical standard is as follows: 

 

a) To eliminate subjective criteria in analyzing and certifying gaming device operation. 

b) To only test those criteria that impact the credibility and integrity of a gaming device 

from both the revenue collection and player’s perspective. 

c) To create a standard that will insure that gaming devices are fair, secure, and able to be 

audited and operated correctly. 

d) To distinguish between local public policy and Independent Test Laboratory criteria.  It is 

up to each local jurisdiction to set public policy with respect to gaming.  

e) To recognize that non-gaming testing (such as electrical testing) should not be 

incorporated into this Standard, but left to appropriate test laboratories that specialize in 

that type of testing.  Except where specifically identified in this Standard, testing is not 

directed at health or safety matters.  T hese matters are the responsibility of the 

manufacturer, purchaser, and operator of the equipment.  

f) To construct a standard that can be easily changed or modified to allow for new 

technology. 

g) To construct a standard that does not specify any particular design, method, or algorithm.  

The intent is to allow a wide range of methods to be used to conform to the standard, 

while at the same time, to encourage new methods to be developed. 

 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter One: Introduction to Gaming Devices  Page 10 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

1.3.2 No Limitation of Technology.  One should be cautioned that this document must not be 

read in such a way that limits the use of future technology.  This document should not be 

interpreted that if the technology is not mentioned, then it is not allowed.  To the contrary, as 

new technology is developed, GLI will review this standard and make changes and incorporate 

new minimum standards for any new and related technology. 

 

1.3.3 Adoption and Observance.  This GLI technical standard can be adopted in whole or in 

part by any regulatory body that wishes to implement a comprehensive set of requirements for 

gaming devices. 

 

1.4 Other Documents That May Apply 
 

1.4.1 Other Standards.  This standard covers the requirements for gaming devices.  T he 

following other GLI technical standards may also apply: 

 

a) GLI-12 Progressive Gaming Devices in Casinos; 

b) GLI-13 On-Line Monitoring and Control Systems (MCS) and Validation Systems in 

Casinos; 

c) GLI-16 Cashless Systems in Casinos; 

d) GLI-17 Bonusing Systems in Casinos; 

e) GLI-18 Promotional Systems in Casinos; 

f) GLI-20 Redemption Kiosks;  

g) GLI-21 Client-Server Systems; 

h) GLI-26 Wireless System Standard; and 

i) GLI-28 Player User Interface Systems. 

 

NOTE:  The entire family of GLI Standards is available free of charge at www.gaminglabs.com. 

  



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter One: Introduction to Gaming Devices  Page 11 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

 

1.5 Definition of a Gaming Device 
 

1.5.1 General Statement.  At a minimum, a gaming device utilizes an element of chance and/or 

skill in the determination of prizes, contains some form of activation to initiate the wagering 

process, and makes use of a suitable methodology for delivery of the determined outcome.  The 

functions of a gaming device may be logically separated into multiple parts or distributed among 

several physical and/or server components.  The terms “gaming device” and “machine” are used 

interchangeably throughout this document. 

 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Two: Machine Requirements  Page 12 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

CHAPTER 2: MACHINE REQUIREMENTS 

 
2.1 Introduction to Machine Requirements 

 

2.1.1 Introduction

 

.  This chapter sets forth the technical requirements for the key attributes of 

a gaming device or machine.  

2.2 Machine and Player Safety 
 

2.2.1 General Statement.  Electrical and mechanical parts and design principals  of the gaming 

device shall not subject a player to any physical hazards.  The independent test laboratory does 

not make any findings with regard to any aspect related to Electro-Magnetic Compatibility 

(EMC) or Radio Frequency Interference (RFI), as that is the responsibility of the manufacturer of 

the device, or those that purchase the device.  Such EMC and RFI testing may be required under 

separate statute, regulation, law, or act and should be researched accordingly by those parties 

who manufacture or purchase said device.  The independent test laboratory does not test for, is 

not liable for, nor makes any findings related to these matters.  However, during the course of 

testing, the independent test laboratory may inspect for marks or symbols indicating that a 

gaming device has undergone product safety or other compliance testing by some other party and 

that is outside the scope of the requirements defined by this technical standard.   

 

2.3 Environmental Effects on Machine and Gaming Device Integrity 
 

2.3.1 Gaming Device Integrity.  The independent test laboratory shall perform certain tests to 

determine whether or not an Electro-Static Discharge (ESD) impacts the integrity of a gaming 

device.  ESD testing is intended only to simulate techniques observed in the field that may be 

used in an attempt to disrupt the integrity of electronic gaming devices.   

 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Two: Machine Requirements  Page 13 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

2.3.2 ESD Effects.  A gaming device shall comply with the following requirements related to 

ESD testing: 

 

a) The Random Number Generator (RNG) and random selection process shall be 

impervious to influences from ESD; and 

b) Protection against ESD requires that the gaming device’s conductive cabinet be earthed 

in such a way that static discharge energy shall not permanently damage or permanently 

impact the normal operation of the electronics or other components within the gaming 

device.  Gaming devices may exhibit temporary disruption when subjected to a 

significant external ESD greater than human body discharge, but they shall exhibit a 

capacity to recover and complete any interrupted play without loss or corruption of any 

control information or critical data.  ESD testing shall be conducted with a severity level 

of a maximum of 27 kV air discharge. 

 

2.4 Machine Identification 

 

2.4.1 Identification Badge.  A gaming device shall have an identification badge affixed to the 

exterior of the device by the manufacturer.  T he identification badge shall not be removable 

without leaving evidence of tampering.  T his badge shall include the following minimum 

information: 

 

a) The complete name of the manufacturer or some appropriate abbreviation for same; 

b) A unique serial number; 

c) The gaming device model number; and 

d) The date of manufacture. 

  

2.5 Basic Machine Hardware Requirements 
 

2.5.1 Microprocessor Control.  A  gaming device shall be controlled by one (1) or more 

microprocessors or the equivalent in such a manner that the game program is completely 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Two: Machine Requirements  Page 14 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

controlled by the microprocessor(s), or a m echanical device as detailed under the “Random 

Number Generator (RNG) Requirements” chapter of this standard. 

 

2.5.2 Printed Circuit Board (PCB) Identification Requirements.  The requirements for PCB 

identification shall include the following: 

 

a) Each PCB shall be identifiable by some sort of alphanumeric identifier and revision 

number.  It is recommended that this identification be readily viewable without removal 

of the PCB from the gaming device; and 

b) If track cuts, patch wires, or other circuit alterations are introduced to the PCB, then a 

new revision number shall be assigned. 

 

2.5.3 Switches and Jumpers. If the gaming device contains switches and/or jumpers, the 

following rules shall be met: 

 

a) All hardware switches or jumpers shall be fully documented for evaluation by the 

independent test laboratory; and 

b) Hardware switches and/or jumpers which may alter the jurisdiction-specific configuration 

settings, paytables, game denomination, or payout percentages shall meet the applicable 

sections of this document and must be housed within the logic compartment of the 

gaming device.  This includes award changes (with or without progressives), selectable 

settings, or any other option that would affect the payout percentage. 

 

2.5.4 Machine Wiring.  The gaming device shall be designed so that power and data cables 

into and out of the device can be routed so that they are not accessible to the general public.  

Security-related wires and cables that are routed into a l ogic area shall be securely fastened 

within the interior of the device using appropriate mechanical fasteners, plugs, sockets, 

connectors, etc.   

 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Two: Machine Requirements  Page 15 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

NOTE: The independent test laboratory will make no determination as to whether the gaming 

device installation conforms to local electrical codes, or to any other electrical testing 

standards, and practices. 

 

2.5.5 Charging Mechanisms

a) Not provide any means to receive or transmit data with the CPU and supporting 

electronics executing any critical control program of the game; 

.  A gaming device may support the use of a charging mechanism, 

such as a Universal Serial Bus (USB) charging port, or some other analogous technology (e.g., 

cables, inductive chargers, etc.), and that is accessible to a player.  The mechanism may be used 

to provide charging access for a player-owned electronic device (e.g., a smartphone, tablet, etc.).  

If so equipped, the charging mechanism shall: 

b) Be appropriately fused and/or electrically-protected; and 

c) Not impact the integrity and proper operation of the gaming device. 

 

2.5.6 Displays and Monitors

a) The display/monitor shall fit properly into the machine and surrounding bezel in a 

manner that eliminates gaps or voids and which resists the entry of objects; and 

.  If a machine is equipped with a display/monitor, the following 

rules apply: 

b) The resolution of the display/monitor shall be compatible with the native resolution 

supported by the gaming device. 

 

NOTE:  Please reference section entitled “Touch Screen Displays” for requirements applicable 

to display devices that support touch screen functionality. 

 

2.6 Machine Electrical Power  
 

2.6.1 Power Surges.  The gaming device shall not be adversely affected, other than resets, by 

surges or dips of ± 20% of the supply voltage.  It is acceptable for the gaming device to reset 

provided no damage to the equipment or loss or corruption of data is experienced in the field.  

Upon reset, the game must return to its previous state.  It is acceptable for the game to return to a 

game completion state provided the game history and all credit and accounting meters reflect a 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Two: Machine Requirements  Page 16 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

completed game. 

 

2.6.2 Fuses

 

.  The power supply used in a gaming device must be appropriately fused or 

protected by circuit breakers.  T he amperage rating of all fuses and circuit breakers must be 

clearly stated on or near the fuse or the breaker. 

2.6.3 On/Off Switch

 

.  A n on/off switch that controls the electrical current supplied to the 

machine shall be located in a place which is readily accessible within the interior of the gaming 

device so that power cannot be disconnected from outside of the device using the on/off switch.  

The on/off positions of the switch shall be clearly labeled. 

2.7 Machine Doors 
 

2.7.1 Physical Security.  A gaming device shall be robust enough to resist forced entry into any 

secured doors, areas, or compartments.  In the event that extreme force is applied to the cabinet 

materials causing a potential breach in machine security, evidence of tampering must be 

conspicuous.  “Secured areas” or “secured compartments” shall include the logic area(s), 

external doors such as the main door or belly door, cash compartment doors such as a drop box 

door, peripheral device access area(s), and/or other sensitive access areas of the gaming device 

that can potentially impact game integrity such as top boxes, controllers, etc.  

 

2.7.2 External Doors

 

. The following requirements apply towards the gaming device’s external 

doors (e.g., main, belly, top box, etc.): 

a) External doors shall be manufactured of materials that are suitable for allowing only 

legitimate access to the inside of the gaming device cabinet.  Locks, doors, and their 

associated hinges shall be capable of withstanding determined and unauthorized efforts to 

gain access to the interior of the gaming device and shall leave evidence of tampering if 

such an attempt is made;  

b) The seal between the gaming device cabinet and the door of a locked area shall be 

designed to resist the entry of objects.  It shall not be possible to insert an object into the 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Two: Machine Requirements  Page 17 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

gaming device that will disable a door open sensor when the gaming device’s door is 

fully closed, without leaving evidence of tampering; and 

c) All external doors shall be locked and monitored by door access sensors.  T he sensor 

system shall register an external door as being open when the door is moved from its 

fully closed and locked position, provided power is supplied to the device. 

 

2.7.3 Door Monitoring.  T he gaming device shall be equipped with a mechanism to detect 

access to the following areas while power is supplied to the machine: 

 

a) All machine external doors (e.g., main, belly, top box, etc.); 

b) Logic door(s); 

c) Drop box door; 

d) Stacker door; and 

e) Any other currency storage areas that have a door. 

 

2.7.4 Door Open/Close Interruptions.  When any one of the above-listed gaming device doors 

are opened, the game shall cease play, enter an error condition, display an appropriate error 

message, disable credit acceptance, and either sound an alarm or illuminate the tower light, or 

both.  This error condition shall be communicated to the on-line system when such a compatible 

system and protocol is supported.  When all of the gaming device’s external doors are closed, the 

game shall return to its original state and display an appropriate error message, until the next 

game has ended. 
 

2.8 Machine Logic Area 
 

2.8.1 General Statement.  T he logic area is a separately locked area of the gaming device 

which houses electronic components that have the potential to influence the outcome or integrity 

of the device.  There may be more than one (1) such logic area in a gaming device.   

 

2.8.2 Electronic Components.  Electronic components that are required to be housed in one (1) 

or more logic areas include*: 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Two: Machine Requirements  Page 18 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

 

a) A Central Processing Unit (CPU) or machine microprocessor(s); 

b) Any Program Storage Device (PSD) that contains software that may affect the integrity 

of gaming including, but not limited to, game accounting, system communication, 

execution of game play, game display, game result determination, security, etc.; 

c) Any switches or jumpers that can be used to alter the configuration of the gaming device;  

d) Any electronics associated with door monitoring and/or access detection; 

e) Any components that handle critical control program signature computation or 

verification; 

f) Any components that manage encryption/decryption of critical data; 

g) Any communication controller electronics and components housing the PSD responsible 

for communications.  This includes ports that allow read or write access to the electronics 

executing the game and/or any critical PSD; and 

h) Machine critical NV memory backup devices. 

 

*NOTE:  Any exceptions to the above logic area requirements and components will be evaluated 

on a case-by-case basis.   

 

2.8.3 Logic Area Access

 

.  Logic area(s) shall contain an access detection mechanism to detect 

a logic door open condition, as defined elsewhere in this standard under the sections entitled 

“Door Monitoring” and “Door Open/Close Interruptions”.    

2.9 Machine Program Storage Devices 
 

2.9.1 General Statement.  T he term Program Storage Device (PSD) is defined to be the 

physical storage media or electronic device that contains critical control programs or software 

that affects the integrity of the gaming device.  Types of PSDs include, but are not limited to, 

EPROMs, Compact Flash and CFast cards, optical disks, hard drives, solid state drives, and USB 

drives.  For the purpose of this technical standard, logical partitions defined on a disk drive shall 

be viewed as separate PSDs.  This partial list of PSD types may change as storage technology 

evolves.   



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Two: Machine Requirements  Page 19 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

 

2.9.2 PSD Location and Validation.  All Program Storage Devices shall: 

a) Be housed within a fully enclosed and locked logic compartment; 

b) Perform a comprehensive validation prior to becoming available for use/play, as 

described further in the “PSD Program Verification” section of this standard; and 

c) Validate themselves during each processor reset. 

 

2.9.3 PSD Identification.  A PSD shall be clearly labeled with sufficient information to 

identify the software and revision level of the information stored on the device.  It is acceptable 

for the gaming device to additionally display this information via an attendant menu.  Each PSD 

shall be uniquely identified by the following information: 

 

a) Manufacturer identification, as appropriate; 

b) Program ID number; 

c) Version number, if applicable; and 

d) Location of installation in the gaming device, if there are multiple locations possible. 

 

2.9.4 PSD Program Verification.  T he gaming device shall perform an integrity check to 

verify all designated critical control programs contained on t he PSD(s).  In addition, the 

following requirements shall apply to this verification mechanism: 

 

a) Gaming devices which have critical control programs residing in one or more EPROMs 

shall employ a mechanism to verify critical control programs and data.  The mechanism 

shall use, at a minimum, a checksum; however, it is  recommended that a Cyclic 

Redundancy Check (CRC) be used that is at least 16-bit.  

b) For non-EPROM PSDs, the gaming device shall provide a mechanism for the detection 

of unauthorized or corrupt software elements, upon any access, and subsequently prevent 

the execution or usage of those elements by the gaming device.  The mechanism shall 

employ a hashing algorithm which produces a message digest output of at least 128 bits. 

c) Alterable media shall meet the following rules in addition to the requirements stated in 

item (b) immediately above: 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Two: Machine Requirements  Page 20 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

i. Employ a mechanism which tests unused or unallocated areas of the alterable 

media for unintended programs or data and tests the structure of the media for 

integrity.  T he mechanism shall prevent further play of the gaming device if 

unexpected data or structural inconsistencies are found. 

ii. Employ a m echanism for keeping a record any time a critical control program 

component is added, removed, or altered on any alterable media.  The record shall 

contain a minimum of the last ten (10) modifications to the media.  Each record shall 

contain the date and time of the action, identification of the component affected, the 

reason for the modification, and any pertinent validation information such as the 

corresponding signatures of the changed components.  If such a mechanism is not 

maintained by the gaming device, then internal controls are recommended to 

manually record any such changes. 

d) For all media types, in the event of a failed authentication (i.e., program mismatch or 

authentication failure), the gaming device shall immediately enter an error/tilt condition, 

cease operation, display an appropriate error message, disable credit acceptance, and 

either sound an alarm or illuminate the tower light, or both.  This error condition shall be 

communicated to the on-line system when such a compatible system and protocol is 

supported.  Additionally, the error condition shall require operator intervention to clear, 

and shall not clear until the program data authenticates properly following the operator 

intervention, or the media is replaced or repaired, and the gaming device’s memory is 

cleared. 

 

NOTE: Critical control program verification mechanisms will be evaluated on a case-by-case 

basis and approved by the regulatory body and the independent test laboratory based on 

industry-standard security practices. 

 

2.9.5 Independent Critical Control Program Verification.  The gaming device shall have the 

ability to allow for an independent integrity check of the device’s critical control program 

software from an outside source.  This verification is required for all critical control programs 

that affect the integrity or outcome of the game.  T his shall be accomplished by being 

authenticated by a third-party application, which may be embedded within the game software, by 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Two: Machine Requirements  Page 21 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

having an interface port for a third-party device to authenticate the media, or by allowing for 

removal of the media such that it can be verified externally.  This integrity check must support a 

means for field verification of the software.  T he independent test laboratory, prior to device 

approval, shall evaluate the integrity check method. 

 

2.10 Machine Critical Memory  
 

2.10.1 Contents of Critical Memory.  Critical Non-Volatile (NV) memory is used to store all 

data that is considered vital to the continued operation of the gaming device.  This includes, but 

is not limited to: 

 

a) All electronic meters defined in the “Accounting and Metering Requirements” chapter of 

this standard; 

b) Current credits; 

c) Machine configuration data (e.g., button panel/top box configuration, etc.); 

d) Game configuration data (e.g., paytable, denomination, etc.); 

e) Game history/recall data; 

f) Machine state (e.g., machine error conditions, etc.); 

g) Game state (e.g., current game play status, progress, etc.); and 

h) A log of the last 100 significant events (as defined immediately below under “Machine 

Significant Event Log”). 

 

2.10.2 Machine Significant Event Log.  Significant events for gaming devices shall be stored in 

a secure machine log that is not accessible to the player and which includes the following 

conditions, as applicable: 

 

a) Critical program or memory corruption errors; 

b) Changes made to game parameters (e.g., alterations to paytables, hold percentages, etc.) 

c) Power resets; 

d) Handpay conditions; 

e) Door opens; 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Two: Machine Requirements  Page 22 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

f) Logic area access events; 

g) Coin, token, and hopper errors; 

h) Bill validator errors; 

i) Player identification hardware component errors; 

j) Low NV battery errors; 

k) Reel spin, mechanical device, or player interaction device errors; and 

l) Printer errors. 

 

2.10.3 Non-Volatile (NV) Memory Requirements. The following are the NV memory 

requirements for gaming devices: 

 

a) The gaming device shall have the ability to retain data for all critical NV memory as 

defined herein and shall be capable of maintaining the accuracy of all information 

required for thirty (30) days after power is disconnected from the gaming device; 

b) For rechargeable battery types only, if the battery back-up is used as an ‘off chip’ battery 

source, it shall re-charge itself within twenty-four (24) hours.  The shelf life shall be at 

least five (5) years; 

c) NV memory that uses an off-chip back-up power source to retain its contents when the 

main power is switched off shall have a detection system which will provide a method for 

software to interpret and act upon a  low battery condition before the battery reaches a 

level where it is no l onger capable of maintaining the memory in question.  If a low 

battery condition is identified, the gaming device shall display an appropriate error 

message, and either sound an alarm or illuminate the tower light, or both.  T his error 

condition shall be communicated to the on-line system, when such a compatible system 

and protocol is supported; and  

d) Clearing NV memory shall require access to the locked logic area or other secure 

method, provided that the method can be controlled by the regulatory body. 

 

2.10.4 Function of NV Memory Reset. Following the initiation of an NV memory reset 

procedure utilizing a certified NV memory clear method, the critical control program shall 

execute a routine which initializes all bits in critical NV memory to the default state.  A ll 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Two: Machine Requirements  Page 23 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

memory locations intended to be cleared as per the NV memory clear process shall be fully reset 

in all cases.   

 

2.10.5 Configuration Settings.  It shall not be possible to change a configuration setting that 

causes any obstruction or alteration to the electronic accounting meters without performing an 

NV memory clear.  Any change to the denomination or paytable configuration shall be 

performed by a s ecure means which includes access to the locked logic area, or other secure 

method inaccessible to a player.   

 

2.11 Monitoring of Critical NV Memory 
 

2.11.1 Critical NV Memory Errors.  C ritical NV memory storage shall be maintained by a 

methodology that enables errors to be identified.  T his methodology may involve signatures, 

checksums, partial checksums, multiple copies, timestamps, and/or the use of validity codes. 

 

2.11.2 Comprehensive Checks.  Comprehensive checks of critical NV memory shall be made 

following game initiation, but prior to display of game outcome to the player, to detect 

unauthorized changes or corruption.  It is recommended that critical NV memory be 

continuously monitored for corruption.  NV memory that is not critical to gaming device 

integrity is not required to be validated. 

 

2.11.3 Unrecoverable Corruption of Critical NV Memory.  A n unrecoverable corruption of 

critical NV memory shall result in an error and the gaming device shall immediately cease play 

and tilt, display an appropriate error message, disable credit acceptance, and either sound an 

alarm or illuminate the tower light, or both.  The memory error shall not be cleared 

automatically.  Additionally, the critical NV memory error shall cause any communication 

external to the gaming device to cease.  An unrecoverable critical NV memory error shall require 

a full NV memory clear performed by an authorized person.   

 

NOTE:  This section is not intended to preclude the use of alternate storage media types, such as 

hard disk drives, for the retention of critical data.  Such alternate storage media is still expected 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Two: Machine Requirements  Page 24 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

to maintain critical data integrity in a manner consistent with the requirements in this section, as 

applicable to the specific storage technology implemented.  

 

2.12 Player Interaction Devices  
 

2.12.1 Touch Screen Displays.  All touch screen displays shall meet the following rules: 

 

a) Touch screen displays shall be accurate and shall support a calibration method to 

maintain that accuracy; 

b) A touch screen display shall be able to be re-calibrated without access to the gaming 

device cabinet other than opening the main door; alternatively, the display hardware may 

support automatic self-calibration; and 

c) There shall be no hidden or undocumented buttons/touch points anywhere on the touch 

screen display that affect game play and/or that impact the outcome or integrity of the 

game, except as provided for by the game rules.  

 

2.12.2 Maintenance of Player Interaction Devices.  A gaming device that incorporates player 

interaction devices or technology (e.g., joysticks, game controllers, smart devices, camera 

systems, or other types of tactile input devices) shall: 
 

a) Be capable of calibrating the player interaction devices to effect and maintain appropriate 

function and accuracy; 

b) Monitor the player interaction technology for proper operation before the initiation of 

each gaming session.  U pon detection of any malfunction or impairment, the gaming 

device must display a suitable tilt condition that ceases game play; and 

c) Upon initialization, must automatically verify that it me ets the minimum hardware 

requirements necessary to function as per design intent.  The gaming device must prevent 

initialization if the player interaction hardware is found to be deficient. 

 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Two: Machine Requirements  Page 25 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

2.12.3 Wireless Player Interaction Devices.  Communication between a gaming device, and any 

wireless player interaction device, conducted using transmission technologies such as Near Field 

Communications (NFC), Bluetooth (BT), Wi-Fi, optical, etc., shall: 

a) Be secured to prevent the ability of unintended recipients to access sensitive data; 

b) Employ a method to detect data corruption; upon detection of corruption, either correct 

the error, or terminate the communication while providing a suitable error message on the 

gaming device; 

c) Employ a method to prevent modification of sensitive data that impacts game outcome or 

that represents player information; and 

d) Only be possible between approved player interaction devices that have been registered 

and authenticated as valid. 

 

2.13 Bill Validators and Stackers 
 

2.13.1 Bill Validators.  All bill validators shall be able to detect the entry of valid bills, coupons, 

vouchers, or other approved notes as applicable, and provide a method to enable the gaming 

device software to interpret and act appropriately upon a valid or invalid input.  The bill validator 

shall be electronically based and be configured to ensure that it only accepts valid bills of legal 

tender, coupons, vouchers, or other approved notes, and must reject all other items.  R ejected 

bills, vouchers, coupons or other approved notes shall be returned to the player.   

 

Vouchers are bearer instruments that are treated as a u nit of currency, and which may be 

redeemed for cash or exchanged for credits on the gaming device.  Coupons are slips primarily 

used for promotional purposes, which may be of a cashable or non-cashable value.  The bill input 

system shall be constructed in a manner that protects against vandalism, abuse, or fraudulent 

activity.  I n addition, bill validators shall meet the following rules for all acceptable types of 

medium: 

 

a) Each valid bill, coupon, voucher or other approved note shall register the actual monetary 

value, or the appropriate number of credits received for the denomination being used, on 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Two: Machine Requirements  Page 26 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

the player’s credit meter.  If registered directly as credits, the conversion rate shall be 

clearly stated, or be easily ascertainable from the gaming device; 

b) Credits shall only be registered when: 

i. The bill, coupon, voucher or other approved note has passed the point where it is 

accepted and stacked; and 

ii. The bill validator has sent the "irrevocably stacked" message to the gaming 

device.  

c) Each bill validator shall be designed to prevent the use of cheating methods such as 

stringing, the insertion of foreign objects, and any other manipulation that may be 

deemed as a cheating technique.  A  method for detection of counterfeit bills must be 

implemented.  Appropriate correlating error conditions shall be generated and the bill 

validator shall be disabled; 

d) Acceptance of any bills, vouchers, coupons or other approved notes for crediting to the 

credit meter shall only be possible when the gaming device is enabled for play.  Other 

states, such as error conditions including door opens, shall cause the disabling of the bill 

validator system; and 

e) Each gaming device and/or bill validator shall have the capability of detecting and 

displaying the error conditions listed below.  The bill validator shall disable itself and 

provide a suitable error message which shall be communicated to the on-line system, 

when such a compatible system and protocol is supported.  The error(s) shall be cleared 

by an attendant, or upon initiation of a new play sequence subsequent to the error being 

cleared. 

i. Stacker full; it is recommended that an explicit “stacker full” error message not be 

utilized since this may promote a security issue; rather, a message such as “Bill 

Validator Malfunction” or similar is suggested; it is acceptable to disable or flash 

lights with respect to the bill validator itself, for example, flash the LED lights 

located on the bezel of the bill validator; 

ii. Bill jams; it is acceptable to disable or flash lights with respect to the bill validator 

itself, for example, flash the LED lights located on the bezel of the bill validator; 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Two: Machine Requirements  Page 27 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

iii. Bill validator communication failure; the bill validator shall disable itself; it is 

acceptable to disable or flash lights with respect to the bill validator itself, for 

example, flash the LED lights located on the bezel of the bill validator; 

iv. Stacker door open; the stacker door is the door immediately prior to accessing the 

cashbox/stacker assembly; the game shall cease play and either sound an alarm or 

illuminate the tower light or both, provided power is supplied to the device; and 

v. Stacker removed; the game shall cease play and either sound an alarm or 

illuminate the tower light or both, provided power is supplied to the device. 

 

2.13.2 Bill Validator Self-Test

 

.  The bill validator shall perform a self-test at each power up.  In 

the event of a self-test failure, the bill validator shall automatically disable itself until the error 

state has been cleared. 

2.13.3 Bill Validator Communications.  All bill validators shall communicate to the gaming 

device using a bi-directional protocol.   

 

2.13.4 Bill Validator Settings.  It shall only be possible to conduct preventive maintenance, or 

perform the following changes or adjustments to bill validators in the field: 

 

a) The selection of desired acceptance for bills, coupons, vouchers, or other approved notes 

and their limits;  

b) Changing of certified critical control program media or downloading of certified 

software;  

c) Adjustment of the bill validator for the tolerance level for accepting bills or notes of 

varying quality shall not be allowed externally to the gaming device.  Adjustments of the 

tolerance level must only be allowed with adequate levels of security in place.  This can 

be accomplished through lock and key, physical switch settings, or other accepted 

methods approved on a case-by-case basis;  

d) Maintenance, adjustment, and repair per approved factory procedures; and  

e) Options that set the direction or orientation of acceptance. 

 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Two: Machine Requirements  Page 28 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

2.13.5 Bill Validator Location.  If a gaming device is equipped with a bill validator, it shall be 

located in a locked area of the device (i.e., require the opening of the main door for access), but 

not in the logic area.  Only the bill or voucher insertion area shall be accessible to the player. 

 

2.13.6 Power Failures During Bill Validator Acceptance

 

.  If a power failure occurs during 

acceptance of a bill/voucher, the bill validator shall give proper credits or return the bill/voucher.  

There may be a small window of time where power may fail and credit may not be given due to 

the timing of validating the bill/voucher.  However, in this case, the timing window shall be less 

than one (1) second. 

2.13.7 Bill Validator Recall.  A gaming device that uses a bill validator shall retain in its 

memory and display the denomination/value for each of the last five (5) items accepted by the 

bill validator (e.g., currency, vouchers, coupons, etc.).  T he bill validator recall log may be 

combined or maintained separately by item type.  If combined, the type of item accepted shall be 

recorded with its respective timestamp.  

 

2.13.8 Bill Validator Stacker.  Each bill validator shall have a secure stacker and all accepted 

items shall be deposited into the secure stacker receptacle.  The secure stacker and its receptacle 

are to be attached to the gaming device in such a manner so that they cannot be easily removed 

by physical force and shall meet the following rules: 

 

a) The bill validator device shall have the ability to detect a stacker full condition; and 

b) There shall be a separate keyed lock to access the stacker area.  This keyed lock shall be 

separate from the main door.  In addition, a separate keyed lock shall be required to 

remove the bills from the stacker. 

 

2.14 Coin Acceptors, Diverters, and Drop Boxes 
 

2.14.1 Coin/Token Acceptors.  If the gaming device uses a co in/token acceptor, the acceptor 

shall accept or reject the coin/token on the basis of metal composition, mass, composite makeup, 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Two: Machine Requirements  Page 29 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

or an equivalent method to securely identify a valid coin/token.  In addition, a coin acceptor shall 

meet the following rules: 

 

a) Each valid coin/token inserted shall register the actual monetary value, or the appropriate 

number of credits received for the denomination being used, on the player’s credit meter 

for the current game or bet meter.  If registered directly as credits, the conversion rate 

shall be clearly stated, or be easily ascertainable from the gaming device;  

b) The coin acceptor shall be designed to prevent the use of cheating methods including; but 

not limited to, slugging (counterfeit coins), stringing (coin pullback), the insertion of 

foreign objects, and any other manipulation that may be deemed as a cheating technique.  

Appropriate correlating error conditions shall be generated and the coin acceptor shall be 

disabled; 

c) Acceptance of any coins or tokens for crediting to the credit meter shall only be possible 

when the gaming device is enabled for play.  Other states, such as error conditions 

including door opens,  shall cause the disabling of the coin acceptor system;    

d) The gaming device shall be capable of handling rapidly-fed coins/tokens or piggy-backed 

coins/tokens such that occurrences of cheating are eliminated.  Coins traveling too fast 

that do not register on the player’s credit meter shall be returned to the player; 

e) The gaming device shall have suitable detectors for determining the direction and the 

speed of coin/token travel in the acceptor.  If a coin/token traveling at too slow of a 

speed, or improper direction is detected, the gaming device shall display a suitable error 

condition for at least thirty (30) seconds or be cleared by an attendant; 

f) Coins/tokens deemed invalid by the acceptor shall be rejected to the coin tray and shall 

not be counted as credits; and 

g) If a coin acceptor error condition as listed below is identified, the gaming device shall 

display an appropriate error message, disable the coin acceptor, and either sound an alarm 

or illuminate the tower light, or both.  This error condition shall be communicated to the 

on-line system, when such a compatible system and protocol is supported.   

i. Coin-in jam; 

ii. Coin return jam; 

iii. Reverse coin-in (coin traveling wrong direction through acceptor); and 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Two: Machine Requirements  Page 30 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

iv. Coin too slow / too fast.  

 

NOTE: It is acceptable to report coin-in jam, reverse coin-in, and coin too slow/too fast error as 

a generic coin-in error. 

 

2.14.2 Diverter.  For gaming devices that accept coins or tokens, the software shall ensure that 

the diverter directs coins to the hopper, or to the drop box when the hopper is full.  The hopper 

full detector shall be monitored to determine whether a change in diverter status is required.  If 

the state of the detector changes, the diverter shall operate within ten (10) games, after the state 

change, without causing a disruption of coin flow, or creating a coin jam.  Hopper-less gaming 

devices shall always divert coins to the drop box. 

 

2.14.3 Drop Box.  If the gaming device is equipped to accept coins or tokens, then the following 

rules shall be met with respect to a drop box: 

 

a) Each gaming device shall contain a separate box to collect and retain all such coins or 

tokens that are diverted into the drop box; 

b) A drop box shall be housed in a locked compartment, separate from any other 

compartment of the gaming device; and 

c) There must be a method to monitor the drop box door to detect access, as defined 

elsewhere in this standard under the sections entitled “Door Monitoring” and “Door 

Open/Close Interruptions”. 

 

2.15 Player Identification Components 
 

2.15.1 General Statement

 

.  A player identification component is an electronic device installed 

in a machine that allows for the secure identification of a player’s identity.  Examples include a 

card reader, a barcode reader, or a b iometric scanner.  Once a p layer is identified, the gaming 

device typically allows connectivity to an external system such as a p layer tracking system or 

other account-based system. 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Two: Machine Requirements  Page 31 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

2.15.2 Card Readers

 

.  Card readers shall be able to detect the use of a valid player tracking card, 

as applicable, and provide a method to enable the software to interpret and act appropriately 

upon a valid or invalid input.  The card reader shall be electronically-based and be configured to 

ensure that it only reads valid cards, and shall reject all other items.  

2.15.3  Barcode Readers

 

.  Barcode readers shall be able to associate the barcode visible on a 

card, coupon, voucher, or an allowed electronic device such as a smartphone, as applicable, with 

data stored in an external database as a m eans to identify an account association, or for the 

purpose of redemption.  A  barcode reader shall provide a method to enable the software to 

interpret and act appropriately upon a valid or invalid input. 

2.15.4  Biometric Scanners

 

.  Biometric scanners shall be able to associate a person’s physical 

characteristics with those recorded within an external database as means to authenticate the 

identity of a player and for the purpose of account association.  A biometric scanner shall 

provide a method to enable the software to interpret and act appropriately upon a valid or invalid 

input.   

2.15.5 Player Identification Component Requirements

 

.  Player identification components shall 

meet the following rules: 

a) The player identification component hardware shall be located within a locked area of the 

gaming device (i.e., an area that requires opening of the main door for access), but shall 

not be housed in the logic area.  Only the area which reads/accepts the card or biometric 

authentication (e.g., card slot, optical reader, etc.) shall be accessible to the player; 

b) Each player identification component shall be designed to prevent the use of 

manipulation such as the insertion of foreign objects and any other techniques that may 

impact game integrity.  A method for detection of counterfeiting shall be implemented; 

c) Processing any transactions via the player identification component shall only be possible 

when the machine is enabled for play and communicating with a player tracking and/or 

cashless system.  Other states, such as error conditions, including door opens, shall cause 

the disabling of the player identification component; and   



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Two: Machine Requirements  Page 32 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

d) Each gaming device shall have the capability of detecting and displaying an error 

condition related to a m alfunction of any player identification component. If a 

malfunction is identified, the gaming device shall display an appropriate error message, 

disable the player identification component, and either sound an alarm or illuminate the 

tower light, or both.  For player identification components, it is acceptable to disable or 

flash lights with respect to the player identification component itself.  This error 

condition shall be communicated to the on-line system, when such a compatible system 

and protocol is supported.   

 

2.16 Machine Tower Light 
 

2.16.1 Tower Light.  The gaming device shall have a l ight located prominently on its top that 

automatically illuminates when a player has won an amount or is collecting credits that the 

device cannot automatically pay, an error condition has occurred , or a ‘Call Attendant’ request 

has been initiated by the player.  For bar-top style devices, it is permissible for the tower light to 

be shared among a group of gaming devices, or to be substituted by an audible alarm. 

 

NOTE: The independent test laboratory will make no determination as to tower light color or 

flash sequence.  Furthermore, alternative means such as displayed messages, audible tones, 

special animation effects, game-to-system communications etc., that may be used to alert 

appropriate personnel will be considered on a case-by-case basis. 

 

2.17 Machine Payment and Payment Devices 
 

2.17.1 Payments by the Gaming Device.  Available credits may be collected from the gaming 

device by the player pressing a collect or cash out button at any time other than during: 

 

a) A game being played; 

b) Any door open condition; 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Two: Machine Requirements  Page 33 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

c) A credit meter or win meter increment, unless the entire amount is placed on the meters when 

the collect button is pressed; or 

d) An error condition, provided the error condition prevents a valid cashout which is not 

supported through some other means. 

 

2.17.2 Cashout Limit Exceeded.  If credits are collected, and the total credit value is greater 

than or equal to a specific limit (e.g., hopper limit for hopper games, printer limit f or printer 

games, configured machine limit, etc.), the game shall lock up until the credits have been paid, 

and the handpay is cleared by an attendant or via a system-based command.   

 

NOTE: In certain situations, the printing of multiple independent vouchers, each below the 

voucher limit, is an acceptable alternative, if approved by the regulatory body. 

 

2.17.3 Coin Hoppers.  If coin hoppers are used, they are to be monitored for proper operation in 

all game states by the gaming device critical control program (as per requirements defined under 

“Hopper Error Conditions”).  In addition, coin hoppers shall prohibit manipulation by the 

insertion of a light source or any foreign object, and there shall not be an abnormal payout when 

exposed to higher levels of electro-static discharge, or if power is lost at any time during a 

payout. 

 

NOTE: Activities that result in the payout of a single extra coin (e.g., the removal and re-

insertion of the hopper) are not considered an abnormal payout as long as it is accounted for as 

an extra coin paid.  

 

2.17.4 Hopper Location.  If a gaming device is equipped with a hopper, it shall be located in a 

locked area of the gaming device, but not in the logic area or the drop box.  Access to the hopper 

shall require at a minimum the opening of a secure external door of the gaming device cabinet. 

 

2.17.5 Hopper Error Conditions.  A gaming device that is equipped with a hopper shall have 

mechanisms to allow critical control program software to interpret and act upon the conditions 

listed immediately below.  If a hopper error condition as listed below is identified, the gaming 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Two: Machine Requirements  Page 34 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

device shall display an appropriate error message, disable the hopper, and either sound an alarm 

or illuminate the tower light, or both.  This error condition shall be communicated to the on-line 

system, when such a compatible system and protocol is supported. 

 

a) Hopper empty or timed out; 

b) Hopper jam; and 

c) Hopper runaway or extra coin paid out. 

 

2.17.6 Printer Location.  If a gaming device is equipped with a printer, it shall be located within 

a locked area of the gaming device (i.e., require the opening of a locked external door), but not 

be housed within the logic area or the drop box.   

 

2.17.7 Printer Error Conditions.  A  gaming device that is equipped with a printer shall have 

mechanisms to allow critical control program software to interpret and act upon the conditions 

listed below.  If a printer error condition is identified, the gaming device shall display an 

appropriate error message and either sound an alarm or illuminate the tower light, or both.  The 

error condition shall be communicated to the on-line system, when such a compatible system and 

protocol is supported.  Additionally, for the conditions stated immediately below in (b), the 

printer shall be disabled.  Printer error conditions shall include: 

 

a) Out of paper/paper low; it is permissible for the gaming device to not lock up for these 

conditions, however, there shall be a means for the attendant to be alerted; 

b) Printer jam/failure; 

c) Printer disconnected; it is permissible for the gaming device to detect this error condition 

when the game tries to print; and 

d) Once a printer error condition has been cleared, any unprinted voucher shall be generated 

or a suitable handpay shall be processed. 

 

2.18 Machine Vouchers 
 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Two: Machine Requirements  Page 35 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

2.18.1 Payment by Voucher.  Payment by voucher as a method of credit redemption is only 

permissible when: 

 

a) The gaming device is linked to a computerized validation system, which allows for the 

validation of the voucher.  P rovisions must be made if communication is lost and 

validation information cannot be sent to the validation system, thereby requiring the 

manufacturer to support some alternate method of payment; or 

b) Utilizing an approved alternative method that includes the ability to identify duplicate 

vouchers to prevent fraud by redeeming a voucher that was previously issued by the 

gaming device. 
 
2.18.2 Voucher Information.  A voucher shall contain the following information at a minimum: 

 

a) Casino name / site identifier (for a printed paper voucher, it is permissible for this 

information to be contained on the ticket stock itself); 

b) Machine number; 

c) Date and time (24hr format which is understood by the local date/time format); 

d) Alpha value of the voucher; 

e) Numeric value of the voucher; 

f) Voucher sequence number; 

g) Validation number (and which for a printed paper voucher, must appear on the leading 

edge of the ticket); 

h) Bar code or any machine readable code representing the validation number; 

i) Type of transaction or other method of differentiating voucher types (assuming multiple 

voucher types are available).  Additionally, it is strongly recommended that whenever the 

voucher type is itself a non-cashable item and/or just a receipt, that the voucher explicitly 

states that it has “no cash value”; and 

j) Indication of an expiration period from date of issue, or date and time the voucher will 

expire (24hr format which is understood by the local date/time format).  For a printed 

paper voucher, it is permissible for this information to be contained on the ticket stock 

itself. (e.g., “Expires in One Year”). 

 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Two: Machine Requirements  Page 36 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

NOTE: Some of the above-listed information may also be part of the validation number or 

barcode.  Multiple barcodes are allowed and may represent more than just the validation 

number. 
 
2.18.3 Voucher-Out Log.  The gaming device shall have the ability to retain information on the 

last twenty-five (25) issued vouchers in a voucher-out log.  The gaming device shall mask all but 

the last 4 digits of the validation number as displayed in the twenty-five (25) voucher-out log or 

in any other supported method of voucher display.  T he voucher-out log shall contain the 

following information for each recorded voucher: 

a) Value of credits in local monetary units in numerical form;  

b) Time of day the voucher was issued, in twenty-four (24) hour format showing hours and 

minutes; 

c) Date, in any recognized format, indicating the day, month, and year; and 

d) Unique validation number. 
 
2.18.4 Online Voucher Issuance.  The gaming device may pay the player by issuing a printed 

or virtual voucher that contains the information as indicated in the section entitled “Voucher 

Information” above.  Additionally, the gaming device shall support the transmission of the 

following information to the ticketing system regarding each voucher issued, as required by the 

communications protocol supported: 

 

a) Value of credits in local monetary units in numerical form;  

b) Time of day the voucher was printed in twenty-four (24) hour format showing hours and 

minutes; 

c) Date, in any recognized format, indicating the day, month, and year; 

d) Gaming device number or machine number; and 

e) Unique validation number. 

 

2.18.5 Offline Voucher Issuance.  The gaming device shall meet the following minimum set of 

requirements to support the issuance of offline vouchers after a loss of communication with the 

validation system has been identified: 

 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Two: Machine Requirements  Page 37 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

a) The gaming device shall not issue more offline vouchers than it has the ability to retain 

and display in the voucher out log; 

b) The gaming device shall not request validation numbers and seed, key, etc. values used in 

the issuance of vouchers until all outstanding offline voucher information has been fully 

communicated to the voucher validation system; 

c) The gaming device shall request a new set of validation numbers and seed, key, etc. 

values used in the issuance of online/offline voucher if the current list of validation 

numbers and seed, key, etc. values have the possibility of being compromised.  This is 

recommended in the following cases: 

i. After power has been recycled, and/or 

ii. Upon exit of a main door open condition. 

d) The values for the seed, key, etc. shall never be viewable through any display supported 

by the gaming device; and 

e) An offline authentication identifier shall be included on the voucher.  For printed paper 

vouchers, this identifier must appear on the next line immediately following the leading 

edge validation number that in no way overwrites, or otherwise compromises, the 

printing of the validation number on the voucher (not required for vouchers that are non-

redeemable at a gaming device).  The offline authentication identifier must be derived by 

a hash, or other secure encryption method of at least 128 bits, that will uniquely identify 

the voucher, verify that the redeeming system was also the issuing system, and validate 

the amount of the voucher.  For cases where a suitable authentication identifier is not 

included on the voucher, the gaming device must issue at most one wagering instrument 

after the communications between the gaming device and the system have been lost. 

 

2.18.6 Online Voucher Redemption.  Vouchers may be accepted by a gaming device connected 

to a ticket validation system provided that no c redits are issued to the gaming device prior to 

confirmation of voucher validity.   

 

2.18.7 Offline Voucher Redemption.  The offline voucher redemption may be validated as an 

internal control process at the specific gaming device that issued the voucher.  A  manual 

handpay may be conducted for the offline voucher value. 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Two: Machine Requirements  Page 38 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

 

2.19 Machine Communication Protocol  
 

2.19.1 Integrity of Protocol Communications.  For gaming devices that are designed to support 

communications with an on-line system, the device shall accurately function as indicated by the 

communications protocol that is implemented, and as required by the regulatory body, including, 

but not limited to, protocol-based metering and remote verification of the critical control 

program, where supported.  In addition, the following rules shall be met: 

 

a) Communications shall not negatively impact player interaction on t he gaming device, 

including a player’s access to all screen displays; and   

b) After a program interruption, any communications to an external device shall not begin 

until the program resumption routine, including any self-test, is completed successfully. 

 

2.19.2 Protection of Sensitive Information.  The gaming device shall not allow any information 

contained in communication to or from the online monitoring system that is intended by the 

communication protocol to be protected, or which is of a sensitive nature, to be viewable through 

any display mechanism supported by the device.  This includes, but is not limited to, validation 

information, secure PINs, player credentials, or secure seeds and keys. 

 

2.19.3 Gaming Device Communication

 

.  Any gaming device which is capable of bidirectional 

communication with internal or external associated equipment, or other equipment, shall utilize a 

secure communication protocol which insures that erroneous data or signals do not adversely 

affect the operation of the device. 

2.20 Machine Connections to the Internet 
 

2.20.1 General Statement.  Gaming devices may be designed to connect to, or otherwise 

communicate over, servers or networks via the internet.   



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Two: Machine Requirements  Page 39 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

 

2.20.2 Internet Connections.  The following requirements shall apply to gaming devices 

supporting an internet connection: 

 

a) The gaming device shall not be directly connected to the internet; and 

b) A gaming device may be connected externally only by utilizing a method that securely 

isolates the gaming device from the internet, for example, through an approved firewall 

mechanism. 

 

NOTE: It is recommended that routine field audits be conducted to ensure that production 

network configurations satisfy these requirements. 

 

2.21 Multi-Player Machine 
 

2.21.1 General Statement.  A multi-player machine is a gaming device consisting of multiple 

player interfaces linked to a shared master console.  The requirements defined within this section 

do not apply to “centrally determined” type games, nor do they apply to “community bonus” 

features. 

 

2.21.2 Master Console.  The master console shall coordinate game play in a manner that is 

consistent across all player interfaces.  The master console shall also support a consistent game 

display which is shared among the player interfaces.  T he master console shall meet any 

applicable machine and game requirements contained within this document. 
 

2.21.3 Player Interfaces.  T he player interfaces support player interaction devices as well as 

credit acceptance and issuance functions.  Each individual player interface shall be capable of 

being independently monitored by an online system, when such a compatible system and 

protocol is supported.  Each player interface shall meet the applicable standards outlined 

throughout this document, including gaming device identification and metering.  The following 

rules shall apply to each player interface comprising a multi-player machine: 

 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Two: Machine Requirements  Page 40 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

a) Each player interface shall be designed such that the actions of, or results obtained by any 

one player, do not affect the outcome(s) of any other player, unless otherwise denoted by 

the game rules; 

b) In the event of a malfunction of any player interface, which could include, but is not 

limited to, a loss of communication with the master console, each malfunctioning or non-

communicating player interface shall immediately enter into an unplayable mode and 

must display a suitable tilt message;  

c) In the event of a master console malfunction, all player interfaces shall enter into an 

unplayable mode and must display a suitable tilt message;  

d) There shall be a method provided by a multi-player machine for each player to know 

when the next game will begin; and 

e) All player interfaces shall utilize a compatible version of software and must employ 

consistent configurations of that software. 

 

2.22 Mechanical Devices Used for Display of Game Outcomes in 

Machines 
 

2.22.1 Mechanical Display Devices.  If the machine has mechanical or electro-mechanical 

devices which are used for displaying game outcomes, the following rules shall be observed: 

 

a) Electro-mechanically controlled display devices (e.g., reels or wheels) shall have a 

sufficiently closed loop of control so as to enable the software to detect malfunctions 

such as a reel which is jammed, or is not spinning freely, or any attempt to manipulate 

their final resting position.  This requirement is designed to ensure that if a reel or wheel 

is not in the position it is supposed to be in, an error condition will be generated.  This 

shall be detected under the following conditions:  

i. A mis-index condition for rotating reels/wheels, that affects the outcome of the 

game; 

ii. In the final positioning of the reel/wheel, if the position error exceeds one-half of 

the width of the smallest symbol excluding blanks on the reel/wheel artwork; 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Two: Machine Requirements  Page 41 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

b) If the gaming device detects a malfunction related to the operation of any related electro-

mechanical display device, it shall tilt and cease game play, provide an appropriate error 

message (including the specific reel number), disable credit acceptance, and either sound 

an alarm or illuminate the tower light, or both.  T his error condition shall be 

communicated to the on-line system, when such a compatible system and protocol is 

supported, and shall not be cleared automatically; 

c) Microprocessor-controlled mechanical reels or wheels shall have a mechanism that 

ensures the correct mounting of the assembly’s artwork, if applicable; 

d) Displays shall be constructed in such a way that winning symbol combinations align 

properly with paylines or other applicable pay indicators; 

e) A mechanical assembly shall be so designed that it is not obstructed by any other 

components; and   

f) Microprocessor-controlled reels shall re-spin automatically to the last valid reel position 

when game play mode is re-entered, and the reel positions have been altered (e.g., the 

main door is closed, power is restored, test/diagnostic mode is exited, or an error 

condition is cleared). 

 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Three: Random Number Generator (RNG) Requirements  Page 42 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

CHAPTER 3: RANDOM NUMBER GENERATOR (RNG) 
REQUIREMENTS 

 
3.1 Introduction to RNG Requirements 

 

3.1.1 Introduction

 

. This chapter sets forth the technical requirements for a Random Number 

Generator (RNG).  S ee also related requirements found in “Game Outcome Using a Random 

Number Generator” section as contained in the “Game Requirements” chapter of this standard. 

3.2 General RNG Requirements 
 

3.2.1 Source Code Review

 

.  The independent test laboratory shall review the source code 

pertaining to any and all core randomness algorithms, scaling algorithms, shuffling algorithms, 

and other algorithms or functions that play a critical role in the final random outcome selected 

for use by a game.  This review shall include comparison to published references, where 

applicable, and an examination for sources of bias, errors in implementation, malicious code, or 

undisclosed switches or parameters having a possible influence on randomness and fair play. 

3.2.2 Statistical Analysis.  The independent test laboratory shall employ statistical tests to 

assess the outcomes produced by the RNG, after scaling, shuffling, or other mapping (hereafter 

referred to as “final outcome output”).  The independent test laboratory shall choose appropriate 

tests on a case-by-case basis, depending on the RNG under review and its usage within the game.  

The tests shall be selected to assure conformance to intended distribution of values, statistical 

independence between draws, and, if applicable, statistical independence between multiple 

values within a single draw.  The applied tests shall be evaluated, collectively, at a 99% 

confidence level.  T he amount of data tested shall be such that significant deviations from 

applicable RNG testing criteria can be detected with high frequency.  In the case of an RNG 

intended for variable usage, it is the responsibility of the independent test laboratory to select and 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Three: Random Number Generator (RNG) Requirements  Page 43 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

test a representative set of usages as test cases.  Statistical tests may include any one or more of 

the following: 

 

a) Total Distribution or Chi-square test; 

b) Overlaps test; 

c) Coupon Collector’s test; 

d) Runs test; 

e) Interplay Correlation test; 

f) Serial Correlation test; and 

g) Duplicates test;  

 

3.2.3 Distribution

 

.  Each possible RNG selection shall be equally likely to be chosen.  Where 

the game design specifies a n on-uniform distribution, the final outcome shall conform to the 

intended distribution. 

a) All scaling, mapping, and shuffling algorithms used shall be entirely free of bias, as 

verified by source code review.  The discard of RNG values is permissible in this context 

and may be necessary to eliminate bias; and 

b) The final outcome output shall be tested against intended distribution using appropriate 

statistical tests (e.g., Total Distribution test). 

 

3.2.4 Independence

 

.  Knowledge of the numbers chosen in one draw shall not provide 

information on the numbers that may be chosen in a future draw.  If the RNG selects multiple 

values within the context of a single draw, knowing one or more values shall not provide 

information on the other values within the draw, unless provided for by the game design. 

a) As verified by source code review, the RNG shall not discard or modify selections based 

on previous selections, except where intended by game design (e.g., without-replacement 

functionality); and 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Three: Random Number Generator (RNG) Requirements  Page 44 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

b) The final outcome output shall be tested for independence between draws and, as 

applicable, independence within a draw, using appropriate statistical tests (e.g., Serial or 

Interplay Correlation tests, and Runs test). 

 

3.2.5 Available Outcomes

 

.  As verified by source code review, the set of possible outcomes 

produced by the RNG solution, taken as a whole, shall be sufficiently large to ensure that all 

prizes shall be available on every draw with the appropriate likelihood, independent of 

previously produced outcomes, except where specified by the game design.     

3.2.6 Seeding.  T he initial state, or seed, of the RNG shall be randomly determined by an 

uncontrolled and unpredictable event.  T he manufacturer must ensure that games will not 

synchronize, even when powered-on or booted simultaneously.  The set of available seeds shall 

be sufficiently large to ensure independence of outcomes. 

 

3.2.7 Unpredictability.  The RNG state must be modified between every game unless a 

“cryptographic RNG” is implemented, as defined elsewhere in this chapter.  If necessary to 

ensure unpredictability, such modification may also be required within a game.  Possible 

modifications of RNG state that may satisfy this requirement include, but are not limited to: 

 

a) The discard of an unpredictable number of RNG values (background cycling).  If the 

number of discarded values is determined by an RNG, it may not be determined by the 

primary RNG itself, but must be determined by a secondary RNG, independent and 

asynchronous to the primary RNG;  and 

b) The overwriting (re-seeding) or mixing (entropy injection) of all or a portion of the RNG 

state by an external event or entropy source.  The re-seeding or mixing shall be done in 

such a way that does not compromise the intended distribution, independence, or 

availability of prizes.  The external event or entropy source shall not be able to be 

predicted or estimated by a player. 

 

3.3 Hardware-Based RNG 
 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Three: Random Number Generator (RNG) Requirements  Page 45 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

3.3.1 General Statement.  Hardware-based RNGs employ hardware devices that utilize 

entropy from electromagnetic phenomena, thermal noise, nuclear decay, or other environmental 

sources.   

 

3.3.2 Hardware RNG Exceptions.  Due to the nature of hardware-based RNGs, the following 

RNG requirements may not apply:   

 

a) Seeding; and 

b) Unpredictability. 

 

3.3.3 Dynamic Output Monitoring.  Due to their physical nature, the performance of 

hardware-based RNGs may deteriorate over time or otherwise malfunction, independent of the 

gaming device.  The failure of a hardware-based RNG could have serious consequences for the 

intended usage of the RNG.  For this reason, if a hardware-based RNG is used, there shall be 

dynamic monitoring of the output by statistical testing.  This monitoring process shall disable 

game play when malfunction or degradation is detected. 

 

3.4 Cryptographic RNG 
 

3.4.1 General Statement

 

.  The following RNG requirements defined within this section apply 

to a cryptographic RNG which are being introduced to this technical standard as optional 

requirements, available for adoption or implementation.  A t its discretion, the regulatory body 

may elect to require that RNGs used in the determination of game outcomes be cryptographically 

strong.   

3.4.2 Cryptographic RNG Exceptions

 

.  If cryptographic RNGs are supported, the requirements 

defined within this section nullify and replace the foregoing RNG requirements: 

a) Seeding; and 

b) Unpredictability. 

 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Three: Random Number Generator (RNG) Requirements  Page 46 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

3.4.3 RNG Attacks

 

.  A cryptographic RNG is one that cannot be feasibly compromised by a 

skilled attacker with knowledge of the source code.  At a minimum, cryptographic RNGs shall 

be resistant to the following types of attack:  

a) Direct Cryptanalytic Attack:  Given a sequence of past values produced by the RNG, it 

shall be computationally infeasible to predict or estimate future RNG values.  This must 

be ensured through the appropriate use of a recognized cryptographic algorithm (RNG 

algorithm, hash, cipher, etc.);   

NOTE:  Because of continuous computational improvements and advances in 

cryptographic research, compliance to this criterion shall be re-evaluated as required by 

the regulatory body. 

b) Known Input Attack (Seeding):  It shall be infeasible to computationally determine or 

reasonably estimate the state of the RNG after initial seeding.  In particular, the RNG 

must not be seeded from a time value alone.  The manufacturer must ensure that games 

will not have the same initial seed, even when powered-on or booted simultaneously.  

Seeding methods shall not compromise the cryptographic strength of the RNG; and 

c) State Compromise Extension Attack:  T he RNG shall periodically modify its state, 

through the use of external entropy, limiting the effective duration of any potential 

exploit by a successful attacker.   

 

3.5 Mechanical RNG (Physical Randomness Device) 
 

3.5.1 General Statement.  Mechanical RNGs or “physical randomness devices” generate game 

outcomes mechanically, employing the laws of physics (e.g., wheels, tumblers, blowers, 

shufflers).  The requirements defined within this section apply to mechanical RNGs / physical 

randomness devices. 

 

NOTE:  Devices which faithfully and mechanically create or display a game outcome selected by 

a computer RNG are not considered physical randomness devices and shall be tested as RNGs, 

once the faithful reproduction of RNG selected outcome has been assured.  Physical randomness 

devices may incorporate RNGs in secondary roles (e.g., rotation speed).  Such secondary RNGs 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Three: Random Number Generator (RNG) Requirements  Page 47 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

need not be evaluated against the RNG requirements contained herein, as they do not directly 

select the game outcome.  Rather, the physical system shall be tested as a whole as described in 

this section. 

 

NOTE:  The approved components of a mechanical RNG cannot be swapped out or replaced 

with unapproved components, as they are integral to the behavior and performance of the 

mechanical RNG.  The “approved components” in this context include those physical items that 

produce the random behavior – e.g., balls in a mixer, cards in a shuffler, etc.  As one example, a 

shuffler certified by the independent test laboratory to utilize plastic cards cannot be viewed as 

an approved equivalent to the same mechanical shuffler using paper cards. 

 

3.5.2 Data Collection Amount.  T o provide best assurance of random behavior, the 

independent test laboratory shall collect game outcome data for at least 10,000 game outcomes.   

 

NOTE: Due to feasibility concerns associated with reasonable data collection on some devices, 

the regulatory body may elect to accept testing results from a smaller collection amount on a 

case-by-case basis.  Equally possible, a larger data collection sample may be required.  

Regardless, the independent test laboratory shall clearly state in the applicable certification, the 

amount of data used for testing.  When less than 10,000 games are used, a statement on the 

statistical limitations of reduced testing shall be clearly denoted within the certification report. 

 

3.5.3 Data Collection Procedures.  T he data collection shall be accomplished in a fashion 

reasonably similar to the intended use of the device in the field.  In particular, the recommended 

setup and calibration shall be executed initially, and the device and components (cards, balls, 

etc.) shall be replaced or serviced during the collection period as recommended by the 

manufacturer. 

 

3.5.4 Durability.  All mechanical pieces shall be constructed of materials to prevent 

degradation of any component over their intended lifespan. 

 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Three: Random Number Generator (RNG) Requirements  Page 48 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

NOTE: The independent test laboratory may recommend a stricter replacement schedule than 

that suggested by the manufacturer of the device to comply with the ‘Durability’ requirement 

stated above.  In addition, the independent test laboratory may recommend periodic inspection 

of the device to ensure its integrity. 

 

3.5.5 Tampering.  T he player / game operator shall not have the ability to manipulate or 

influence the machine physically with respect to the production of game outcomes, except as 

intended by game design. 

 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Four: Game Requirements  Page 49 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

CHAPTER 4: GAME REQUIREMENTS 

 
4.1 Introduction to Game Requirements 

 

4.1.1 Introduction.  T his chapter sets forth technical requirements for the player interface, 

rules of play, game fairness, game selection, game outcome, related player displays and artwork, 

payout percentages and odds, bonus games, game history recall, and other game requirements.  

 

NOTE:  Please reference the “Games with Skill” section of this technical standard for specific 

requirements for games containing one or more skill elements. 

 

4.2 Player Interface 
 

4.2.1  General Statement.  The player interface is defined as the interface in which the player 

interacts with the game, including the touch screen(s), button panel(s), or other forms of player 

interaction devices.   

 

4.2.2 Player Interface Rules.  The player interface shall meet the following requirements: 

 

a) Any resizing or overlay of the player interface screen shall be mapped accurately to 

reflect the revised display and touch points; 

b) The functions of all player-selectable touch points or buttons represented on the player 

interface shall be clearly indicated within the boundary of each respective touch point or 

button and within the game rules;   

c) There shall be no hi dden or undocumented touch points or buttons anywhere on t he 

player interface that affect game play and/or that impact the integrity or outcome of the 

game, except as provided for by the game rules; and   

d) All touch points or button inputs shall perform their intended function. 

 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Four: Game Requirements  Page 50 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

4.2.3  Simultaneous Inputs

 

.  T he game outcome shall not be adversely affected by the 

simultaneous or sequential activation of the various player inputs.   

4.3 General Game Requirements 
 

4.3.1 General Statement

 

.  A game cycle consists of all player actions and game activity that 

occur from wager to wager.  Where multiple games are accessible, players may play more than 

one game cycle at a time in separate instances of the gaming window. 

4.3.2 Game Cycle

 

.  The following requirements apply to a game cycle: 

a) Game cycle initiation shall be defined to be: 

i) After the player places a wager or commits a bet; and 

ii) After the player presses a "play" button or performs a similar action. 

b) The following game elements shall be considered to be part of a single game cycle: 

i) Games that trigger a free game feature and any subsequent free games; 

ii) “Second screen” bonus feature(s); 

iii) Games with player choice (e.g., draw poker or blackjack); 

iv) Games where the rules permit wagering of additional credits (e.g., blackjack 

insurance, or the second part of a two-part keno game); and 

v) Secondary game features (e.g., double-up/gamble). 

c) A game cycle shall be considered complete when the final transfer to the player’s credit 

meter takes place or when all credits wagered are lost. 

 

4.3.3 Game Information and Rules of Play. The following requirements apply to the game 

information, artwork, paytables, and help screens including any written, graphical, and auditory 

information provided to the player by the gaming device:  

 

a) Player interface and player interaction device usage instructions, paytable information, and 

rules of play shall be complete and unambiguous and shall not be misleading or unfair to 

the player.  If there are multiple player interaction devices able to effect the same player 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Four: Game Requirements  Page 51 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

action, then all such options shall be clearly explained to the player. 

b) Help screen information shall be accessible by a player without the need for credits on the 

game or commitment of a wager.  This information shall include descriptions of unique 

game features, extended play, free spins, double-up, autoplay, countdown timers, symbol 

transformations, community style bonus awards, etc. 

c) Minimum, maximum, and other available wagers shall be stated within, or be able to be 

deduced from, the artwork, with adequate instruction for any available wager options.  

d) Paytable information shall include all possible winning outcomes, rankings, combinations, 

and achievements, along with their corresponding payouts, for any available wager 

options. 

e) The artwork shall clearly indicate whether awards are designated in credits, currency, or 

some other unit.  

f) For artwork that contains game instructions explicitly advertising a credit award or 

merchandise prize, it s hall be possible to win the advertised award/prize from a s ingle 

game when including features, bonuses, or other game options, or the artwork shall 

clearly specify the criteria necessary to win the award/prize.  

g) The game shall reflect any change in award value, which may occur during the course of 

play.  This may be accomplished with a digital display in a conspicuous location of the 

player interface.  T he game shall clearly state the criteria for which any prize value is 

modified.   

h) Game instructions that are presented aurally shall also be presented in written form within 

the artwork. 

i) Game instructions shall be rendered in a color that contrasts with the background color to 

ensure that all instructions are clearly visible/readable. 

j) The artwork shall clearly state the rules for payments of prizes where multiple wins are 

possible. 

i. The artwork shall clearly communicate the treatment of coinciding game 

outcomes.  For example, whether or not a straight flush is construed as both a 

flush and a straight, or if 3/4/5 of a kind can be construed as paying all of kind or 

just the highest.  W here a payline may be interpreted to have more than one 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Four: Game Requirements  Page 52 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

winning combination, there must be a statement as to whether or not only the 

highest winning combination is paid per line; 

ii. Where the game supports scatters, the artwork shall display a message indicating 

that scattered wins are added to payline wins, or equivalent, if this is the rule of 

the game; and 

iii. The artwork shall clearly communicate the treatment of coinciding scattered wins 

with respect to other possible scattered wins.  For example, the artwork must state 

whether combinations of scattered symbols pay all possible prizes or only the 

highest prize. 

k) Where multiplier instructions are displayed on artwork, it shall be clear what the multiplier 

does and does not apply to. 

l) All game symbols/objects shall be clearly displayed to the player and must not be 

misleading.  

i. Game instructions that specifically correspond to one or more symbols/prizes, 

shall be clearly associated with those symbols/prizes.  For example, this may be 

achieved with appropriate framing or boxing.  Additional wording such as “these 

symbols” may also be used. 

ii. If game instructions refer to a particular symbol, and the written name for the 

symbol may be mistaken for another symbol, or may imply other characteristics 

(e.g., “Pair of Sunglasses” might imply two sunglass symbols), then the visual 

display of the instructions shall clearly indicate to which symbol the instruction 

refers.  For example, this may be via the display of the actual symbol, or a more 

clearly written description, or both. 

iii. Game symbols and objects shall retain their shape throughout all artwork, except 

while animation is in progress.  Any symbol that changes shape or color during an 

animation process shall not appear in a way that can be misinterpreted to be some 

other symbol defined in the paytable. 

iv. If the function of a symbol changes (e.g., a non-substitute symbol becomes a 

substitute symbol during a feature), or the symbol’s appearance changes, (e.g., a 

red ball changes to a blue ball in a feature) the artwork shall clearly describe this 

change of function or appearance and any special conditions that apply to it. 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Four: Game Requirements  Page 53 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

v. If limitations exist with respect to the location and/or appearance of any symbol, 

the limitation shall be disclosed in the artwork.  For example, if a symbol is only 

available in a bonus game, or on a  specific reel strip, then the artwork must 

disclose this. 

m) The artwork shall clearly state which symbols/objects may act as a substitute or wild and in 

which winning combinations the substitute or wild may be applied. 

i. If there is a feature such as an “expanding wild”, where a symbol may substitute 

in a winning combination when the symbol is not on a  payline, this shall be 

clearly specified in the artwork. 

ii. The artwork shall clearly state if the game provides for a change of substitutes.  

For example, if a different wild applies to free games, then the artwork must 

disclose this difference as well as any conditions specific to its use. 

n) The artwork shall clearly state which symbols/objects may act as a scatter and in which 

winning combinations the scatter may be applied. 

o) The artwork shall contain written explanations of the order in which symbols are to appear, 

in order for a prize to be awarded or a feature to be triggered, including numbers to indicate 

how many correct symbols/objects each pattern corresponds to. 

p) The artwork shall indicate any rules and/or limitations which pertain to how pays are 

evaluated, including an indication of: 

i. How line wins are evaluated (i.e., left to right, right to left, or both ways);  

ii. How individual symbols are evaluated (i.e., whether pays are awarded on adjacent 

reels only, or as scatter pays); 

q) For games that permit multiple credits to be wagered on selected lines, the artwork shall: 

i. For linear pays, clearly state that the win(s) for each selected line will be 

multiplied by the number of credits wagered on that line, or 

ii. For non-linear pays, convey all possible wagers and their awards; 

r) The game shall not advertise ‘upcoming wins,’ for example, “three (3) times pay coming 

soon”, unless the advertisement is accurate and mathematically demonstrable, or unless the 

player has a direct advertisement of the current progress to that win (e.g., they have 2 of 4 

tokens collected that are required to win a prize). 

s) The game artwork shall clearly explain to the player any non-wager purchase options and 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Four: Game Requirements  Page 54 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

their costs. 

t) Restrictions on game play, such as any play duration limits, maximum win values, etc. 

u) It is recommended that a disclaimer stating “Malfunction Voids all Pays” or some 

equivalent verbiage be clearly displayed on the gaming device.   

 

4.3.4 Information to be Displayed.  A player interface shall display the following information 

at all time credits are available for play, with the exception of when the player is viewing an 

informational screen such as a menu or help screen: 

 

a) Current credit balance;  

b) Denomination being played;  

c) Current bet amount and placement of all active wagers; 

d) Any player wager options that occur prior to game initiation, or during the course of 

game play; 

e) Accurate representation of the last completed game outcome; 

f) Amount won for the last completed game until the next game starts, wager options are 

modified, or the player cashes out; and 

g) Any player wager options in effect at the completion of a game until the next game starts, 

wager options are modified, or the player cashes out. 

 

4.3.5 Display for Multi-Wager Games

 

.  T he following requirements shall apply to games 

where multiple, independent wagers can simultaneously be applied towards advertised awards: 

a) Each individual wager placed shall be clearly indicated so that the player is in no doubt as 

to which wagers have been made and the credits bet per wager; 

b) The winning amount for each separate wager, and total winning amount, shall be 

displayed on the game screen; and 

c) Each winning prize obtained shall be displayed to the player in a way that clearly 

associates the prize to the appropriate wager.  Where there are wins associated with 

multiple wagers, each winning wager may be indicated in turn.  In cases where there is a 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Four: Game Requirements  Page 55 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

multitude of wager information to convey, a summary screen may suffice.  Any 

exceptions will be reviewed by the independent test laboratory on a case-by-case basis.  

 

4.3.6 Display for Line Games.  The following requirements shall apply to display for line 

games: 

 

a) For multi-line games, the game shall provide a summary display of the paylines that are 

available to form winning combinations;  

b) Each individual line to be played shall be clearly indicated by the game so that the player 

is in no doubt  as to which lines are being wagered upon.  D isplaying the number of 

wagered lines shall be sufficient to meet this requirement;  

c) The credits bet per line shall be shown.  It is acceptable if the bet per line can be 

calculated from the number of lines bet and the total bet;  

d) Where the game supports multiple paylines, the artwork shall display a message 

indicating wins on different paylines are added, or the equivalent; 

e) Winning paylines shall be clearly discernible to the player; and 

f) Where there are wins on multiple lines, each winning payline shall be indicated in turn.  

This requirement would not apply to electro-mechanical reel games unless technology is 

used which implements paylines similar to those found on video reel games. 

 

4.4 Game Fairness  
 

4.4.1 Game Fairness.  The following requirements apply towards the fairness of the game: 

 

a) A game shall not be designed to give the player a false expectation of better odds by 

misrepresenting any occurrence or event; 

b) Games that are designed to give a player the perception that they have control over the 

outcome of the game due to skill or dexterity, when they actually do not (i.e., the game 

outcome is random and the illusion of skill is for entertainment value only), shall fully 

disclose this fact within the game help screens; 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Four: Game Requirements  Page 56 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

c) Games shall not include any hidden code that can be leveraged by a player to circumvent 

the rules of play; 

d) For chance-based reel games, the game software shall not determine the final outcome of 

a wager until after all player options pertaining to the wager have been made; and 
e) The final outcome of each game shall be displayed for a sufficient length of time that 

permits a player a reasonable opportunity to verify the outcome of the game. 

 

4.4.2 Simulation of Physical Objects.  Where a game incorporates a graphical representation 

or simulation of a physical object, the behaviors portrayed by the simulation must be consistent 

with the real-world object, unless otherwise denoted by the game rules.  The following rules 

shall apply: 

 

a) The probability of any event occurring in the simulation that affects the outcome of the 

game shall be analogous to the properties of the physical object;  

b) Where the game simulates multiple physical objects that would normally be expected to 

be independent of one another, each simulation must be independent of any other 

simulations; and 

c) Where the game simulates physical objects that have no memory of previous events, the 

behavior of the simulations must be independent of their previous behavior, so as to be 

non-adaptive and non-predictable. 

 

4.4.3 Physics Engine.  Games may utilize a “physics engine” which is specialized software that 

approximates or simulates a physical environment, including behaviors such as motion, gravity, 

speed, acceleration, inertia, etc.  A physics engine shall be designed to maintain consistent play 

behaviors and environment, unless an indication is otherwise provided to the player.  A physics 

engine may utilize the random properties of an RNG, in which case, the requirements found 

elsewhere in this standard under “Random Number Generator (RNG) Requirements” chapter 

shall apply.   

 

NOTE:  Implementations of a physics engine in a gaming device will be evaluated on a case-by-

case basis by the independent test laboratory. 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Four: Game Requirements  Page 57 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

 

4.4.4 Live Game Correlation.  U nless otherwise denoted in the game artwork, where the 

gaming device plays a game that is recognizable to be a simulation of a live casino game such as 

poker, blackjack, roulette, etc., the same probabilities associated with the live game shall be 

evident in the simulated game.  F or example, the odds of getting any particular number in 

Roulette where there is a single zero (0) and a double zero (00) on the wheel, shall be 1 in 38; the 

odds of drawing a specific card or cards in poker shall be the same as in the live game.   

 

4.4.5 Random Event Probability.  For games that incorporate a random event or an element of 

chance that affects the outcome, the mathematical probability of any chance event occurring for 

a paid game shall be constant, unless otherwise denoted by the game artwork. 

 

4.5 Game Types  
 

4.5.1 Card Game Requirements.  T he requirements for games depicting cards being drawn 

from a deck are the following: 

 

a) At the start of each game and/or hand, the cards shall be drawn from a randomly-shuffled 

deck(s).  It is acceptable to draw random numbers for replacement cards at the time of the 

first hand’s random number draw, provided the replacement cards are sequentially used 

as needed; 

b) Cards once removed from the deck(s) shall not be returned to the deck(s) except as 

provided by the rules of the game; 

c) The deck(s) shall not be reshuffled except as provided by the rules of the game;  

d) Any games, which utilize multiple decks of cards, shall alert the player as to the number 

of cards and card decks in play;   

e) Card faces shall clearly display the card value and the suit; and  

f) Jokers and wild cards shall be distinguishable from all other cards. 

 

4.5.2 Poker Game Requirements.  The following requirements apply only to simulations of 

poker games: 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Four: Game Requirements  Page 58 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

 

a) The artwork shall provide clear indication of what variant of poker is being played and 

the rules that apply;  

b) Wild card rules shall be clearly explained in the help screens; and 

c) Held and non-held cards, including recommended holds where allowed, shall be clearly 

marked on the screen, and the method for changing a selected card state shall be clearly 

displayed to the player. 

 

4.5.3 Blackjack Game Requirements.  The following requirements apply only to simulations 

of blackjack games: 

 

a) Insurance rules shall be clearly explained if insurance is available; 

b) Pair split rules shall be explained to include:  

i. Split aces have only one card dealt to each ace, if this is the game rule; 

ii. Further splits, if available; 

iii. Double-down after splits, if available; 

c) Double-down rules shall be clearly explained, including limitations of which totals may 

allow a double down to be selected; 

d) Any limits on the number of cards that may be drawn by player and / or dealer shall be 

explained, including winners declared (if any) when the limit is reached (e.g., five under 

wins); 

e) Surrender rules shall be explained, if any exist; 

f) If pair splits have occurred, the results for each hand shall be shown (e.g., total points, 

resultant win or loss category, amount won, amount wagered); 

g) Special rules, if any, shall be clearly explained; and 

h) All player options that are available at any point in time shall be shown on the artwork. 

 

4.5.4 Ball Drawing Games.  The requirements for games depicting balls being drawn from a 

pool are as follows: 

 

a) Simulated balls shall be drawn from a randomly mixed pool consisting of the full set of 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Four: Game Requirements  Page 59 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

balls applicable to the game rules;  

b) At the start of each game, only the balls applicable to the game are to be depicted.  For 

games with bonus features and additional balls that are selected, they shall be chosen 

from the original selection unless otherwise allowed for by the game rules; 

c) The pool shall not be re-mixed except as provided by the rules of the game depicted; and  

d) All balls drawn shall be clearly displayed to the player. 

 

4.5.5 Keno / Bingo / Lottery Game Requirements.  The following requirements apply only to 

simulations of keno / bingo / lottery games, where balls are drawn from a simulated cage (or 

equivalent) and a player tries to pick in advance which of these balls will be selected: 

 

a) All of the player’s selections shall be clearly identified directly on the game screen. 

Where the game uses multiple player cards, it is acceptable for the player’s selections to 

be accessible by flipping or switching through the cards; 

b) The drawn numbers shall be clearly identified on the screen; 

c) The game shall highlight numbers drawn which match the player’s selections; 

d) Special hits, if any, shall be clearly identified; 

e) The screen must provide clear indication of how many spots were selected and how many 

hits were achieved; and 

f) Rules for purchase of additional features of the game, if any, must be explained. 

 

4.5.6 Roulette Game Requirements.  The following requirements apply only to simulations of 

roulette games: 

 

a) The method of selecting individual wagers shall be explained by the rules; 

b) The wager(s) already selected by the player shall be displayed on the screen; and 

c) The result of each spin of the roulette wheel shall be clearly shown to the player. 

 

4.5.7 Dice Game Requirements.  The following requirements apply only to simulations of dice 

games: 

 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Four: Game Requirements  Page 60 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

a) Each face shall clearly show the number of spots or other indication of the face value; 

b) It must be obvious which is the up face on each die, after the dice are thrown; and 

c) The result of each die shall be clearly visible or displayed. 

 

4.5.8 Racing Game Requirements.  The following requirements apply to simulations of racing 

games: 

 

a) Each participant in a race shall be unique in appearance; 

b) The result of a race shall be clear and not open to misinterpretation by the player; 

c) If prizes are to be paid for combinations involving participants other than solely the first 

place finisher, the order of the place getters that can be involved with these prizes shall be 

clearly shown on the screen (e.g., result 8-4-7); and 

d) The rules for any exotic wagering options (e.g.; perfecta, trifecta, quinella, etc.), and the 

expected payouts, shall be clearly explained on the artwork. 

 

4.6 Game Outcome Using a Random Number Generator (RNG)  
 

4.6.1 RNG and Evaluation of Game Outcome.  T he evaluation of game outcome using an 

RNG shall comply with the following rules: 

 

a) Where more than one RNG is used to determine different game outcomes, each RNG 

shall be separately evaluated; and 

b) Where each instance of an RNG is identical, but involves a different implementation 

within the game, each implementation shall be separately evaluated. 

 

4.6.2 Game Selection Process.  Determination of events of chance that result in a monetary 

award shall not be influenced, affected, or controlled by anything other than the values selected 

by an approved RNG, in accordance with the following requirements: 

 

a) When making calls to the RNG, the game shall not limit the outcomes available for 

selection, except as provided for by game design;  



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Four: Game Requirements  Page 61 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

b) The game shall not modify or discard game outcomes selected by the RNG, but the 

outcomes shall be immediately used as directed by the rules of the game (i.e., they are not 

to be discarded due to adaptive behavior by the game); 

c) After selection of the game outcome, the game shall not display a “near miss” where it 

makes a variable secondary decision which affects the result shown to the player.  For 

example, if the RNG chooses a losing outcome, the game shall not substitute a different 

losing outcome to show to the player than that originally selected.  In particular, the 

displays shown to the player shall not mislead the player in terms of the frequency of 

symbols or winning game outcomes; 

d) Except as provided for by the rules of the game, events of chance shall be independent 

and shall not correlate with any other events within the same game, or events within 

previous games;  

i. a game shall not adjust the likelihood of a bonus occurring, based on the history 

of prizes obtained in previous games; and 

ii. a game shall not adapt its theoretical return to the player based on past payouts; 

e) Any associated equipment used in conjunction with a gaming device shall not influence 

or modify the behaviors of the game’s RNG and random selection process, except as 

authorized, or intended by design. 

 

4.7 Game Payout Percentages, Odds, and Non-Cash Awards 
 

4.7.1 Software Requirements for Percentage Payout.  Each game shall theoretically payout a 

minimum of seventy-five percent (75%) during the expected lifetime of the game.  Progressives, 

bonus systems, merchandise, etc. shall not be included in the percentage payout if they are 

external to the game.  

 

a) Gaming devices that may be affected by player skill shall meet the requirements of this 

section when using an optimal method of play that will provide the greatest return to the 

player over a period of continuous play.  

NOTE:  At the discretion of the regulatory agency, the independent test laboratory can 

apply a more conservative approach to return percentage calculations by utilizing an 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Four: Game Requirements  Page 62 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

alternate skill consideration, such as an assumed average strategy (i.e., simulated player 

with assumed skill restraints), or counter-optimal strategy (i.e., worst player). 

b) The minimum percentage requirement of 75% shall be met for all wagering 

configurations.  If a game is continuously played at any single bet level, line 

configuration, etc. for the life of the game, the 75% requirement must be satisfied. 

 

4.7.2 Odds.  The odds of achieving any explicitly advertised award that is based solely upon 

chance shall occur at least once in every 100 million games.  This rule shall apply to all wager 

categories that can win the advertised award.  In the context of odds, an award shall be defined to 

be a credit prize, a multiplier, entry into a bonus game or feature, etc. 

 

NOTE: Example - given an advertisement for a 100X multiplier, the evaluation shall assess the 

probability for a player to achieve the 100X multiplier and not an independent review identifying 

each of the potential values derived by combining the multiplier with every specifically 

advertised value with which it can multiply.   

 

4.7.3 Cash Awards in Lieu of Merchandise Prizes.  Limitations on the prize amounts in lieu of 

merchandise, annuities, lump sum payments, or payment plans shall be clearly explained to the 

player on the game that is offering such a prize.  

 

4.8 Bonus Games  
 

4.8.1 Bonus Game Requirements.  Bonus games shall meet the following requirements:  

 

a) A game which offers a bonus game, other than those that occur randomly, shall display to 

the player sufficient information to indicate the current status towards the triggering of 

the next bonus game; 

b) If a bonus game requires obtaining several achievements towards the activation of a 

feature, or the awarding of a prize, the number of achievements needed to trigger the 

feature, or win the prize, shall be indicated, along with the number collected at any point; 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Four: Game Requirements  Page 63 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

c) If a bonus game allows the player to hold one or more reels/cards/symbols for the 

purpose of a respin or draw, then the held reels/cards/symbols must be clearly indicated 

and the method for changing holds shall be clearly explained to the player; 

d) If a game's bonus is triggered after accruing a certain number of events/symbols or 

combination of events/symbols of a different kind over multiple games, the probability of 

obtaining like events/symbols shall not deteriorate as the game progresses, unless 

otherwise disclosed to the player; 

e) The bonus game shall make it clear to the player that they are in a bonus mode to avoid 

the possibility of the player walking away from the gaming device not knowing the game 

is in a bonus mode; and 

f) If a bonus consists of multiple games, then a counter shall be maintained and displayed to 

the player to indicate the number of games initially awarded and the number of games 

remaining during bonus play, or alternatively, the number of games that have been 

played. 

 

4.8.2 Player Selection or Interaction in Bonus Games.  All gaming devices which offer a 

bonus game or extended feature which requires player selection or interaction are prohibited 

from automatically making selections or initiating games or features unless the gaming device 

meets one of the requirements listed below and explains the mechanism for automatic initiation 

or selection in the artwork: 

 

a) The player is presented with a choice and specifically acknowledges their intent to have 

the gaming device auto-initiate the bonus or extended play feature by means of a button 

press or other player interaction; 

b) The bonus or extended feature provides only one choice to the player, i.e., press button to 

spin wheel.  In this case, the device may auto-initiate the bonus or extended feature after 

a time out period of at least two (2) minutes; or 

c) The bonus or extended feature is offered as part of community play that involves two or 

more players and where the delay of an offered selection or game initiation will directly 

impact the ability for other players to continue their bonus or extended feature.  Prior to 

automatically making selections or initiating a community bonus or feature the player 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Four: Game Requirements  Page 64 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

must be made aware of the time remaining in which they must make their selection or 

initiate play. 

 

4.8.3 Extra Credits Wagered During a Bonus Game.  If a bonus or feature game requires 

extra credits to be wagered, and all winnings are accumulated from the base game and the bonus 

or feature game to a t emporary “win” meter, rather than directly to the credit meter, the game 

shall:  

 

a) Provide a means where winnings on the temporary meter can be wagered (i.e., add credits 

to the credit meter) to allow for instances where the player has an insufficient credit 

meter balance to complete the feature, or allow the player to add money to the credit 

meter;  

b) Transfer all credits on the temporary win meter to the credit meter upon completion of 

the bonus or feature game; and 

c) Provide the player an opportunity not to participate by cashing out.   

 

4.9 External Device Bonus Games 
 

4.9.1  External Device Bonus Game Requirements.  Gaming device software that is supported 

by an external device utilizing an independent RNG shall meet the following rules: 

 

a) If the external device is used to display a bonus feature to the player, then the game or 

device shall display all relevant details of the bonus game including, when applicable, 

individual line wins, remaining free spins, multiplier values, bonus eligibility, bonus 

rules, bonus meters, and any other bonus detail not listed; 

b) In the case that a bonus feature is offered with a timed eligibility period, changes to 

configuration settings shall not be made while there is time remaining for bonus 

eligibility, or while a gaming device is within a bonus feature; 

c) If communications are lost between the gaming device and the external bonus device, or 

if the external device malfunctions, the game shall tilt, enter an unplayable state and 

display a suitable error condition which shall require operator intervention to clear; 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Four: Game Requirements  Page 65 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

d) If an eligible gaming device goes into an unplayable state once a bonus feature has been 

triggered, the player shall be given an opportunity to complete the bonus feature once the 

game returns to a playable state, or be awarded a calculated prize equivalent to their 

participation in the bonus.  Any tilt r elated to this error condition shall be cleared 

automatically or by an attendant, as appropriate.  All instances of this behavior will be 

reviewed by the independent test laboratory to determine whether or not current 

technology is able to accommodate this requirement; and 

e) The entire bonus game sequence including all bonus feature information, shall be 

recallable in game history and/or available through a maintained log for at least the last 

ten (10) bonus games.  The necessary recall information shall be stored in the gaming 

device and/or in the external bonus device.  See also related requirements under “Game 

History Recall” section within this technical standard.  

 

4.10 Double-Up / Gamble Features 
 

4.10.1 Double-Up / Gamble Requirements.  The following requirements apply to games which 

offer some form of a double-up or gamble feature.  Such games may use alternative terminology 

such as “Triple-Up” or “Take-or-Risk” to describe a double-up or gamble feature.   

 

a) All double-up / gamble feature instructions shall be fully disclosed in the game's artwork 

and must be accessible without committing to the feature; 

b) Entry to a double-up / gamble feature shall only occur upon completion of a base game; 

c) The player shall have a choice as to whether or not they want to participate in the double-

up / gamble feature; 

d) The double-up or gamble features shall have a theoretical return to the player of one 

hundred percent (100%);   

e) The double-up / gamble prize limit (if applicable) for a particular game, and the 

maximum number of double-ups / gambles available, shall be clearly stated; 

f) Only credits won on the previous wager shall be available for wagering on a double-up / 

gamble feature, (i.e., it is not possible to wager any credits from the credit meter on 

double-up / gamble); 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Four: Game Requirements  Page 66 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

g) When the double-up / gamble feature is discontinued automatically before reaching the 

maximum number of double-ups / gambles available, the reason shall be clearly stated; 

h) Any game conditions during which the double-up / gamble feature is not available shall 

be specified; 

i) If a double-up / gamble feature offers a choice of multipliers, it must be clear to the 

player what the range of choices and payouts are; and 

j) If the player selects a multiplier for double-up / gamble, it must be clearly stated on the 

screen which multiplier has been selected. 

 

4.11 Mystery Awards 
 

4.11.1 General Statement.  A mystery award is a prize paid by a gaming device that is not 

associated with a specific symbol combination.   

 

4.11.2 Requirements for Mystery Awards.  It is acceptable for games to offer a mystery award, 

however, the game must indicate the minimum and maximum amounts that the player could 

potentially win.  If the minimum amount that could potentially be awarded is zero, then it is not 

required to be explicitly displayed.  If the value of the mystery prize depends on credits wagered, 

or any other factors, the conditions shall be clearly stated. 

 

4.12 Multiple Games on the Gaming Device 
 

4.12.1 General Statement.  A multi-game is defined as a g ame which can simultaneously be 

configured for use with multiple themes and/or multiple paytables.  

 

4.12.2 Selection of Game for Display.  The following rules apply to the selection of a specific 

game within a multi-game: 

 

a) The methodology employed by a player to select a particular game for play on a multi-

game gaming device shall be clearly explained to the player on the device; 

b) The gaming device shall clearly inform the player of all games available for play; 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Four: Game Requirements  Page 67 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

c) The player shall at all times be made aware of which game theme has been selected for 

play and is being played; 

d) When multiple game themes are offered for play, the player shall not be forced to play a 

game just by selecting a game title, unless the game screen clearly indicates the game 

selection is unchangeable.  If not disclosed, the player shall be able to return to the main 

menu or game chooser screen prior to committing a wager; 

e) It shall not be possible to select or start a n ew game before the current game cycle is 

completed and all relevant meters and game history have been updated, including 

features, double-up / gamble, and other options of the game, unless the action to start a 

new game terminates the current play in an orderly manner.  T his requirement is not 

intended to preclude or prohibit game designs that involve the simultaneous play of 

multiple games on a single gaming device.  However, in such a case, metering and 

applicable limits and lockups shall be enforced against each available game, as it is  

played, and all other requirements within this chapter shall continue to apply to these 

multiple game-in-play designs; 

f) The set of games or the paytable(s) offered to the player for selection can be changed 

only by a secure, certified method.  The rules outlined in “Configuration Settings” section 

of this document shall govern the NV memory clear control requirements related to these 

types of changes.  However, for games that keep the previous paytable’s data in memory, 

an NV memory clear is not required; and 

g) No changes to the set of games, or to the paytable(s) offered to the player for selection, 

are permitted while there are credits on the player’s credit meter, or while a game is in 

progress.  However, specific protocol features are permitted which allow such changes to 

be made in a controlled fashion.  

 

4.13 Game Tokenization and Residual Credits  
 

4.13.1 Tokenization.  For gaming devices that support tokenization, the device shall receive 

monetary value from the credit acceptance device, and post to the credit meter, the entire amount 

inserted, and shall display any fractional credits, when applicable.  However, it is  alternately 

permissible for the gaming device to automatically issue a voucher that reflects any partial 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Four: Game Requirements  Page 68 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

credits, rather than posting them to the credit meter.  It is acceptable for the device to store the 

fractional credits if one of the following conditions is met: 

 

a) The machine displays the current credit meter in local currency; or 

b) The machine informs the player that there are fractional credits stored on the device at an 

opportune time to avoid the possibility of the player walking away from the gaming 

device without such knowledge. 

 

4.13.2 Credit Meter Display of Residual Credits.  If the current local currency amount is not an 

even multiple of the tokenization factor for a game, or the credit amount has a fractional value, 

the credits displayed for that game may be displayed and played as a truncated amount, (i.e., 

fractional part removed).  However, the fractional credit amount shall be made available to the 

player when the truncated credit balance is zero.  T he fractional amount is also known as 

‘residual credit’. 

 

4.13.3 Residual Credit Removal.  A residual credit removal feature is a player-selectable option 

that allows for the removal of credits left on the machine when there is a credit balance less than 

the amount necessary to play a game.  If residual credits exist, the manufacturer may provide a 

residual credit removal feature, or support any allowable cashout method to remove the residual 

credits, or return the gaming device to normal game play (i.e., leave the residual credits on the 

player’s credit meter).  The following rules shall apply to a residual credit removal feature when 

implemented: 

 

a) Residual credits wagered by the residual credit removal play shall be added to the Coin-

In meter; 

b) If the residual credit removal play is won, the value of the win shall either: 

i. Increment the player’s credit meter; or 

ii. Be automatically dispensed, and the value of the credits added to the Coin-Out 

meter; 

c) If the residual credit removal play is lost, all residual credits are to be removed from the 

credit meter; 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Four: Game Requirements  Page 69 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

d) If the residual credits are cashed out rather than wagered, the gaming device shall update 

the relevant meters; 

e) The residual credit removal play feature shall return at least seventy-five percent (75%) 

to the player over the life of the game; 

f) The player's current options and/or choices for residual credit removal shall be clearly 

displayed; 

g) If the residual credit removal play offers the player a choice to complete the game, the 

player shall also be given the option of exiting the residual credit removal feature and 

returning to the previous game mode; and 

h) The last game recall shall either display the residual credit removal play result or contain 

sufficient information, including metering, to derive the result.  

 

4.14 Game Program Interruption and Resumption 
 

4.14.1 Requirements for Game Interruption and Resumption.  A fter a program interruption, 

the game software shall recover to the state it was in immediately prior to the interruption 

occurring.  Where no player input is required to complete the game, it is acceptable for the game 

to return to a game completion state, provided the game history and all credit and accounting 

meters reflect a completed game.   

 

4.14.2 Default Game Display.  The default game display immediately following an NV memory 

reset shall not correspond to the highest advertised award.  T he default game display upon 

entering game play mode from a chooser menu, shall also not correspond to the highest 

advertised award.  This applies to the base game only and not to any secondary bonus features.   

 

4.15 Taxation Reporting Limits for Games 
 

4.15.1 Game Taxation Lockup Requirements.  If the award(s) from a single game cycle is in 

excess of any jurisdictional limit, including a taxation limit, that is defined/configured on t he 

gaming device, the device shall cease play, display an appropriate message, and require attendant 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Four: Game Requirements  Page 70 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

intervention to resolve player payment.  It is permissible to provide a mechanism to accrue 

taxable winnings to a separate meter, however, this meter must not support any direct wagers.  

When the amount on the meter is collected by the player, the gaming device must still lock up as 

per the defined/configured limit required by the jurisdiction. 

 

4.16 Alternate Game Modes  
 

4.16.1 Test/Diagnostic Mode.  Test/diagnostic mode (sometimes called demonstration or audit 

mode) allows an attendant to view game play mechanics, perform paytable tests, or execute other 

auditing and/or diagnostic functions supported by the machine.  If test/diagnostic mode is 

supported, the following rules shall apply:  

 

a) Entry to test/diagnostic mode shall only be possible using a secure means that is not 

accessible to the player. 

b) If the gaming device is in a test/diagnostic mode, any test or diagnostic that incorporates 

credits entering or leaving the gaming device shall be completed prior to the resumption 

of normal game play operation.  

c) If the device is in a test/diagnostic mode, the gaming device shall clearly indicate that it is 

in this mode, not normal game play. 

d) When exiting from test/diagnostic mode, the game shall return to the original state it was 

in when the test/diagnostic mode was entered.   

e) Any credits on the gaming device that were accrued during the test/diagnostic mode shall 

be automatically cleared when the mode is exited.   

 

4.16.2 Game Attract Mode

 

.  This mode enables the gaming device to advertise game play to a 

potential player.   If the gaming device supports an attract mode, the following rules apply: 

a) A gaming device shall only enter attract mode when in an idle state and with no credits 

on the device; 

b) Attract mode shall only advertise awards and prizes that are able to be won based upon 

the configured or available game(s) and wager selections; and 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Four: Game Requirements  Page 71 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

c) Attract mode shall terminate automatically when any door is opened, or when any player 

input or credit acceptance device is activated. 

 

4.16.3  Free Play Mode

 

.  Free play mode allows a player to participate in a game without 

placing a wager.  If the gaming device supports a free play mode of operation, the following 

requirements apply: 

a) Free play games shall accurately represent the normal operation of a paid game.  Games 

played in free play mode shall not mislead the player about the likelihood of winning any 

prizes available in the wagered version of the game; 

b) Free play shall not be available for player selection when there are credits on the gaming 

device; 

c) Free play mode shall be prominently displayed as such on the gaming device so a player 

knows at all times if/when this mode is active; 

d) Free play mode shall not increment or decrement the credit meter; 

e) Free play mode shall not increment any accounting meters.  S pecific meters are 

permissible for this mode provided the meters clearly indicate as such; 

f) Free play mode shall exit automatically when credits are added to the gaming device, or 

shall be terminated whenever the player opts to exit this mode, or when the free play 

game(s) are concluded; and 

g) When free play mode is exited, the game shall return to its previous state. 

 

4.16.4 Autoplay Mode

 

.  Autoplay mode allows a gaming device to place wagers automatically 

without player interaction, once a denomination, wager, and other play attributes have been 

selected by the player.  If the gaming device supports an autoplay mode, the following rules 

apply: 

a) Autoplay shall be a configurable option on the gaming device that is enabled or disabled 

for use by a secure means that is inaccessible to a player; 

b) Autoplay mode may allow the player to choose the individual game wager, the number of 

autoplays, and/or the total amount to be wagered;   



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Four: Game Requirements  Page 72 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

i) All player-defined thresholds shall remain in effect for the duration of autoplay; 

ii) The gaming device shall display the number of autoplays remaining or the number 

used, reflective of a player-defined threshold; 

iii) Autoplay mode must end automatically and return to manual game play when player-

defined thresholds are reached;  

c) Autoplay mode must offer the player an option to terminate the mode at any time, 

regardless of how many autoplay wagers they initially chose or how many remain; and 

d) Autoplay mode must not disregard or override any game information display 

requirements as compared to the manual mode of game play, including speed of play. 

 

4.17 Game History Recall 
 

4.17.1 Number of Last Games Required.  Information on at least the last ten (10) games played 

on the gaming device shall be retrievable using an external key-switch or other secure method 

that is not available to the player. 

 

4.17.2 Last Play Information Required.  G ame recall shall consist of graphical, textual, or 

video content, or some combination of these options, so long as the full and accurate 

reconstruction of game outcome is possible.  Game recall shall display the following 

information: 

 

a) Date and time stamp; 

b) The denomination played for the game, if a multi-denomination game type; 

c) The display associated with the final outcome of the game, either graphically or via a 

clear text description; 

d) The credit meter value at the start of play and/or at the end of play; 

e) Any non-wager purchase; 

f) Paytable identification; 

g) Total amount wagered; 

h) Total amount won; 

i) Total amount collected after the end of a game; 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Four: Game Requirements  Page 73 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

j) The results of any player choices involved in the game outcome;  

k) The results of any intermediate game phases, such as double up / gamble, residual credit 

removal, or bonus games; and 

l) If a progressive was awarded, an indication that the progressive was awarded. 

 

NOTE: For “Last Play Information” stated above, it is allowable to display values in currency 

in place of credits. 

 

4.17.3 Bonus Game Recall.  The ten (10) game recall shall reflect at least the last 50 events of 

completed bonus games.  If a bonus game consists of 'x number of events,’ each with separate 

outcomes, each of the ‘x events’, up to 50, shall be displayed with its corresponding outcome, 

regardless if the result is a win or loss.  T he recall information shall also reflect position-

dependent events, if the outcome results in an award.   

 

4.18 Tournament Games 
 

4.18.1 General Statement.  A tournament is an organized, measured event that permits a player 

to engage in competitive play against other players.  Tournament play may be in-revenue or out-

of-revenue. 

 

4.18.2 Tournament Hardware.  Tournament hardware shall comply with the “Machine 

Requirements” as set forth in this technical standard.  All gaming devices used in a single 

tournament shall utilize similar hardware and electronics to ensure each player has the same 

chance of winning, unless otherwise disclosed. 

 

4.18.3 Tournament Software.  Each gaming device may be equipped with a certified program, 

which allows for tournament mode play.  All gaming devices used in a single tournament shall 

utilize similar software and game configuration settings to ensure each player has the same 

chance of winning, unless otherwise disclosed.  If tournament is a configurable option, it shall be 

enabled by a r egulator-approved and controlled method requiring operator intervention.  The 

tournament option shall default to disabled. 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Four: Game Requirements  Page 74 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

 

4.18.4 – Tournament Displays.  The following requirements apply to information displays for 

tournament play which shall be supported on the gaming device, or provided to players via 

external signage, forms, or brochures available at the gaming venue: 

 

a) All conditions players must meet to qualify for entry into the tournament, and 

advancement through it, shall be disclosed; 

b) A message shall be prominently displayed on the gaming device informing the player that 

it is operating in a tournament mode; 

c) For time-based tournaments, a timer shall be displayed to players to indicate the 

remaining period of play;  if a tournament is based on some extended duration of play, or 

is initiated or concluded based upon the occurrence of a specific event, then this 

information shall be disclosed to the players; 

d) Specific information pertaining to any single tournament shall be displayed to the 

players, including the available prizes or awards; 

e) For tournaments with multiple awards, the distribution of funds based on specific 

outcomes shall be disclosed; and 

f) At the conclusion of the tournament, the player rankings shall be displayed and the 

winner(s) notified. 

 

4.18.4 Out-of-Revenue Tournament.  T he following requirements apply to out-of-revenue 

tournament game play:   

a) While enabled for out-of-revenue tournament play, the gaming device shall not accept 

cash or currency from any source, nor shall the device issue payment; all credit 

acceptance devices shall be disabled.  The gaming device shall utilize tournament-

specific credits, points, or chips which shall have no cash value. 

NOTE: Vouchers may be generated by the device while in the out-of-revenue tournament 

mode to serve as evidence of a player’s achieved score or rank. 

b) Out-of-revenue tournament games shall not increment any gaming device meters 

unless they are meters designed exclusively for use with tournament software.  

Additionally, the gaming device shall not communicate any tournament-related 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Four: Game Requirements  Page 75 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

accounting information to the on-line system, if applicable, unless the tournament 

data is stored in separate records in the system. 

c) If game history recall is utilized to record the outcome of tournament game play, this 

shall be clearly indicated within recall and any tournament recall data shall not 

overwrite any non-tournament game play recorded in game history. 

d) The percentage requirements as addressed in the “Game Payout Percentages” section 

of this standard are waived for out-of-revenue tournament games. 

 

4.18.5 In-Revenue Tournaments.  The following requirements apply to in-revenue tournament 

game play:   

a) While enabled for in-revenue tournament play, the gaming device shall allow for  

cash or currency from any source to be present on the gaming device, subject to the 

rules and related internal controls for conducting the tournament.   

b) In-revenue tournament games shall increment the appropriate gaming device 

electronic meters.  Additionally, the gaming device shall communicate this 

accounting information to the on-line system, when such a compatible system and 

protocol is supported. 

c) Game history recall shall be utilized to record the outcome of in-revenue tournament 

game play, and this shall be clearly indicated within recall; any tournament recall data 

shall not overwrite any non-tournament game play recorded in game history. 

 

4.18.5 Remotely-Initiated Tournaments.  The following requirements apply to tournaments that 

are controlled remotely: 

a) The player shall be provided with an option on whether or not to participate.  If/when 

opting in, the player must be able to complete their non-tournament game prior to 

entering the tournament mode of play.   

b) If the gaming device is in an error condition or handpay condition, that condition must be 

cleared prior to entering tournament mode.   

c) When exiting tournament mode, the game shall return to the original state it was in prior 

to entering the tournament mode.   



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Four: Game Requirements  Page 76 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

d) Any tournament-specific game meters displayed to the player shall be automatically 

cleared when the mode is exited. 

 

4.19 Games with Skill 
 

4.19.1 General Statement.  A game with skill contains one or more elements in its design which 

can be leveraged by a player to impact the return percentage.  Skill means the human attributes 

of a player such as knowledge, dexterity, visual recognition, logic, memory, reaction, strength, 

agility, athleticism, hand-to-eye coordination, numerical and/or lexical ability, or any other 

ability or expertise relevant to game play.   

 

NOTE:  This technical standard is not intended to classify a game as a “skill game” or to serve 

as a legal basis for game classification within the context of skill.  Such classifications will be 

subject to interpretation by the regulatory body. 

 

4.19.2 Display for Games with Skill.  A game with skill shall conform to applicable display 

requirements found in related sections of this standard for “Game Information and Rules of 

Play”, “Information to be Displayed”, and “Game Fairness”.  In addition, the supplemental 

requirements defined within this section shall apply to games with skill to ensure player fairness 

and clarity with respect to player notification. 

 

4.19.3 Disclosure for Games with Skill.  Any game with skill where there is a potential for the 

style or method of play to result in the game falling below the minimum theoretical return of 

75%, shall prominently disclose that the outcome is affected by player skill.  This disclosure 

must be prominently displayed on the gaming device prior to committing a wager.  This 

requirement shall not apply to traditional casino games (e.g., poker, blackjack, etc.). 

 

4.19.4 Player Versus Player (PVP) Advantage Feature.  A game with skill may contain a 

feature that allows a player or players to gain an advantage over other players, provided that the 

gaming device: 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Four: Game Requirements  Page 77 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

a) Clearly describes to all players that the feature is available and the advantage it offers; 

b) Discloses the method for obtaining the feature, including any required wager; and 

c) Provides players with sufficient information to make an informed decision, prior to game 

play, as to whether or not to compete against another player(s) who may possess such a 

feature. 

 

4.19.5 Virtual Opponent.  Games with skill may offer a player the opportunity to compete 

against a virtual opponent provided that the gaming device: 

 

a) Clearly and prominently discloses when a virtual opponent is participating; and 

b) Prevents the virtual opponent from utilizing privileged information of the live player 

upon which a decision is made. 

 

4.19.6 Outcome for Games with Skill.  Except as otherwise disclosed to the player, once a game 

with skill is initiated, no function of the gaming device related to game outcome shall be altered 

during play based on the demonstrated skill of the player.  Additionally, in the event that game 

configurations, available paytables, or rules of play change between games, notice of the change 

shall be prominently displayed to the player.  An example of the latter case might be the use of 

an identifier to change the games made available to the player. 

 

4.19.7 Actual Return Percentage for Games with Skill.  A game with skill shall support the 

ability for the regulatory body or operator to securely examine the actual return percentage on-

demand, via a direct interface with the metering/accounting of the gaming device, and/or via 

secure communications with an external system. 

 

4.19.8 Odds for Skill-Based Awards.  Each advertised skill-based award shall be available to 

be achieved by a player.  F or skill-based awards that incorporate an element of chance, the 

opportunity to achieve the advertised skill-based award shall occur at least once in every 100 

million games. 

 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Four: Game Requirements  Page 78 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

4.19.9 Player Advice Features.  A game containing a skill element may support a feature that 

offers advice, hints, or suggestions to a player.  An illustrative example might be a trivia game 

that provides hints, clues, or other player assistance in making a selection.  A game with skill 

may support player advice features provided that it conforms to the following requirements: 

 

a) The player advice feature shall clearly describe to the player that it is available and what 

options exist for selection; 

b) Any player advice that is offered to the player for purchase shall clearly disclose the cost 

and benefit; 

c) The player advice shall not be misleading or inaccurate, and must reflect the rules of play 

for the game; 

d) The game design shall prevent access to any “information store” such that data related to 

the skill element is not readily available through software tampering (for example, a trivia 

game shall prevent access to an answers database);  

e) The player advice feature shall allow the player the option of accepting the advice, and 

must not force the player to accept the assistance; and 

f) The availability and content of player advice shall remain consistent and must not adapt 

based upon prior game play or game events. 

 

NOTE:  It is recommended that the gaming device support a secure option to enable or disable 

player advice to accommodate regulatory bodies that may either allow or prohibit this feature. 

 

4.19.10 Peripheral Devices Used with Games Containing Skill.  If unique peripherals 

(e.g., joysticks, game controllers, camera systems, sound systems, motion sensors, image 

sensors, accelerometers, etc.) are employed by the gaming device to support skill, then the game 

must provide adequate and clear instruction on their purpose, usage, and effect.   

 

4.19.11 Game Recall for Games with Skill.  Games with skill shall maintain all information 

necessary to fully and accurately reconstruct the last ten (10) gaming sessions consistent with 

recall requirements stated within the section entitled “Last Play Information Required”.  A 

“gaming session” is defined as the period of time commencing when a player initiates a game or 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Four: Game Requirements  Page 79 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

series of games on a  gaming device by committing a wager, and ending at the time of a final 

game outcome for that game or series of games and coincident with the opportunity for the 

player to retrieve their credit balance.  Some combination of text, video, graphics, or other means 

(e.g., “flight recorder” mechanism) shall be used to reconstruct the game outcome and/or player 

actions, provided that game history recall is complete and accurate. 

 

4.20 Persistence Games 
 

4.20.1 General Statement.  A persistence game is associated with a unique player and offers 

awards, or reveals bonuses or enhanced features, for achieving multiple pre-designated 

outcomes.  T hese additional bonus features become available when the player has achieved 

specific game play thresholds.  Each pre-designated outcome advances the state of the 

persistence game, with the final outcome awarding the persistence award.  Multiple plays of a 

game are usually necessary to trigger the persistence award.  The persistence feature is typically 

associated with a single gaming device, or a bank of devices through a p ersistence game 

controller.   

 

4.20.2 Persistence Game Thresholds.  A persistence game shall recognize a p articular player 

for the purpose of restoring previously-earned thresholds on each subsequent visit to a gaming 

device that utilizes the same persistence game controller.  A gaming device participating in a 

persistence game shall contain, in its help screens, a clear description of each persistence game-

related bonus feature, including the requirements for achieving game play thresholds, as well as 

information regarding how the player restores previously-earned thresholds (using a 

login/password, ticket, etc.).  A dditionally, players shall be notified each time a game play 

threshold has been achieved. 

 

4.20.3 Play from Save.  Play from save is a feature utilized in some persistence game designs 

where complexity increases, or additional elements are added to the game, as play continues.  

Additionally, play from save allows the player to save a persistence game at critical points (i.e., 

save points), typically after some accomplishment or goal has been achieved.  The player can 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Four: Game Requirements  Page 80 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

resume game play from that point at a later date, and continue on to the next goal.  The following 

requirements apply to play from save: 

 

a) Prizes awarded or made available for reaching a save point shall be clearly defined and 

displayed to the player prior to placing any wager.  If a random type award may be won, 

the details and all possible payouts shall be displayed to the player; 

b) The game shall provide a suitable notification to the player whenever a designated save 

point is reached during play; 

c) If game rules or awards change as different levels are reached during play from save 

activity, these changes must be clearly displayed to the player; and 

d) The game shall provide an indication to the player of how long any data specific to play 

from save is to be stored for use in supporting game play at a later period in time. 

 

4.20.4 Loss of Communications or Malfunction.  The gaming device shall adhere to the 

following requirements for a loss of communication or critical controller malfunction during 

persistence game play:  

 

a) A gaming device connected to a persistence game controller shall tilt and become unplayable 

when there is a loss of communication between the gaming device and the persistence game 

controller, or if there is a critical controller malfunction; the gaming device must inform the 

player if persistence game play is disabled; and 

b) A gaming device shall resume the persistence game play from the point of interruption when 

the communication is restored, or the controller malfunction is cleared; or 

c) A gaming device shall allow persistence game play to continue if the controller 

communicates the award thresholds to the device prior to the communication loss or 

controller malfunction; the gaming device may continue operating if it is  capable of 

determining the trigger for the persistence award while operating independently; the gaming 

device shall clearly notify the player when it is operating independently. 

 

4.21 Community Bonus Games 
 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Four: Game Requirements  Page 81 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

4.21.1 General Statement.  Gaming devices may support community bonus games where a bank 

of machines are connected to a controller that allows players to collaborate and/or compete for a 

shared prize. 

 

4.21.2 Community Gaming Controller Error.  When an error occurs that impacts the integrity 

of play on t he community bonus game controller, all participating gaming devices shall be 

disabled, or alternatively, the gaming device shall provide the players the option of waiting for 

the error to be cleared, or to forego the community bonus by providing another non-community 

bonus game for play that affords a comparable return percentage.  A clear and unambiguous 

error or tilt message that explains the stoppage of game play shall be displayed on each of the 

interconnected gaming devices and any overhead or shared display, as applicable to the 

implementation. 

 

4.21.3 Loss of Communications.  The gaming device shall adhere to the following requirements 

for a loss of communications during community bonus game play:  

 

a) A gaming device connected to a community bonus game controller shall tilt and become 

unplayable when there is a loss of communication between the gaming device and the 

controller; the gaming device must inform the player if community bonus game play is 

disabled; and 

b) A gaming device shall resume the community bonus game play from the point of interruption 

when the communications have been restored; or 

c) A gaming device shall allow community bonus game play to continue if the controller 

communicates the award to the gaming device prior to the communication loss; the gaming 

device may continue operating if it is capable of functioning independently; the gaming 

device shall clearly notify the player when it is operating independently. 

 

4.21.4 Community Bonus Event Recall.  Outcomes for at least the last ten (10) community 

bonus events shall be recallable in game history and/or available through a maintained log.  The 

necessary recall information shall be stored in the gaming device and/or in the community bonus 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Four: Game Requirements  Page 82 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

controller.  See also related requirements found under the “Game History Recall” section within 

this technical standard. 

 

4.22 Virtual Event Wagering 
 

4.22.1 General Statement.  V irtual event wagering allows for the placement of wagers on 

simulations of sporting events, contests, and races whose results are based solely on the output of 

an approved Random Number Generator (RNG).  Nothing in this section should be interpreted as 

being applicable to live event wagering. 

 

4.22.2 Randomization and Virtual Events.  The RNG utilized in virtual event wagering shall 

comply with applicable requirements as found within the “Random Number Generator (RNG) 

Requirements” chapter  and “Game Outcome Using a R andom Number Generator” section of 

this technical standard.  Additionally, the following rules apply specific to virtual event 

wagering: 

 

a) It shall not be possible to ascertain the outcome of the virtual event prior to its 

commencement; and 

b) Subsequent to the commencement of a virtual event, no subsequent actions or decisions 

shall be made that change the behavior of any of the elements of chance within the virtual 

event, other than player decisions. 

 

4.22.3 Virtual Event Display.  A virtual event game shall conform to applicable display 

requirements of this standard as found in the sections entitled “Game Information and Rules of 

Play”, “Information to be Displayed”, and “Game Fairness”.  In addition, the following display 

requirements apply: 

 

a) The player shall be able to view information on all available events and wager types prior 

to placing a wager.  Wagering types may include parlay bets.  The description of each 

wager type shall include all available betting options for that wager type. 

b) Statistical data that is made available to the player pertaining to the virtual event shall not 

misrepresent the capabilities of any virtual participant.  This does not prevent the use of 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Four: Game Requirements  Page 83 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

an element of chance or randomness from impacting performance of the virtual 

participant during the virtual event game. 

c) For scheduled virtual events, a countdown of the time remaining to place a wager in that 

event shall be displayed to the player.  It shall not be possible to place wagers on the 

event once this time has passed, however, this requirement does not prohibit the 

implementation of in-play wagers. 

d) If a wager involves combining events (i.e., parlay bets), such combinations shall be 

clearly explained to the player. 

e) There shall be a clear indication provided to the player that a wager has been accepted by 

the gaming device. 

f) A confirmation containing details of the actual wager accepted shall be provided to the 

player. 

g) The artwork shall clearly explain whether the odds/payouts are locked-in at the time of 

the wager, or if the odds/payouts may change dynamically prior to the commencement of 

the virtual event.  

h) The rules available to the player must clearly state the means by which a winning wager 

is determined and shall clearly state the handling of an award in any case where a tie is 

possible. 

 

 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Five: Accounting and Metering Requirements  Page 84 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

CHAPTER 5: ACCOUNTING AND METERING 
REQUIREMENTS 

 
5.1 Accounting and Metering 

 

5.1.1 Introduction

 

.  This chapter sets forth the various metering and accounting requirements 

for gaming devices.   

5.2 Credit Meter 
 

5.2.1 Credit Meter Units and Display.  T he credit meter shall conform to the following 

requirements: 

a) The credit meter shall be displayed in credits or local currency format, and shall at all 

times indicate all credits or local currency value available for the player to wager or 

cashout, with the exception of when the player is viewing an informational screen such as 

a menu or help screen item;   

b) If the game’s credit meter allows for toggling between credits and currency, this shall be 

clearly indicated by the meter; and 

c) The credit meter shall be displayed to the player unless a tilt condition or malfunction 

exists that impacts its proper display. 

 

5.2.2 Credit Meter Incrementation.  The value of every prize at the end of a game shall be 

added to the player’s credit meter, except for handpays or merchandise.  . 

 

5.2.3 Credit Meter Decrementation

 

.  Credits wagered or committed at any point at the start of, 

or within the course of, play shall be immediately subtracted from the player’s credit meter. 

5.2.4 Credit Meter for Progressives.  Progressive awards may be added to the credit meter if 

either: 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Five: Accounting and Metering Requirements  Page 85 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

 

a) The credit meter is maintained in the local currency amount format; or  

b) The progressive meter is incremented in whole credit amounts; or  

c) The progressive prize in local currency amount format is converted properly to credits 

upon transfer to the player’s credit meter in a manner that does not mislead the player. 

 

5.3 Collect Meter 
 

5.3.1 Collect Meter.  There shall be a collect meter which will show the number of credits or 

cash collected by the player upon a  cashout.  This meter may include handpays.  The collect 

meter must adhere to the following requirements: 

a) The collect meter shall be displayed to the player unless a tilt condition or malfunction 

exists; and   

b) The number of credits or cash collected shall be subtracted from the player’s credit meter 

and added to the collect meter. 

 

5.4 Electronic Accounting and Occurrence Meters 
 

5.4.1 Electronic Accounting Meters.  E lectronic accounting meters shall be at least ten (10) 

digits in length.  These meters shall be maintained in credit units equal to the denomination, or in 

local currency.  If the meter is being used in dollars and cents format, eight (8) digits must be 

used for the dollar amount and two (2) digits used for the cents amount.  Devices configured for 

multi-denomination play shall display the units in local currency.  The meter must roll over to 

zero upon the next occurrence, any time the meter exceeds ten (10) digits and after 

9,999,999,999 has been reached or any gaming device metering implementation that is 32 bits or 

higher in length.  Meters shall be labeled so they can be clearly understood in accordance with 

their function.  The required electronic accounting meters are as follows: 

 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Five: Accounting and Metering Requirements  Page 86 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

a) Credits Bet (Coin In).

i. Not include subsequent wagers of intermediate winnings accumulated during 

game play such as those acquired from “double up” games; 

  The gaming device must have a meter that accumulates the total 

value of all wagers, whether the wagered amount results from the insertion of coins, 

tokens, currency, deduction from a credit meter or any other means.  This meter shall: 

ii. For all games, provide the coin in information on a per paytable basis; and 

iii. For paytables with a difference in theoretical payback percentage which exceeds 4 

percent between wager categories, the gaming device shall maintain and display 

coin in meters and the associated theoretical payback percentage, for each wager 

category with a different theoretical payback percentage, and calculate a weighted 

average theoretical payback percentage for that paytable. 

b) Credits Won (Coin Out)

c) 

.  T he gaming device must have a m eter that accumulates the 

total value of all amounts directly paid by the  device as a result of winning wagers, 

whether the payout is made from the hopper, to a credit meter or by any other means.  

This meter will not record amounts awarded as the result of an external bonusing system 

or a progressive payout; 

Coin Drop

d) 

.  The gaming device must have a meter that accumulates the total value of 

coins or tokens diverted to the drop; 

Attendant Paid Jackpots

e) 

.  T he gaming device must have a m eter that accumulates the 

total value of credits paid by an attendant resulting from a single game cycle, the amount 

of which is not capable of being paid by the gaming device itself.  This does not include 

progressive amounts or amounts awarded as a result of an external bonusing system.  

This meter is only to include awards resulting from specifically identified amounts listed 

in the manufacturer’s par sheet.  Jackpots which are keyed to the credit meter shall NOT 

increment this meter; 

Attendant Paid Cancelled Credits

f) 

.  T he gaming device must have a m eter that 

accumulates the total value paid by an attendant resulting from a player initiated cash-out 

that exceeds the physical or configured capability of the  de vice to make the proper 

payout amount; 

Physical Coin In.  The gaming device must have a meter that accumulates the total value 

of coins or tokens inserted into the  device; 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Five: Accounting and Metering Requirements  Page 87 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

g) Physical Coin Out

h) 

.  The gaming device must have a meter that accumulates the value of 

all coins or tokens physically paid by the  device; 

Bill In

i) 

.  The gaming device must have a meter that accumulates the total value of 

currency accepted; 

Ticket-In or Voucher In.

j) 

  The gaming device must have a meter that accumulates the total 

value of all wagering vouchers accepted by the  device;  

Ticket-Out or Voucher Out.

k) 

  The gaming device must have a meter that accumulates the 

total value of all wagering vouchers and payout receipts issued by the device; 

Electronic Funds Transfer In (EFT In)

l) 

.  The machine must have a meter “EFT In” that 

accumulates the total value of cashable credits electronically transferred from a financial 

institution to the gaming device through a cashless wagering system; 

Cashless Account Transfer In (Wagering Account Transfer In or WAT In)

m) 

. The gaming 

device must have a meter that accumulates the total value of cashable credits 

electronically transferred to the gaming device from a wagering account by means of an 

external connection between the  device and a cashless wagering system; 

Cashless Account Transfer Out (Wagering Account Transfer Out or WAT Out).

n) 

   The 

gaming device must have a m eter that accumulates the total value of cashable credits 

electronically transferred from the gaming device to a wagering account by means of an 

external connection between the  device and a cashless wagering system; 

Non-Cashable Electronic Promotion In (NCEP In)

o) 

.  T he gaming device must have a 

meter that accumulates the total value of non-cashable credits electronically transferred to 

the gaming device from a promotional account by means of an external connection 

between the  device and a cashless wagering system; 

Cashable Electronic Promotion In (CEP In)

p) 

.  The gaming device must have a meter that 

accumulates the total value of cashable credits electronically transferred to the gaming 

device from a promotional account by means of an external connection between the  

device and a cashless wagering system; 

Non-Cashable Electronic Promotion Out (NCEP Out).  The gaming device must have a 

meter that accumulates the total value of non-cashable credits electronically transferred 

from the gaming device to a p romotional account by means of an external connection 

between the  device and a cashless wagering system; 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Five: Accounting and Metering Requirements  Page 88 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

q) Cashable Electronic Promotion Out (CEP Out)

r) 

.  The gaming device must have a meter 

that accumulates the total value of cashable credits electronically transferred from the 

gaming device to a promotional account by means of an external connection between the  

device and a cashless wagering system; 

Cashable Promotional Credit Wagered

s) 

.  If supported by function, the gaming device must 

have a meter that accumulates the total value of promotional cashable credits which are 

wagered.  T his includes credits that are transferred to the machine electronically or 

through the acceptance of coupon or voucher; 

Coupon Promotion In

t) 

.  The gaming device must have a meter that accumulates the total 

value of all gaming device promotional coupons accepted by the device; 

Coupon Promotion Out

u) 

.  The gaming device must have a meter that accumulates the total 

value of all gaming device promotional coupons issued by the  device; 

Machine Paid External Bonus Payout

v) 

.  T he gaming device must have a meter that 

accumulates the total value of additional amounts awarded as a r esult of an external 

bonusing system and paid by the  device; 

Attendant Paid External Bonus Payout

w) 

.  T he gaming device must have a m eter that 

accumulates the total value of amounts awarded as a result of an external bonusing 

system paid by an attendant.  Bonus payouts which are keyed to the credit meter, shall 

not increment this meter; 

Attendant Paid Progressive Payout

x) 

.  T he gaming device must have a meter that 

accumulates the total value of credits paid by an attendant as a result of progressive 

awards that are not capable of being paid by the  device itself.  Progressive payouts which 

are keyed to the credit meter shall not increment this meter.  This meter shall not include 

awards paid as a result of an external bonusing system 

Machine Paid Progressive Payout

y) 

.  T he gaming device must have a m eter that 

accumulates the total value of credits paid as a result of progressive awards paid directly 

by the device.  T his meter does not include awards paid as a r esult of an external 

bonusing system; and 

Non-Wager Purchase.  The gaming device that makes use of a non-wager purchase must 

have a meter that accumulates all credits deducted from the credit meter paid for such 

purchase.  A non-wager purchase is a purchase made by the player that debits the credit 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Five: Accounting and Metering Requirements  Page 89 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

meter and which is used for entertainment purposes only.  A non-wager purchase does 

not influence the outcome of the game. 
 

NOTE:  A gaming device that allows for additions to, or deductions from, the credit meter, that 
would not otherwise be metered under the above electronic accounting meter requirements, must 
maintain sufficient meters to properly reconcile all such transactions. 

 

5.4.2 Electronic Occurrence Meters.  O ccurrence meters shall be at least eight (8) digits in 

length however, are not required to automatically roll over.  Meters shall be labeled so they can 

be clearly understood in accordance with their function.  The required electronic occurrence 

meters are as follows: 

 

a) Games Played

i. Since power reset; 

.  T he gaming device must have meters that accumulates the number of 

games played:  

ii. Since external door close; and 

iii. Since game initialization (NV memory clear); 

b) External Doors

c) 

.  The machine must have meters that accumulates the number of times the 

any external door that allows access to the locked logic area or currency compartment 

(e.g., main or belly door, drop box door, currency area with an external door, etc.) which 

was opened since the last NV memory clear, provided power is supplied to the device. 

Stacker Door

d) 

.  The gaming device must have a m eter that accumulates the number of 

times the stacker door has been opened since the last NV memory clear provided power 

is supplied to the device;  

Progressive Occurrence.

e) 

  The gaming device must have a meter that accumulates the 

number of times each progressive meter is activated.  T his rule shall be interpreted as 

requiring that the controller, whether that is the gaming device itself, or an external 

progressive controller, when configured for progressive functionality, shall provide for 

this occurrence meter for each progressive level offered; 

Bill Denomination.  The gaming device must have a specific occurrence meter for each 

denomination of currency accepted; and 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Chapter Five: Accounting and Metering Requirements  Page 90 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

f) Vouchers/Coupons Accepted

 

.  The gaming device must have a specific occurrence meter 
that records the number of all other notes not including bills, such as wagering vouchers 
and coupons, accepted by the bill validator. 

5.5 Paytable-Specific Meters 
 

5.5.1 Paytable-Specific Meters.  In addition to the electronic accounting meters required 

above, each individual game available for play shall have the paytable meters Credits Bet (Coin 

In) and Credits Won (Coin Out) in either credits or local currency.  Even if a double-up or 

gamble game is lost, the initial win amount, and not the initial credits bet amount, for the primary 

game shall be recorded in the game-specific meters.  A dditionally, the game shall support 

paytable-specific meters for “Number of Games Played”. 

 

NOTE: Primary game is defined to be the base game and includes amounts won from free spins, 

bonus games, etc. before the double up game or gamble game is played. 

 

5.6 Double Up or Gamble Meters 
 

5.6.1 Double-Up / Gamble Meters.  F or each type of double-up or gamble feature offered, 

there shall be sufficient meters to determine the feature’s actual return percentage, which shall 

increment accurately every time a double-up or gamble play concludes, including:  

 

a) Double-up / gamble amount wagered;  

b) Double-up / gamble amount won;  

c) Double-up / gamble games played; and 

d) Double-up / gamble games won.  

 

 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Glossary of Key Terms  Page 91 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

GLOSSARY OF KEY TERMS 
 

Advertised Award – A term describing a prize that can be awarded by a gaming device and 
which is explicitly advertised to the player in the game artwork. 
 
Alternate Game Mode – Any mode of a gaming device other than the normal mode of game 
play.  This includes modes such as attract, test/diagnostic, autoplay, idle, and free play. 
 
Artwork – The graphics, thematic art, and textual information that is shown to a player by way 
of a game’s payglass and/or video display. 
 
Attendant Paid Jackpot - Credit value paid by an attendant resulting from a single game cycle, 
the amount of which is not capable of being paid automatically by the gaming device itself. 
 
Attendant Paid Cancelled Credits - Credit value paid by an attendant resulting from a player 
initiated cash-out that exceeds the physical or configured capability of the device. 
 
Attract Mode - Visual and/or audible options intended to attract players when the machine is in 
the idle mode (i.e., no active credits or gameplay). 
 
Audit Mode (aka “Test/Diagnostic” or “Demo” mode) – A secure mode of a gaming device 
that allows an attendant or operator to view game play mechanics, perform paytable tests, or 
execute other auditing and/or diagnostic functions supported by the machine, or that permits 
secure access to various audit menus that display information related to configuration settings, 
performance, recall, logs, or accounting and metering information. 
 
Autoplay Mode – A player-selectable mode of a gaming device that allows a p layer to place 
wagers automatically without any manual interaction, once a denomination, wager, and other 
play attributes have been selected for game play. 
 
Barcode – An optical machine-readable representation of data.  A good example is a barcode 
found on printed vouchers. 
 
Barcode Reader – A device that is capable of reading or interpreting a barcode.  T his may 
extend to some smartphones or other electronic devices that can execute an application to read 
the barcode. 
 
Bill In - The total value of all currency accepted by a gaming device bill.  
 
Bill Validator – A peripheral component used on a gaming device that is capable of accepting 
paper currency, tickets, and other approved notes in exchange for credits on the credit meter. 
 
Bluetooth - A wireless technology standard for transmitting fixed and mobile electronic device 
data over short distances. 
 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Glossary of Key Terms  Page 92 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

Card Reader –A gaming device peripheral that reads data embedded on a m agnetic strip, or 
stored in an integrated circuit chip, for the purpose of player identification and related access to 
an external system. 
 
Cashless Account Transfer In/Out - Cashable credits electronically transferred to/from the 
gaming device from a wagering account by means of an external connection between the device 
and a cashless wagering system.  
 
Cashable Promotional Credit Wagered - The total value of promotional cashable credits 
which are wagered.  
 
Cashable Electronic Promotion -  Cashable credits electronically transferred to/from a gaming 
device from/to a promotional account. 
 
CFast, CompactFast - A variant of a Compact Flash based on a Serial ATA interface rather than 
the parallel ATA used by CF Cards.  
 
CF Card, Compact Flash - A small removable mass storage device that relies on flash memory 
technology. It is a storage technology that does not require a battery to retain data indefinitely. 
 
Coin Acceptor – A gaming device peripheral that accepts coins or tokens in exchange for 
credits. The coin-in assembly receives, verifies, counts and appropriately routes coins deposited 
in the machine. 
 
Coin Drop - Total coins or tokens diverted to the drop box. 
 
Coin-In - Coins wagered. The coin-in meter accumulates total coin-in numbers. 
 
Coin-Out - Coins or credits won and paid, or credits won and wagered. The coin-out meter 
accumulates total coin-out numbers. 
 
Collect Meter - A meter which shows the number or credits or cash collected by a player upon 
cashout. 
 
Community Bonus – A type of bonus play where a bank of machines is connected to a 
controller that allows players to collaborate and/or compete for a shared prize. 
 
CPU, Central Processing Unit - The computing part of a computer commonly called the 
processor. It’s made up of the control unit and the ALU.  The ALU (Arithmetic Logic Unit) 
performs arithmetic and logic calculations.  The control unit decodes and executes instructions 
taken from memory calling on the ALU when needed. 
 
CRC, Cyclic Redundancy Check - An algorithm used to verify the accuracy of data contained in 
a data frame.  It is used for detecting data transmission errors.  Transmitted messages are divided 
into predetermined lengths that are divided by a fixed divisor. 
 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Glossary of Key Terms  Page 93 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

Credit Meter - A meter which maintains the credits or cash available to the player for the 
commitment of a wager. 
 
Critical Control Program – Any software program that controls gaming device behaviors 
relative to the integrity and outcome of the game.  These programs are physically stored on a 
Program Storage Device (PSD). 
 
Critical Memory – Memory used to store all data that is considered vital to continued operation 
of the gaming device including: electronic accounting and metering, current credits, 
configuration data, game recall, significant events, last normal game and machine state, paytable 
information, etc. 
  
Cryptographic RNG - An RNG that generates a r andom number sequence that remains 
unpredictable despite significant analysis or hacking attempts, such that it b ecomes 
computationally infeasible to predict what a future bit of the random output will be, even given 
complete specification of the RNG. 
 
Direct Cryptanalytic Attack - A RNG attack where the attacker obtains part of the stream of 
random bits and can use this to distinguish the RNG output from a truly random stream. 
 
Direction Detector - A device which can determine the direction and speed of coin/token travel 
in a coin acceptor. 
 
Diverter - The portion of the coin-in assembly that channels coins to either the hopper or the 
drop box. 
 
Double-Up (aka “Gamble”) – An extended game play feature available to a player to double or 
risk current winnings. 

Drop Box – A secure container housed within a gaming device cabinet that collects coins when 
the hopper is full or when the diverter directs coins to it.   

EFT, Electronic Funds Transfer; ECT, Electronic Credits Transfer - EFT (or ECT) is a 
system by which currency can be electronically transferred to or from a gaming device in the 
form of credits.  EFT requires some form of communication between the gaming device and a 
host system. 
 
Electronic Accounting Meter (aka “Software Meter” / “Soft Meter”) – An accounting meter 
that is implemented in the main program software of a gaming device. 
 
EMC, Electromagnetic Compatibility - The principal in which any electronic or electrical 
appliance should be able to operate without causing, or being affected by, electromagnetic 
interference. 
 
EMI, Electromagnetic Interference - Any electromagnetic disturbance that interrupts, obstructs, 
or otherwise degrades or limits the effective performance of electronics and electrical equipment. 
 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Glossary of Key Terms  Page 94 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

EPROM, Erasable Programmable Read-Only Memory -  A memory chip that holds its content 
without power and can be erased either within the computer or externally. 
 
ESD, Electro-Static Discharge - The release of static electricity when two objects come into 
contact.  It is the sudden flow of electricity between two electrically charged objects caused by 
contact, an electrical short, or dielectric breakdown.  
 
Firewall – A part of a computer system or network that is designed to block unauthorized access 
or traffic while still permitting outward communication. 
 
Firmware - Programs stored permanently in read-only memory (ROM). 
 
Flight Recorder – A term used to describe game recall functionality that records various player 
physical actions and correlates them in time to other game inputs such as touch screen 
activations, button presses, etc. in order to more fully reconstruct the outcome of game play.  
When used in conjunction with a game containing a physical skill element, such functionality 
may be especially useful for recording/documenting aspects of game history specific to a 
player’s physicality, dexterity, motions, or gestures. 
 
Free Play Mode – A gaming device mode that allows a player to participate in a game without 
placing any wager, principally for the purpose of learning or understanding game play. 
 
Gamble Feature - see “Double-Up”. 
 
Game Cycle - A game cycle is defined as “wager to wager”.  The cycle is the period from an 
initial wager to the point of the final transfer to the player’s credit meter, or when all credits 
wagered are lost. 
 
Game with Skill - A wagered game in which the skill of the player, rather than pure chance, is a 
factor in affecting the outcome of the game as determined over a period of continuous play.  A 
game with skill contains one or more elements of skill in its design which can be leveraged by a 
player to impact the return percentage. 
 
Gaming Device (aka, machine, terminal) – An electronic or electro-mechanical device that at a 
minimum will utilize an element of chance, skill, or strategy, or some combination of these 
elements in the determination of prizes, contain some form of activation to initiate the selection 
process, and makes use of a suitable methodology for delivery of the determined outcome. 
 
Gaming Session – The period of time commencing when a player initiates a game or series of 
games on a gaming device by committing a wager and ending at the time of a final game 
outcome for that game or series of games and coincident with the opportunity for the player to 
retrieve their credit balance. 
 
Hash Algorithm - A function that converts a data string into a numeric string output of fixed 
length.  
 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Glossary of Key Terms  Page 95 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

Hopper - An electromechanical assembly inside the machine that receives, holds and dispenses 
coins.  When the hopper is full, coins are diverted to the drop box. 
 
Identifier - Any specific and verifiable fact concerning a player or group of players which is 
based upon objective criteria relating to the player or group of players. 
 
Idle Mode – A gaming device mode that exists when the machine is not being played and no 
credits exist on the credit meter. 
 
In-Play Wager – A wager that is placed while a virtual event is in-progress or actually taking 
place. 
 
Jumper – A removable connector (plug, wire, etc.) that electrically joins together or short-
circuits two separate physical connections. 
 
Known Input Attack - An attacker is able to use knowledge or control of RNG inputs to 
cryptanalyze the RNG. In a known-input attack, the attacker can easily predict some or all of the 
elements used to create a seed value.  
 
Logic Area / Logic Box - The part of the gaming device that contains the main processor board 
and other critical components.  It is a sealed, secured box or enclosure within the machine that 
houses the critical control program(s) for the device.   
 
Mapping - The process by which a scaled number is given a symbol or value that is usable and 
applicable to the current game (e.g.: the scaled number 51 m ight be mapped to an ACE OF 
SPADES). 
 
MI, Magnetic Interference - Any magnetic disturbance that interrupts, obstructs, or otherwise 
degrades or limits the effective performance of electronics and electrical equipment. 
 
Microprocessor - A computer processor that incorporates the functions of a computer's central 
processing unit (CPU) on a single integrated circuit (IC), or at most a few integrated circuits. 
 
Multi-Game - A game which can simultaneously be configured for use with multiple themes 
and/or multiple paytables. 
 
Multi-Player Machine – A multi-player machine is a gaming device consisting of multiple 
player interfaces linked to a shared master console.  The master console coordinates game play 
and supports game display which is shared among the player interfaces  The player interfaces 
contain player interaction devices and payment devices. 
 
Multi-Wager Game – A game where multiple, independent wagers can simultaneously be 
applied towards advertised awards. 
 
Mystery Award - A mystery award is a prize paid by a gaming device that is not associated with 
a specific symbol combination. 
 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Glossary of Key Terms  Page 96 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

Non-Cashable Electronic Promotion In - Non-cashable credits electronically transferred to the 
gaming device from a promotional account.  
 
Near Miss - Showing a top award winning combination above or below an active payline. 
 
NFC, Near Field Communication - A short-range wireless connectivity standard that uses 
magnetic field induction to enable communication between devices when they are touched 
together, or brought within a few centimeters of each other. 
 
Non-Wager Purchase – A purchase made by the player that debits the credit meter and which is 
used for entertainment purposes only.  A non-wager purchase does not influence the outcome of 
the game.  An example might be the purchase of an artistic attribute of a game. 
 
NV Memory, Non-Volatile Memory - A form of static random access memory whose contents 
are retained when power is removed. 
 
Parlay Bet – A single bet that links together two or more individual wagers and which is 
dependent on a ll of those wagers winning together.  The benefit of the parlay is that there are 
much higher payoffs than placing each individual bet separately since the difficulty of hitting it 
is much higher. 
 
Player Identification Component – An electronic device installed in a machine that allows for 
the secure identification of a player’s identity.  Examples include a card reader, a barcode reader, 
or a biometric scanner.  O nce a player is identified, the gaming device typically allows 
connectivity to an external system such as a p layer tracking system or other account-based 
system. 
 
Player Interaction Device – An internal or external device that connects to a machine and that 
registers various types of player inputs allowing the player to interact with the machine.  Several 
examples include touch screens, button panels, joysticks, handheld controllers, camera systems, 
etc.  The player interaction device may be hard-wired or wireless. 
 
Paytable - A chart of pay amounts as a function of each winning combination and number of 
coins or credits bet. 
 
PCB, Printed Circuit Board - A hardware component of a computer or other electronic device, 
consisting of a f lat, rectangular piece of rigid material to which integrated circuits and other 
electronic components are mounted or connected. 
 
Perfecta – aka Exacta – a bet in which the bettor picks the first and second place finishers in a 
race in the correct order. 
 
Peripheral – An internal or external device connected to a machine that supports credit 
acceptance, credit issuance, player interaction, or other specialized function(s). 
 
Persistence Game - A persistence game is a game that offers awards or reveals bonuses or 
enhanced features for achieving multiple pre-designated outcomes. 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Glossary of Key Terms  Page 97 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

 
Physical Coin In / Out- The total value of coins or tokens inserted into or paid out by the 
gaming device.  
 
Physics Engine - Specialized software that approximates the laws of physics, including 
behaviors such as motion, gravity, speed, acceleration, mass, etc. and which ensures consistent 
play behaviors. 
 
PIN, Personal Identification Number - A numerical code assigned to an individual to establish 
identity that is used in many electronic transactions.  
 
Play from Save - A feature utilized in some persistence game designs where complexity 
increases, or additional elements are added to the game, as play continues.  A player is able to 
save their progress and resume from the saved point of game play.  
 
Printer – A gaming device peripheral that prints tickets, coupons, vouchers, or receipts. 
 
Program Storage Device (PSD) - Any media on which a critical control program is stored such 
as a CD, EPROM, hard drive, etc. 

Progressive - A system that takes contributions from one or more gaming devices and applies it 
to an incrementing award.  When the proper condition or trigger occurs, the award is paid to a 
player. The three kinds of progressives are Wide Area, Local Area and Stand Alone. 

Protocol - A set of rules and conventions that specifies information exchange between devices, 
through a network or other media. 
 
Quinella – A bet in which the first two places in a race must be predicted, but not necessarily in 
the finishing order. 
 
Residual Credit Removal - A method used to remove credits left on a gaming device when 
there is a credit balance less than the amount necessary to play a game. 
 
RFI, Radio Frequency Interference - Electromagnetic radiation which is emitted by electrical 
circuits carrying rapidly changing signals, as a by-product of their normal operation, and which 
causes unwanted signals (interference or noise) to be induced in other circuits. 

RNG, Random Number Generator - A Random Number Generator (RNG) is a computational or 
physical device designed to generate a s equence of numbers or symbols that cannot be 
reasonably predicted better than by a random chance. 

RTP, Return to Player - The expected percentage of wagers that a specific game will return to 
the player in the long run.  The percent RTP can be calculated via either a theoretical or 
simulated approach.  The method used for calculation depends on the game type. 
 



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Glossary of Key Terms  Page 98 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

SAS, Slot Accounting System - A data collection and accounting package developed by IGT.  
Data on machine activity is transmitted to a controller which, in turn, transmits the collected data 
to a computer. 
 
Scaling Algorithms - An algorithm which converts a raw RNG outcome of a greater range into a 
scaled RNG of a lesser range. 
 
Scaling Bias - When a scaling, mapping or shuffling algorithm produces results which are not 
statistically random. 
 
Seed - A number or vector used to initialize a pseudorandom number generator.  
 
Significant Events - Conditions such as power resets, hand pays, door openings/closings, 
coin/token errors, bill validator errors, card reader errors, hopper errors, critical program or 
memory error, mechanical device errors, and any of the “error conditions” documented within 
this standard. 
 
Skill -  The human attributes of a player such as knowledge, dexterity, visual recognition, logic, 
memory, reaction, strength, agility, athleticism, hand-to-eye coordination, numerical and/or 
lexical ability, or any other ability or expertise relevant to game play. 
 
Source Code – A text listing of commands to be compiled or assembled into an executable 
computer program. 
 
Stacker – An electromechanical bill validator component that loads bill, notes, coupons, or 
tickets into a locked container for secure storage within the gaming device. 
 
State Compromise Extension Attack - A category of attacks in which an attacker compromises 
a single state of the RNG and penetrates past or future outputs of the RNG using this 
information. Usually this attack is executed using the seed state or a vulnerable state in which 
insufficient entropy is available. 
 
Surrender – An option available in some card games where the player can forfeit half of their 
wager rather than play out their active hand of cards.  There are two types of surrender: early and 
late.  These terms refer to whether or not a dealer checks to see if she/he has a blackjack (when 
an Ace or 10 is showing) before the player makes the surrender decision. 
 
Ticket and/or Voucher In/Out - The total value of all gaming device vouchers accepted or paid 
out by the device. 

Tilt – An error in gaming device operation that halts or suspends play and/or that generates some 
intelligent fault message. 

Tokenization - When the unit of wager is equal to the denomination of the game, then the 
tokenization ratio is 1:1.  With tokenization, a game with a denomination of 0.25 cents and a 
tokenization ratio of 1:5 would provide a player with five individual wagering units per coin.  



GLI Standard #11 – Standards for Gaming Devices  Public Comment Version 3.0 
  May 25, 2016 

 
 

 
Glossary of Key Terms  Page 99 
Copyright  2016 Gaming Laboratories International, LLC  All Rights Reserved. 

Example; A player inserts a quarter, and the game registers five units wagered.  This also applies 
to progressive systems. 

Touch Screen – A video display device that also acts as a player input device by using electrical 
touch point locations on the display screen. 

Tournament - A tournament is an organized, measured event that permits a player to engage in 
competitive play against other players.  A n out-of-revenue tournament involves only non-
wagered play using tournament credits or points that have no c ash value.  In contrast, an in-
revenue tournament allows for wagered play in conjunction with the operation of the tournament. 
 
Tower Light – A light located on the top of a gaming device that illuminates automatically in 
response to various machine error conditions, or which may be illuminated by a player for 
summoning an attendant or other service personnel. 
 
Trifecta – A racing bet in which a bettor wins by selecting the first three finishers of a race in 
the correct order of finish. 
 
USB, Universal Serial Bus - An industry standard interface that defines the cables, connectors 
and communications protocols used for connection, communication, and power supply between 
computers and electronic devices.  Often used to reference the type of port or a flash type storage 
device using this interface technology.   
 
Virtual Event Wagering – A form of betting that allows for the placement of wagers on sports, 
contests, and matches whose results are determined solely by an approved Random Number 
Generator. 
 
Virtual Opponent – Term used to describe a computer-based player that participates in a game 
with skill and effectively mimics the actions of a live player. 
 
Virtual Participant – The athlete or other entity that competes in a virtual event. 

Voucher - A printed or virtual ticket issued by a gaming device which can be redeemed for cash 
or used to subsequently establish credits on a  device.  A virtual voucher is an electronic token 
exchanged between a p layer's mobile device and the gaming device which is used for credit 
insertion and redemption. 

Wager - Any commitment of credits or money by the player which has an impact on game 
outcome. 

Wager Category – A term used to describe different bet options/levels available to the player in 
regards to the commitment of credits or money which could have an impact on game outcome. 

WAT, Wagering Account Transfer - See Cashless Account Transfer In/Out. 

Wi-Fi - The standard wireless local area network (WLAN) technology for connecting computers 
and electronic devices to each other and to the internet. 



 
 

 
 

 

 
SMALL BUSINESS IMPACT STATEMENT 

 
 

 The Massachusetts Gaming Commission (“Commission”) hereby files this small business 
impact statement in accordance with G.L. c. 30A, § 2 relative to the proposed amendments in 
205 CMR 138.00: Uniform Standards of Accounting Procedures and Internal Controls; notice of 
which was filed this day with the Secretary of the Commonwealth.  These amendments were 
developed as part of the process of promulgating regulations governing the operation of gaming 
establishments in the Commonwealth. These amendments create a requirement for gaming 
licensees to use reasonable measures to inhibit patrons from using credit to obtain cash for use at 
a gaming establishment. Three such measures are explicitly required by the amendments. 
Additionally, these amendments clarify the language of the regulation to address the uncertainty 
as to the meaning of “cash advance.”  
 

These amendments will apply exclusively to gaming licensees and patrons. Accordingly, 
the amendments are unlikely to have any effect on small businesses. These regulations are 
largely governed by G.L. c. 23K §§ 4(28), 5, 25(d), and 27. In accordance with G.L. c. 30A, § 2, 
the Commission offers the following responses:    
 

1. Estimate of the number of small businesses subjected to the proposed regulation: 
  

There are no small businesses that the Commission anticipates will be impacted by these 
regulations. The regulations will only impact gaming licensees and patrons. 

 
2. State the projected reporting, recordkeeping and other administrative costs required for 

compliance with the proposed regulation: 
  

There are no projected reporting, recordkeeping or administrative costs created by these 
regulations that would affect small businesses.   

 
3. State the appropriateness of performance standards versus design standards:  

   
It is necessary to use a performance standard for gaming licenses to ensure that 
patrons do not use credit at gaming establishments. There are certain 
technological limitations on ATMs and credit cards which make it impossible to 
create a design standard to effectuate the same purpose. 
 

 



 
 

 
 

4. Identify regulations of the promulgating agency, or of another agency or department of 
the commonwealth, which may duplicate or conflict with the proposed regulation:  

   
  There are no conflicting regulations in 205 CMR, and the Commission is   
  unaware of any conflicting or duplicative regulations of any other agency   
  or department of the Commonwealth.   
 

5. State whether the proposed regulation is likely to deter or encourage the formation of new 
businesses in the commonwealth:  
  

G.L. c. 23K was enacted to create a new industry in the Commonwealth and to 
promote and grow local small businesses and the tourism industry. The proposed 
regulations, as part of  the overall process, are designed to effectuate those 
intentions and growth.   

  
 
  
       
      Massachusetts Gaming Commission 
      By:  
 
      _______________________________ 
      Cecelia Porchė and Alexander Conley 
      Legal Division 
       
 
 
Dated:____________________________ 
 

   
  
   

 


	0) Cover Page
	07-21-16 - Commission Meeting Agenda - FINAL
	2a) 2016.06.23 - Minutes - Draft
	3a) No Documents
	4a) Article about Valve
	4b) eSports and Skin Gambling Article
	6a) PMW memo
	6b) RGEW_Finaljuly20
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8

	7a) Chelsea
	7b)1 Lynn ltr and response Part 1 Reserve
	7b)2 Lynn Water Front Master Plan Part 2
	7b)3 Lynn 107 TIP info on MPO Website part 3
	7b)4a Lynnway MPO Study Part
	ABSTRACT
	1.1 Origin of Study
	2.1 Selection Process
	2.1.1 Study Location
	2.2 Vision for the Lynn Waterfront
	2.2.1 Redevelopment of the Waterfront
	2.2.2 Access to Waterfront

	2.3 Study Goals and Objectives
	2.4 Public Participation
	3.1 Roadway
	3.2 Major Intersections
	3.2.1 Hanson Street Intersection
	3.2.2 Harding Street Intersection
	3.2.3 Commercial Street Intersection
	3.2.4 Shepard Street/Marine Boulevard Intersection
	3.2.5 Blossom Street Intersection
	3.2.6 Kingman Street Intersection
	3.2.7 Market Street Intersection
	3.2.8 Nahant Rotary
	3.2.9 Broad Street (Route 1A) and Market Street Intersection
	3.2.10 Broad Street, Washington Street, and Spring Street Intersection

	4.1 HIghway
	4.1.1 Vehicle Traffic Volumes
	4.1.2 Turning Movement Volumes
	4.1.3 Pedestrian Traffic Volumes
	4.1.4 Bicycle Traffic Volumes
	4.1.5 Heavy-Vehicles Volumes
	4.1.6 Spot Speeds
	4.1.7 Signal Timing and Layout Information

	4.2 Transit
	4.2.1 Bus Service
	4.2.2 Ferry Service
	4.2.3 Commuter Rail Service

	5.1 Safety Analysis
	5.1.1 Segment Crash Summary
	5.1.2 Intersection Crash Summary
	5.1.3 Collision Diagrams

	5.2 Traffic Operations Analyses
	5.3 Identified Problems
	5.3.1 Pedestrian and Bicyclist Issues
	5.3.2 Traffic Safety and Operations Issues
	5.3.3 Public Access Issues—Connections between the Waterfront Development and Lynn’s Downtown and Neighborhoods

	6.1 Alternative 1: Short-Term Improvements
	6.1.1 Improvements throughout the Corridor
	6.1.2 Intersection-Related Improvements
	Hanson Street Intersection:
	Harding Street Intersection:
	Commercial Street Intersection:
	Marine Boulevard/Shepard Street Intersection:
	Blossom Street Intersection:
	Kingman Street Intersection:
	Pleasant Street/Broad Street Intersection:
	Market Street Extension Intersection:

	6.1.3 Level of Service
	6.1.4 Advantages
	6.1.5 Disadvantages
	6.1.6 Cost

	7.1 Alternative 2: Road Diet and Complete Street
	7.1.1 Roadway Setting
	7.1.2 Operational Features
	7.1.3 Level of Service
	7.1.4 Advantages
	7.1.5 Disadvantages
	7.1.6 Cost

	7.2 Alternative 3: Boulevard Style Roadway
	7.2.1 Roadway Setting
	7.2.2 Operational Features
	7.2.3 Level of Service
	7.2.4 Advantages
	7.2.5 Disadvantages
	7.2.6 Cost

	7.3 Alternative 4: Adding Pedestrian Bridges to the Lynnway
	7.3.1 Roadway Setting
	Option 1: Keep Existing Travel Lanes
	Option 2: Reduce Travel Lanes

	7.3.2 Candidate Locations
	7.3.3 Operational Features
	7.3.4 Level of Service
	Option 1: Keep Existing Travel Lanes
	Option 2: Reduce Travel Lanes

	7.3.5 Advantages
	7.3.6 Disadvantages
	7.3.7 Cost

	7.4 Alternative 5: Altered Traffic Circulation Pattern
	7.4.1 Roadway Setting
	7.4.2 Operational Features
	7.4.3 Level of Service
	7.4.4 Advantages
	7.4.5 Disadvantages
	7.4.6 Cost

	7.5 Alternative 6: Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) Lanes
	7.5.1 Roadway Setting
	7.5.2 Operational Features
	7.5.3 Level of Service
	7.5.4 Advantages
	7.5.5 Disadvantages
	7.5.6 Cost

	7.6 Alternative Analysis
	7.6.1 Performance Measures
	7.6.2 Selecting Preferred Alternatives

	8.1 Overview
	8.2 Connectivity Potential for mINOR Streets
	8.2.1 Harding Street
	8.2.2 Oakville Street
	8.2.3 Commercial Street
	8.2.4 Blossom Street
	8.2.5 Pleasant Street
	8.2.6 Market Street
	8.2.7 Washington Street

	9.1 Conclusions
	9.2 Next Steps

	7b)4b Lynnway MPO Study Appendices part 4b
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Appendix F_Crash Rate.pdf
	Blank Page

	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page

	7b)5a Lynn MA EDSAT Report Part
	7b)5b Lynn EDSAT with call out boxes Part 5b
	7c) Malden Reserve and transportation
	7d) Saugus reserve
	7e) Wrentham reserve
	7e)1a Wrentham use of reserve 20160620
	7f) Everett transportation
	7g) Medford Transportation
	7h) West Springfield Transportation
	7i) Hampden County Sheriff's Dept
	7j) Springfield Caring Health
	7k) Comment letters to Applications
	7l) East Longmeadow Withdrawal Letter
	7B) No Documents
	8a1) Local Aid Comm notice 6-30-16  dated 7-14-16
	8a2) 06 30 16 LA comp and back up
	8b1) Brockton RHDF request 2016
	8b2) Middleboro RHDF request 7- 2016
	8b3) MTHA RHDF request 2016
	8b4) Comments Re Race Horse Development Funds
	9a) 205 CMR 134.13 NGV Emergency Amendment 7.21.16docx
	10ai) Region C Final Decision
	10aii) MGE letter re Region C decision 07-19
	10aii) MGE letter re Region C decision
	10b) Slots Regulation Amendments
	10c) Skill Based Gaming Process Update
	10d) SBIS - 205 CMR 138 - 2016.07.21
	ADPC17A.tmp
	Massachusetts Casino Careers �Training Institute�� 
	�A Joint Effort of �Workforce & Training Options�
	The Workforce Challenge
	MCCTI Partnering
	Recent Highlights WM Region 
	Slide Number 6
	Massachusetts Casino Careers �Training Institute�� 

	ADP1E9B.tmp
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Taunton Casino Lab Floor
	Roulette Table
	Craps Table
	Novelty Game/ Baccarat
	Poker Table
	Black Jack Table
	QUESTIONS?




